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UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-K

A ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006

or

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to

Commission file number 000-28275

PFSWEB, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its cégrt

Delaware 75-283705¢
( State or other jurisdiction ¢ (I.LR.S. Employe
incorporation or organization Identification Number
500 North Central Expressway, Plano, Texa 75074
(Address of principal executive office (Zip code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code:
972-881-2900

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) die Act: None

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) tiie Act:
Common Stock, par value $.001 per share

Indicate by check mark if the registrant isell-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Ruleot@e Securities Acd YesM No
Indicate by check mark if the registrant i$ remuired to file reports pursuant to Section L3%(d) of the Actd YesM No

Indicate by a check mark whether the registfanhas filed all reports required to be filed ®gction 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (ordioch shorter period that the registrant was requodile such reports), and (2) has been
subject to such filing requirements for the past@@s. Yesd NoO

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delieqt filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation kot contained herein, and will not be

contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledgeldfinitive proxy or information statements incorgted by reference in Part Ill of this Form
10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. X&s No

Indicate by check mark whether the registiqatlarge accelerated filer, an accelerated ditex non-accelerated filer. See definition of
“accelerated filer and large accelerated filerRinle 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated fildd Accelerated fildd Non-accelerated filéd
Indicated by check mark whether the registimatshell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 efakt).0 YesM No

The aggregate market value of the voting stall by non-affiliates of the registrant as of @0, 2006 (based on the closing price as
reported by the National Association of Securibeslers Automated Quotation System) was $39,002,187

As of March 26, 2007, there were 46,476,708 ah of the registrart’Common Stock, $.001 par value, outstanding, eiofu86,300 shart
of common stock in treasury.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The information required by Part 11l of thisvAual Report, to the extent not set forth hereifincorporated herein by reference from the
registrant’s definitive proxy statement relatinghe annual meeting of stockholders, which defieifproxy statement shall be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 dditgs the end of the fiscal year to which this AahReport relates.
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PART |

Item 1. Business
General

PFSweb is an international provider of intéggabusiness process outsourcing solutions to nbagord name companies seeking to
maximize their supply chain efficiencies and toeext their traditional business and e-commerceatinés as well as a leading multi-category
online discount retailer of new, “close-out” andedified brand-name merchandise. We derive ougmags from three business segments:
business process outsourcing, a master distrilauntian online discount retailer.

First, in our business process outsourcingniess segment operated by our Priority Fulfillm8atvices subsidiaries (“PFS”) we derive our
revenues from a broad range of services as we ggaedividual business transactions on our clidmialf. These business transactions may
include the answering of a phone call or an e-ntfadl design and hosting of a client web-site, dueipt and storage of a client’s inventory, the
kitting and assembly of products to meet a cliespscifications, the shipping of products to ougritfs customer base, the management of a
complex set of electronic data transactions desigo&eep our cliens’ suppliers and customers accounting records anba| or the processi
of a returned package. In the business processwuatsag segment, we do not own the inventory omdseilting accounts receivable, but
provide management services for these client-ovassets.

In our second business segment operated b@upplies Distributors subsidiaries we act as aenalstributor of product for IBM and
certain other clients. In this capacity, we purehasd resell, for our own account, IBM and othenuafacturers’ inventory. Accordingly, in this
business segment, we recognize product revenuevandhe accounts receivable and inventory.

Our third business segment is eCOST.com, &neodiscount retailer of new, “close-out” and redfed brand-name merchandise. This web-
commerce product revenue model is focused on teeo§aroducts to a broad range of consumer anthesss customers. We currently offer
approximately 75,000 products in several primaryanandise categories, including computer hardwadesaftware, home electronics, digital
imaging, watches and jewelry, housewares, DVD mwigleo games and cellular/wireless.

We are headguartered in Plano, Texas wherexagautive and administrative offices are locatewvall as our primary technology
operations and hosting facilities. We have an effitEl Segundo, CA which consists of sales, margeind purchasing operations for our
online discount retail segment. We operate statir@ért call centers from our U.S. facilities locatedPlano, Texas, and Memphis, Tennes
and from our international facilities located in Maam, Canada and Liege, Belgium. We lease or nenagehouse facilities of approximat
2.0 million square feet of warehouse space, manyaguing highly automated and state of the art nelthandling and communications
equipment, in Memphis, TN, Southaven, MS, Grapeviie Markham, Canada and Liege, Belgium, allowirsgto provide global distribution
solutions. We recently opened a 6,500 square militf/ in the Philippines to provide call centerdacustomer service functions.

BUSINESS PROCESS OUTSOURCING SEGMENT

PFS is a global provider of web commerce amlrtess process outsourcing solutions. PFS’ sebviadth includes logistics and
fulfillment, freight and transportation managemeagl-time order management, kitting and assendolgtomer care, facility operations and
management, turn-key web-commerce infrastructugment processing and financial services and n@obectively, we define our offering
as Business Process Outsourcing because we exiertiemts’ infrastructure and technology capaiai$if addressing an entire business
transaction cycle from demand generation to prodatvery. Our solutions support both business4siiess (“B2B”) and business-to-
consumer (“B2C") sales channels.

PFS serves as the “brand behind the brand®dorpanies seeking to increase their operaiefficiencies. As a business process outsot
we offer scalable and cost-effective solutionsmanufacturers, distributors, online retailers aindad marketing organizations across a wide
range of industry segments, from consumer goods to
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aviation. We provide our clients with seamless @adsparent solutions to support their businesgesiies, allowing them to focus on their c
competencies. Leveraging PFS’ technology, expeatigbproven methodologies, we enable client orgaioizs to develop and deploy new
products and implement new business strategieddreas new distribution channels rapidly and effitdy through our optimized solutions.
Our clients engage us both as a consulting partnassist them in the design of a business solatsowell as a virtual and physical
infrastructure partner providing the mission catioperations required to build and manage thesinass solution. Together, we not only help
our clients define new ways of doing business atet provide them the technology, physical infiadtire and professional resources
necessary to quickly implement this new businesgeh®/e allow our clients to quickly and dramatigalhange how they ‘go-to-market.’

Each client has a unique business model aipl@rstrategic objectives that require highly costed solutions. PFS supports clients in a
wide array of industries including technology proti consumer goods, aviation, collectibles, luxympds, food and beverage, apparel and
home furnishings. These clients turn to PFS fop lireladdressing a variety of business issues tichide customer satisfaction and retention,
time-definite logistics, vendor managed inventand antegration, supply chain compression, cost rhaelignments, transportation
management and international expansion, amongtiié also act as a constructive agent of chamgeiding clients the ability to alter their
current distribution model, establish direct redaships with end-customers, and reduce the oviradl and costs associated with existing
distribution channel strategies. Our clients aeks®y solutions that will provide them with dynansigpply chain and multi-channel marketing
efficiencies, while ultimately delivering a worldass customer service experience.

Our technology and business infrastructurerof is flexible, reliable and fully scalable. $Hiexibility allows us to design custom, varig
cost solutions to fit the business requirementsunfclients’ strategies.

Our capabilities are expansive. To offer trestmecessary and resourceful solutions to ountslieve are continually developing capabili
to meet the pressing business issues in the méaketpOur business objective is to focus on “Legdire Evolution of Outsourcing”.” As
our tagline suggests, we will continue to evolve service offering to meet the needs of the matketpand the demands of unique client
requirements. We are most successful when we peavitew capability to enable a client to pursuewa imitiative and we are then able to
leverage that revolutionary development acrossratlient or prospect solutions, as it becomes “peattice” in the marketplace. Our team of
experts design and build diverse solutions forranhetailers, technology and consumer goods matwiéas, aviation brands as well as other
major brand name clients around a flexible corezofinology and physical infrastructure that inckide

. Technology collaboration provided by our suiteexfitnology services, called the Entente Suite(SiMY, &re -commerce an
collaboration services that enable buyers and gergpb fully automate their business transactisitkin their supply chain. Entente
supports industry standard collaboration techniduelsding XML based protocols such as BizTalk &ukettaNet, real-time
application interfaces, text file exchanges viaused FTP, and traditional electronic data intergea“EDI");

. Managed hosting and Internet application develogrservices, including web site design, creatiotegnation and ongoin
maintenance, support and enhancement of web

. Order management, including order processing fagnsource of entry, back order processing anddutrder processing, tracking
and tracing, credit management, electronic paymeressing, calculation and collection of salesatack VAT, comprehensive freight
calculation and email natification, all with mulgpcurrency and language optio

. Customer Relationship Management (“CRM"), inchglinteractive voice response (“IVR”) technologydameb-enabled customer
contact services through world-class call centélizing voice, e-mail, voice over internet protd¢vOIP”) and internet chat
communications that are fully integrated with réale systems and historical data archives to peemmplete customer lifecycle
managemen

. International fulfillment and distribution sereis, including warehouse management, inventory neanegt, vendor managed
inventory, inventory postponement, product warehraysorder picking and packing, freight and tramsgiion management and
reverse logistics
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. Facility Operations and Manageme"FOM”) that includes process reengineering, facility desigd engineering and employ
administration

. Kitting and assembly services, including lightexsbly, procurement services, supplier relationsfpagement, specialized kitting,
and supplier consigned inventory hub in our distifn facilities or c-located in other facilities

. Product management and inspection services, imguaianagement of coupon programs-kitting and salvage operations &
inspection, testing and repackaging servi

. Information management, including r-time data interfaces, data exchange services aadmaing;

. Financial services, including secure online credid processing related services, fraud protectinojcing, credit management a
collection, and working capital solutions; &

. Professional consulting services, including ascdtative team of experts that customize solutiorsach client and continuously seek
out ways to increase efficiencies and produce lisrfef the client

Industry Overview

Business activities in the public and priveg¢etors continue to operate in an environmentmitireechnological advancement, increasing
competition and continuous pressure to improveatpey and supply chain efficiency while decreagingts. We currently see the following
trends within the industry:

. Manufacturers strive to restructure their supgigins to maximize efficiency and reduce costsihiB2B and B2C markets and to
create a variable-cost supply chain able to sughertultiple, unique needs of each of their itii@s, including traditional and
electronic commerc

. Companies in a variety of industries seek outsogras a method to address one or more busines8dns that are not within their
core business competencies, to reduce operatitig @oto improve the speed or cost of implementa

Supply Chain Management Trend

As companies maintain focus on improving theisinesses and balance sheet financial ratiasfisent efforts and investments continue to
be made identifying ways to maximize supply chdfitiency and extend supply chain processes. Warkiapital financing, vendor managed
inventory, supply chain visibility software solutig, distribution channel skipping, direct to consucommerce sales initiatives, and comj
upstream supply chain collaborative technologypaeoglucts that manufacturers seek to help them eelyeeater supply chain efficiency.

A key business challenge facing many manufacsitand retailers as they evaluate their suppyncéifficiency is in determining how the
trend toward increased direct-to-customer busiaessity will impact their traditional B2B and B2 mmerce business models. Order
management and small package fulfillment and digtidon capabilities are becoming increasingly intpor processes as this trend evolves. We
believe manufacturers will look to outsource thr@n-core competency functions to support this medibusiness model. According to Jupiter
Research, U.S. online retail spending will grov1@4 billion in 2010 and the Internet will influemaearly half of total retail sales compare
just 27% in 2005. We believe that companies wilitawe to strategically plan for the impact th-commerce and other new technology
advancements will have on their traditional comradyasiness models and their existing technologyirdnaistructure capabilities.

Manufacturers, as buyers of materials, are iatposing new business practices and policieshein supplier partners in order to shift the
normal supply chain costs and risks associated imithntory ownership away from their own balanceeth. Through techniques like Vendor
Managed Inventory or Consigned Inventory Prograi@#_"), manufacturers are asking their suppliessagart of the supplier selection
process, to provide capabilities where the manufacineed not own, or even possess, inventory fiithve exact moment that unit of invent
is
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required as a raw material component or for shigppina customer. To be successful for all parbesjness models such as these often require
a sophisticated collection of technological capaéd that allow for complete integration and cbaation of the information technology
environments of both the buyer and supplier. Fangple, for an inventory unit to arrive at the pseciequired moment in the manufacturing
facility, it is necessary for the Manufacturing Besce Planning systems of the manufacturer to rategvith the CRM systems of the supplier.
When hundreds of supplier partners are involved,glocess can become quite complex and technalibgicthallenging. Buyers and suppliers
are seeking solutions that utilize XML based protedike BizTalk, RosettaNet and other traditio&&l} standards in order to ensure an open
systems platform that promotes easier technologgiation in these collaborative solutions.

Outsourcing Trend

In response to growing competitive pressurestachnological innovations, we believe many conigxs both large and small, are focusing
their critical resources on the core competendi¢seir business and utilizing business processawuting to accelerate their business plans in
a cost-effective manner and perform non-core bgsifignctions. Outsourcing can provide many key fisnéncluding the ability to:

. Enter new business markets or geographic areadlya

. Increase flexibility to meet changing business dtoks and demand for products and servi
. Enhance customer satisfaction and gain competiilantage

. Reduce capital and personnel investments and cofixed investments to variable cos

. Improve operating performance and efficiency;

. Capitalize on skills, expertise and technologyasfructure that would otherwise be unavailablexpeasive given the scale of t
business

Typically, outsourcing service providers aveudsed on a single function, such as informatiehrielogy, call center management, credit
card processing, warehousing or package deliverig fbcus creates several challenges for compéaéng to outsource more than one of
these functions, including the need to manage pialbutsourcing service providers, to share infaromewith service providers and to integt
that information into their internal systems. Addliially, the delivery of these multiple servicessnhbe transparent to the customer and enable
the client to maintain brand recognition and cusphayalty. Furthermore, traditional commerce outsers are frequently providers of
domestic-only services versus international sohgtiAs a result, companies requiring global sohgimust establish additional relationships
with other outsourcing parties.

Another vital point for major brand name comigsa seeking to outsource is the protection of theind. When looking for an outsourcing
partner to provide infrastructure solutions, braathe companies must find a company that can etiseisame quality performance and
superior experience that their customers expeat fteeir brands. Working with an outsourcing partregjuires finding a partner that can
maintain the consistency of their brand image, Whscone of the most valuable intangible assetsréwgnized brand name companies
possess.

The PFS Solution
PFS serves as the “brand behind the branddopanies seeking to increase the efficiencies| @spects of their supply chain.

Our value proposition is to become an extensioour clients’ businesses by delivering a sugregkperience that increases and enhances
sales and market growth, customer satisfactioncastbmer retention. We act as both a virtual aptlyaical infrastructure for our clients’
businesses. By utilizing our services, our cliersable to:

Quickly Capitalize on Market Opportunitiedur solutions empower clients to rapidly implemtrair supply chain and e-commerce
strategies and to take advantage of opportunitifeut lengthy integration and implementation effoWe have ready built technology and
physical infrastructure that is flexible in its dgs which facilitates quick integration and implentation. The PFS solution is designed to a
our clients to deliver consistent quality servisgrmnsaction volumes grow and also to handle @daityseasonal peak periods. Through our
international locations, our clients can sell themducts throughout the world.

6
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Improve the Customer Experien¥e enable our clients to provide their customets wihigh-touch, positive buying experience thereby
maintaining and promoting brand loyalty. Through ose of advanced technology, we can respond birectustomer inquiries by e-mail,
voice or data communication and assist them witmerordering and product information. We offer a@lients a “world-classlevel of service
including 24-hour, seven- day-a-week, Web-enablesiaener care service centers, detailed CRM reppetitd exceptional order accuracy. We
have significant experience in the developmenttdrhet web sites that allows us to recommend featand functions that are easily navig:
and understood by our client’s customers. Our teldgy platform is designed to ensure high levelsatifibility and fast response times for our
clients’ customers. Because our technology is “drathss,” our clients benefit from being able téeothe latest in customer communication
and response conveniences to their customers.

Minimize Investment and Improve Operating EfficieagOne of the most significant benefits that outsaugaian provide is the ability to
transform fixed costs into variable costs. By efiating the need to invest in a fixed capital infirasture, our clients’ costs typically become
directly correlated with volume increases or desdinFurther, as volume increases drive the demargtéater infrastructure or capacity, we
able to quickly deploy additional resources. Wevjgte services to multiple clients, which enablesausffer our clients economies of scale,
resulting cost efficiency, that they may not hagerbable to obtain on their own. Additionally, besa of the large number of daily transacti
we process, we have been able to justify investeianevels of automation, security surveillanceality control processes and transportation
carrier interfaces that are typically outside tbals of investment that our clients might be abledst justify on their own. These additional
capabilities can provide our clients the benefitsrthanced operating performance and efficienauced inventory shrinkage, and expanded
customer service options.

Access a Sophisticated Technology Infrastructdfe.provide our clients with ready access to a stated technology infrastructure
through our Entente Suite(SM), which is designenhterface seamlessly with their systems. We pmwdr clients with vital product and
customer information that can be immediately awdédo them on their own systems or through weleth@saphic user interfaces for use in
data mining, analyzing sales and marketing tremagyitoring inventory levels and performing othermagement functions.

PFS Services

We offer a comprehensive and integrated sbtisiness infrastructure solutions that are taddoeour clients’ specific needs and enable
them to quickly and efficiently implement their gy chain strategies. Our services include:

Technology CollaborationVe have created the Entente Suite(SM), which ilhies the level of electronic cooperation thatoisgible whei
we construct solutions with our clients using tieishnology service offering. This set of technolegyvices encompasses a wide range of
business functions from order processing and irrgneporting to total e-commerce design and imgletation. The Entente Suite(SM)
comprises five key services— EntenteWeb®, Ententsld®, EntenteMessage®, EntenteReport® and Entarntef?Connect™.

EntenteWeb® is a one-stop shop for the erticemmerce process, particularly for companies withsual needs or specific requests that
are not easily met by the typical e-commerce deraknt packages. EntenteWeb® is a service utiliaingrevolutionary GlobalMerchant
Commerceware™ e-commerce software platform thgaiticularly focused to enable global commerceetyias with its extensive currency
and language functionality. EntenteDirect® providksnts with a real-time, user-friendly interfadoetween their system and our order
processing, warehouse management and relateddoactising real-time or batch processes, Ententede® is a file exchange service for
clients using our warehousing and distributionlfaes. EntenteReport® is a reporting and inquiepvéce particularly suited to companies that
need to put key e-commerce information into thedsaosf business users, but do not have the IT reesuo facilitate the necessary data
extraction, manipulation and presentation. EnteepeR® consists of an industry-standard browseethagport writer and a client-customized
data warehouse configuration.

EntentePartnerConnect™ is a data repositadyretnieval service for providing our clients wibcess to comprehensive product and service
information across a wide variety of product antviee categories. This information is aggregatednfmultiple sources including PFS
business partners such as Etilize that specialize i
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creating product content in certain categories.alge rely on other relationships and public-domafarmation sources to supply raw data for
this service. Access to this information will beyided through the other Entente Suite(SM) comptmiereluding web sites created using
EntenteWeb® and real-time or batch interfaces albglthrough EntenteDirect® and EntenteMessage® fif$t subscriber to the
EntentePartnerConnect™ service is our wholly-owsdasidiary e COST via the eCOST.com web site. Tineo available for the wide-range
of products offered on eCOST.com is provided byeBt@PartnerConnect™. The information available fEEmentePartnerConnect™ for
additional product categories should help eCOSTege revenues through an expanded product offandgpotential future product category
expansion. EntentePartnerConnect™ will be offigiallade available to PFS clients during 2007 begmm¥ith clients for which we host web
sites using our EntenteWeb® hosted web servicedoblalMerchant Commerceware platform.

The Entente Suite(SM) operates in an operesysenvironment and features the use of indusarnydsird XML, enabling customized e-
commerce solutions with minimal changes to a clgesystems or our Enterprise Resource Planning P'ERystems. The result is a faster
implementation process. Additionally, by using XMhe Entente Suite(SM) offers companies a moregbélectronic information transfer
option than text file FTP or EDI, although the tél¢ FTP, EDI and other transfer methods are stippported.

EntenteWeb® Managed Hosting and Internet ApplicabevelopmenOur EntenteWeb® service provides a completemimerce websit
solution for our clients. We engage collaboratiwelth our clients to design, build, host, and managly branded, fully customized and fully
integrated e-commerce web applications for B2CB®2#@ channels. As with all major brand name comp&rgensistency within the brand
image is vital; therefore, our web designers creatme stores that seamlessly integrate and milh®exact brand image of our clients.

We offer a broad range of hosting and supplarts that can be tailored to fit the needs of edielnt. Utilizing IBM’s eServer xSeries
servers, Microsoft's.NET Technologies and our pietpry GlobalMerchant Commerceware platform, wemnan a robust hosting
environment for our hosted client web site progsrtiAdditionally, our EntenteWeb® service includeste-of-the-art web analytics via Web
Trends OnDemand — Enterprise Edition. This higldyanced and flexible analytics tool delivers thiéaal e-business information that our
clients need to maximize the effectiveness of theline store.

EntenteWeb® is a complete front-to-back e-camua service that incorporates components rangamg the look of the user interface to
specific business purchasing, warehousing and sigpgeeds, enabling companies to define in exactdeheir desired e-commerce site
functionality.

Order ManagemenOur order management solutions provide clients witkrfaces that allow for real-time informatioririeval, including
information on inventory, sales orders, shipmeaédivery, purchase orders, warehouse receiptspeugsthistory, accounts receivable and
credit lines. These solutions are seamlessly iatedrwith our web-enabled customer contact ceraéiasying for the processing of orders
through shopping cart, phone, fax, mail, email, wkat, and other order receipt methods. As thanmition backbone for our total supply
chain solution, order management services can é@ s a stand-alone basis or in conjunction withatlier business infrastructure offerings,
including customer contact, financial or distrilutiservices. In addition, for the B2B market, @ahinology platform provides a variety of
order receipt methods that facilitate commerce iwitlarious stages of the supply chain. Our systeragide the ability for both our clients and
their customers to track the status of orders wtiame. Our services are transparent to our clientstomers and are seamlessly integrated with
our clients’ internal systems platforms and webssiBy synchronizing these activities, we can aapéind provide critical customer
information, including:

. Statistical measurements critical to creatingiality customer experience, containing real-timgeoistatus, order exceptions, back
order tracking, allocation of product based on iigof online purchase and business rules, the o&dttastomer inquiries to purchases,
average order sizes and order response

. B2B supply chain management information criticagét@luating inventory positioning, for the purpa$eeducing inventory turns, ar
assessing product flow through and -consumer deman

. Reverse logistics information including customesp@nse and reason for the return or rotation adyeband desired customer acti

8
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. Detailed marketing information about what was swoid to whom it was sold, by location and prefereaod
. Web traffic reporting showing the number of vig*hits”) received, areas visited, and products and infoonatquestec

Customer Relationship Managemeéme offer a completely customized CRM solution fiemts. Our CRM solution encompasses a full-
scale customer contact management service offeaBgiell as a fully integrated customer analysigm. All customer contacts are captured
and customer purchases are documented. Full-sgadeting on all customer transactions is availédteevaluation purposes. Through each of
our customer touch-points, information can be axedyand processed for current or future use imlessievaluation, product effectiveness and
positioning, and supply chain planning.

An important feature of evolving commerce rémahe ability for the customer to speak withwve Icustomer service representative. Our
experience has been that a majority of consumgnsst¢hey visited the web location for informatjdout not all of those consumers chose to
place their order online. Our customer care sesvitiize features that integrate voice, e-maiélndard mail, data and Internet chat
communications to respond to and handle custonggiiries. Our customer care representatives ansargus questions, acting as virtual
representatives of our client’s organization, regeg order status, shipping, billing, returns amoduct information and availability as well as a
variety of other questions. For certain clients,haadle Level | and Level Il technical support. EeMtechnical support involves assisting
clients’ customers with basic technical issues cicenputer application issues. Level Il support rimaplve a more in-depth question and
answer session with the customer. These customerepresentatives are certified in the appropagfications and have the ability to
evaluate hardware, compatibility and software iifetian issues. Our web-enabled customer care tdohg identifies each customer contact
automatically and routes it to the available custboare representative who is individually certifia the client’'s business and products.

Our web-enabled customer care centers argrigsiso that our customer care representativebaraifie several different clients and
products in a shared environment, thereby crea@mmomy of scale benefits for our clients as weh@hly customized dedicated support
models that provide the ultimate customer expegeard brand reinforcement. Our advanced technalsgyenables our representatives to up-
sell, cross-sell and inform customers of other potsland sales opportunities. The web-enabled mgstoare center is fully integrated into the
data management and order processing system, ajdwll visibility into customer history and custemtrends. Through this fully integrated
system, we are able to provide a complete CRM iswiut

With the need for efficiency and cost optintiaa for many of our clients, we have integratedrRl®(s another option for customer contacts.
IVR creates an “electronic workforce” with virtuadients that can assist customers with vital inféionaat any time of the day or night. IVR
allows for our clients’ customers to deal intereely with our system to handle basic customer irigsj such as account balance, order status,
shipment status, catalog requests, product and pripliries, and routine order entry for establisbestomers. The inclusion of IVR to our
service offering allows us to offer a cost effeetivay to handle high volume, low complexity calls.

International Fulfillment and Distribution Service&n integral part of our solution is the warehousamgl distribution of inventory either
owned by our clients or owned by us through ourteradistributor relationships. We currently hav@mpximately 2 million square feet of
leased or managed warehouse space domesticallptendationally to store and process our and dentd’ inventory. We receive client
inventory in our distribution centers, verify shipm accuracy, unpack and audit packages (a prttatsscludes spot-checking a small
percentage of the client’s inventory to validategai counts and check for damages that may haveredaluring shipping, loading and
unloading). Upon request, we inspect for other dggaar defects, which may include checking falstitching and zippers for soft goods, or
‘testing’ power-up capabilities for electronic itemWe generally stock for sale within one busirdegsof unloading. On behalf of our clients,
we pick, pack and ship their customer orders amdotavide customized packaging, inserts and pramatiliterature for distribution with
customer orders. For many clients, we provide gitipping services including customized gift-wragppaper, ribbon, gift-box and gift-
messaging.




Table of Contents

Our distribution facilities contain computextzsortation equipment, highly mobile pick-to-liglatrts, powered material handling equipment,
scanning and bar-coding systems and automated yorsyén-line scales and x-ray equipment used $péat shipment contents for automatic
accuracy checking. Our international distributi@mplexes include several advanced technology ermaeats, such as radio frequency
technology in product receiving processing to eesuwacuracy, as well as an automated package raautith@ pick-to-light paperless order
fulfillment system. Our advanced distribution sysseprovide us with the capability to warehouseeresive number of stock keeping units
(SKUs) for our clients, ranging from large high-dader printers to small cosmetic compacts. Odulifies are flexibly configured to process
B2B and single pick B2C orders from the same céhication.

In addition to our advanced distribution sys¢e our pick-to-light carts and conveyor systemtias provide real time productivity
reporting, thereby providing our management teath thie tools to implement productivity standardar @cently expanded fleet of pick-to-
light carts also fully integrates with our Vertidaft Module (VLM), which is capable of stocking methan two thousand SKUs. This
combination of computer-controlled equipment pregidthe seamless integration of our pick-to-light emass storage capabilities. This unique
combination of technologies ensures high order moyufor each and every customer order.

During 2005, we increased our distributionawty by relocating our primary B2B facility from évnphis, TN to a newly constructed faci
in Southaven, MS, containing approximately 366,8Q0are feet of space. The new Southaven facilgynimare clear height added cubic space
utilization, state-of-the-art lighting that increasthe quality and volume of light while reducingeggy costs, and certain long-term tax
incentives offered by the State of Mississippi. thauen maintains the same proximity to all modesarfsportation compared with our
Memphis facilities.

During 2006 we added an additional facilityMemphis, TN consisting more than 160,000 squagetfet is currently being retrofit for new
client additions and should become operationalngutiie first half of 2007. This space allows fod#dnal growth.

During 2006, we warehoused, managed andlédfiinore than $2.7 billion in client merchandisd &ansactions. Much of this does not
represent our revenue, but rather the revenueradlimnts’ for which we provided business procestsourcing solutions. See “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &webults of Operations.”

Based upon our clients’ needs, we are ablaek® advantage of a variety of shipping and defigrtions, which range from next day service
to zone skipping to optimize transportation co&tst facilities and systems are equipped with mudtiFier functionality, allowing us to
integrate with all leading package carriers andrig®a comprehensive freight and transportationagament offering. In addition, an
increasingly important function that we provide &ur clients is reverse logistics management. Vier af wide array of product return servic
including issuing return authorizations, receippodduct, crediting customer accounts, and disjpos@f returned product.

Our domestic clients enjoy the benefits ofihgtheir inventory assets secured by a netwotkadfied law enforcement professionals, who
have developed and continue to operate a world-clasurity network from our security headquarterslemphis, TN and Southaven, MS. As
part of our services for one of our clients, certafi our security plans and procedures are revieamedapproved by a U.S. federal agency.
Continual validation ensures that we employ thediin security processes and procedures to fuethteance our surveillance and detection
capabilities. Our security program continues todgaist and confidence from our clients as we midteeir product and assets.

Facility Operations and Manageme@ur FOM service offering includes distribution fi#tgi design and optimization, business process
reengineering and ongoing staffing and managenddorg with our operations in Mississippi and Tersexs we also manage an aircraft parts
distribution center in Grapevine, TX on behalf afyheon Aircraft Company. Our expertise in supgigio management, logistics and
customer-centric fulfillment operations extendotigh our management of client-owned facilitiesuh#sg in cost reductions, process
improvements and technology-driven efficiencies.
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Kitting and Assembly Servic&3ur expanded kitting and assembly services enablelients to reduce the time and costs associaiid
managing multiple suppliers, warehousing hubs, I manufacturing partners. As a single soura@jater, we provide clients with the
advantage of convenience, accountability and speedcomprehensive kitting and assembly servicesige a quality one-stop resource for
any international channel. Our kitting and assensblyices include light assembly, specializedngtiind supplier-consigned inventory hub
either in our distribution facilities or co-locatetsewhere. We also offer customized light manuféng and Supplier Relationship
Management.

We will work with clients to re-sequence certaupply chain activities to aid in an inventorysgponement strategy. We can provide kitting
and assembly services and build-to-stock thousahdsits daily to stock in a Just-in-Time (“JIT"heironment. This service, for example, can
entail the procurement of packaging materials idicig retail boxes, foam inserts and anti-staticsbdgpese raw material components would be
shipped to us from domestic or overseas manufastuaiad we will build the finished SKU units to gtdor the client. This strategy allows
manufacturers to make a smaller investment in itargrwhile meeting changing customer demand.

Combining our assembly services with our sigpgwned inventory hub services allows our cligntseduce cycle times, to compress their
supply chains and to consolidate their operationssaupplier management functions. We have supiphentory management, assembly and
fulfillment services all in one place, providingegter flexibility in product line utilization, aselN as rapid response to change orders or
packaging development. Our standard capabilitielside: build-to-order, build-to-stock, expeditediers, passive and active electrostatic
discharge (“ESD”) controls, product labeling, seniamber generation, marking and/or capture, lohber generation, asset tagging, bill of
materials (“BOM”) or computer automated design (‘@A engineering change processing, SKU-level pgcamd billing, manufacturing and
metrics reporting, first article approval processesl comprehensive quality controls.

Our kitting and assembly services also inclpaeEurement. We work directly with client suppi¢o make JIT inventory orders for each
component in client packages, thereby ensuringaseive the appropriate inventory quantities atfustright time and we then turn them
around JIT to customers.

Kitting and inventory hub services enablertiéeto collapse supply chains into the minimal stepcessary to prepare product for distribt
to any channel, including wholesale, mass mercteail, or direct to consumer. Clients no longevéhto employ multiple providers or require
suppliers to consign multiple inventory cachesdach channel. We offer our clients the opportutdtgonsolidate operations from a channel
standpoint, as well as from a geographic perspecOwur integrated, global information systems amerhational locations support client
business needs worldwide.

Product Management and Inspection Servidés.also operate a coupon management system andgprmadnagement program. Coupons
are managed and activated by a unique serial nutheties the coupon to the individual sales othlas eliminating fraudulent activity. Our
capabilities also extend into de-kitting and saévagerations, allowing our clients to reclaim vélearaw materials and components from
discontinued or obsolete inventory.

We operate a test and repair center whereisuaNy inspect items for cosmetic defects. Thésms are put through rigorous testing that
includes: functionality, durability, accessory iesfion and packaging. Items that pass the testmgepackaged and resold with a noted
exception of “open-box” merchandise. Items thdttfa inspection are disassembled and working spairts are saved for future use in repairs.

Information Managemente have the ability to communicate with and transflormation to and from our clients through a widariety
of technology services, including real-time datifaces, file transfer methods and electronic datachange. Our systems are designed to
capture, store and electronically forward to oigrdk critical information regarding customer ingges and orders, product shipments, inven
status (for example, levels of inventory on handbackorder, on purchase order and inventory dtesde our warehouse), product returns
other information. We maintain for our clients diete product databases that can be seamlesslyratéebwith their web sites utilizing the
capabilities of the Entente Suite(SM). Our systamescapable of providing our clients with customeentory and order information for use in
analyzing sales and marketing trends and introdueéw products. We also offer customized reportsdata analyses based upon specific
client needs to assist them in their budgetinglarsiness decision process.
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Financial ServicesOur financial services are divided into two majoras: 1) billing, credit and collection services B2B and B2C clients
and 2) working capital solutions, where we act astaal and physical financial management depantnte fulfill our clients’ needs.

We offer secure credit and collections sewviime both B2B and B2C businesses. SpecificallyBBC clients, we offer secure credit card
processing related services for orders made viemat eveb site or through our customer contacteee offer manual credit card order
review as an additional level of fraud protectidfe also calculate sales taxes, goods and senéges or value added taxes, if applicable, for
numerous taxing authorities and on a variety ofipots. Using third-party leadingdge fraud protection services and risk managesystéms
we can offer the highest level of security andltveest level of risk for client transactions.

For B2B clients, we offer full-service accasinéceivable management and collection capabilitietuding the ability to generate
customized computer-generated invoices in our tdierames. We assist clients in reducing accoweusivable and days sales outstanding,
while minimizing costs associated with maintainargin-house collections staff. We offer electromiedit services in the format of EDI X.12
and XML communications direct from our clients beir vendors, suppliers and retailers.

Professional Consulting Servicess part of the tailored solution for our clientse wffer a full team of experts specifically desitgthto
focus on our clients’ businesses. Team membersgtansultative role, providing constructive evéilug analysis and recommendations for
the client’s business. This team creates custonsinidions and devises plans that will increaskeieficies and produce benefits for the client
when implemented.

Comprised of industry experts from tog@r consulting firms and industry market leaders, team of professional consultants provides t
service focus and logistics and distribution expertThey have built solutions for Fortune 1000 &hobal 2000 market leaders in a wide ra
of industries, including apparel, technology, telamunications, cosmetics, aviation, houseware-iégue collectibles, sporting goods,
pharmaceuticals and several more. Focusing onviblgieg infrastructure needs of major corporatians their business initiatives, our team
has a solid track record providing consulting segsiin the areas of supply chain management, llisivh and fulfilment, technology
interfacing, logistics and customer support.

Clients and Marketing

Our target clients include online retailersiadl as leading technology, consumer goods anatiavi brands looking to quickly and
efficiently implement or enhance business initiasivadapt their go-to-market strategies, or intceduew products or programs, without the
burden of modifying or expanding their technologystomer care, supply chain and logistics infrastme. Our solutions are applicable to a
multitude of industries and company types and weslpgovided solutions for such companies as:

International Business Machines (“IBM") (pintsupplies in several geographic areas), Adaptmoguter accessories), the United States
Government as a sub-contractor (high-value cobéeg), CHIA’'SSO (a contemporary home furnishingd dacor cataloguer), Xerox (printers
and printer supplies), Nokia (cell phone accesspriroots Canada LTD. (apparel), Hewlett-Packaritgrs and computer networking
equipment), Flavia (a beverage division of MargyfReon Aircraft Company (FOM and time-definiteikiigs supporting parts distribution),
The Smithsonian Business Ventures (a collectibdgésloger), Fathead (a consumer goods manufacti®iegrbed Technologies (a wide-area
data services provider) and LEGO Brand Retail yanb@nufacturer) amongst many others.

We target potential clients through an extemgitegrated marketing program that is comprideal variety of direct marketing techniques,
trade event participation, search engine markepinglic relations and a sophisticated outbounddeles lead generation model. We have also
developed an intricate messaging matrix that defowe various business process outsourcing sokiiod products, the vehicles we utilize to
deliver marketing communication on these solutipriucts and the target audience segments thdagiaglemand for these
solutions/products. This messaging matrix allowsoudeploy highly targeted solution messages tecsetl key vertical industry segments
where we feel that we are able to provide significservice differentiation and value. We
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also pursue strategic marketing alliances with altimg firms, software manufacturers and otherdtigs providers to increase market
awareness and generate referrals and customer leads

Because of the highly complex nature of tHat&ms we provide, our clients demand significaminpetence and experience from a variety
of different business disciplines during the salgde. As such, we utilize a selected member ofsemior executive team to lead the design
proposal development of each potential new cliemthwose to pursue. The senior executive is sugpost a select group of highly
experienced individuals from our professional sgggigroup with specific industry knowledge or eig&se to the solutions development
process. We employ a team of highly trained impletaigon managers whose responsibilities includeothegsight and supervision of client
projects and maintaining high levels of client sfattion during the transition process betweenvér®us stages of the sales cycle and steady
state operations.

Competition

We face competition from many different sosrdepending upon the type and range of serviceested by a potential client. Many other
companies offer one or more of the same servicegraxgde on an individual basis. Our competitordude vertical outsourcers, which are
companies that offer a single function solutiorghsas call centers, public warehouses or credit pescessors. We occasionally compete with
transportation logistics providers, known in thduatry as 3PL’s and 4PL’s (third or fourth partgiktics providers), who offer product
management functions as an ancillary service ftio giinary transportation services. We also compef@inst other business process
outsourcing providers, who perform various serviieslar to our solution offerings.

In many instances, we compete with the in-bayerations of our potential clients themselves:aSionally, the operations departments of
potential clients often believe that they can penfthe same services we do, at similar qualitylleaed costs, while others are reluctant to
outsource business functions that involve direstamer contact. We cannot be certain that we wilhble to compete successfully against
these or other competitors in the future.

Although many of our competitors offer onemwore of our services, we believe our primary contipetadvantage is our ability to offer a
wide array of customized services that cover adspgectrum of business processes, including webdsiign and hosting, kitting and
assembly, order processing and shipment, creditgayment processing and customer service, thal@hinating any need for our clients to
coordinate these services from many different pters. We believe we can differentiate ourselveeffgring our clients a very broad range of
business process services that address, in maeg,¢hs entire value chain, from demand to delivery

We also compete on the basis of many otheoitapt additional factors, including:
. operating performance and reliabili
. ease of implementation and integrati
. experience of the people required to successfulliyedficiently design and implement solutio
. experience operating similar solutions dynamic:
. leading edge technology capabiliti
. global reach; an
. price.
We believe that we can compete favorably wétpect to many of these factors. However, the aetddk our services is competitive and ¢
evolving, and we may not be able to compete sufidgsagainst current and future competitors.
MASTER DISTRIBUTOR SEGMENT

Our Supplies Distributors subsidiaries ach asaster distributor of product for IBM and certather clients. In this capacity, we purchase
and resell for our own account IBM and other maotufigers’ inventory.

Through Supplies Distributors, we can creai immplement client inventory solutions, which nenable manufacturers to remove inven
and receivables from their balance sheets throoglise of third party financing. We have yearsxpiegience in dealing with the issues related
to inventory ownership, secure inventory
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management, replenishment and product distributhéa can offer prospective clients a managementisalfor the entire customer
relationship, including ownership of inventory aedeivables. Through CIP, we utilize technologyteses to time the replenishment purcl
of inventory with the simultaneous sale of prodicthe end user. All interfaces are done electadlyi@nd almost all processes regarding the
financial transactions are automated, creatingifsdgmt supply chain advantages.

We are experienced in the complex legal, agtiog and governmental control issues that canupdlés in the successful implementation of
working capital financing programs. Our knowledgel &xperience help clients achieve supply chairtitsnwvhile reducing inventorgarrying
costs. Substantial benefits and improvement tongpamy’s balance sheet can be achieved through thekéng capital solutions.

While we recognize product revenue as a regudtr inventory ownership through these relatiops, operationally this segment is virtue
the same as our Business Process Outsourcing Sedseerthe preceding discussion for an overviethatf segment.

ONLINE DISCOUNT RETAILER SEGMENT

Through eCOST.com, we operate a leading nealtgory online discount retailer of high qualigmn close-out and recertified brand-name
merchandise. We currently offer approximately 78,@€ducts in several primary merchandise categoineluding computer hardware and
software, home electronics, digital imaging, wagchad jewelry and cellular/wireless. Additionallye offer several other categories of
products and services, consumer and small bustsssmers through what we believe is a unique angenient buying experience, offering
two shopping formats: every day low price and awppietary Bargain Countdowt¥ . This combination of shopping formats helps attrac
value-conscious customers to our eCOST.com welsiteare looking for high quality products at lowges. Additionally, we offer a fee-
based membership program to develop customer jogglproviding subscribers exclusive access togpegitial offers. We also provide rapid
response customer service utilizing a strategidattpted distribution center and third-party fulfient providers, as well as customer support
from online and on-call sales representatives. W&r suppliers an efficient sales channel for marahise in all stages of the product life cycle.
We carry products from leading manufacturers siscAgple, Canon, Citizen, Denon, Hewlett-PackardoNj Onkyo, Seiko and Toshiba and
have access to a broad and deep selection of rmeliskaincluding new and deeply discounted clogeand recertified merchandise.

Our Strengths

We have developed a differentiated businesdefavhich provides our customers and vendors mitimerous benefits. We provide
consumers and businesses with quick and convemesss to high quality, new, close-out and rededtibrand-name merchandise at discount
prices similar to a traditional discount retaildth@ut the stocking limitations and store locat@mstraints. We believe we are unlike many
online retailers because we market multiple merdisgncategories and product types, serve both $msihesses and consumers and offer two
ways to purchase products: every day low priceandroprietary Bargain Countdowi .

We offer the following key benefits to custamshopping on our website:

. Broad and deep product selecticWe sell high quality products across a broad selecf merchandise categories. Most of the
products offered on our website are from well-knptmand-name manufacturers. We currently offer axiprately 75,000 different
products in several categories. Our product offgriare updated continually to reflect new prodienids, keeping our merchandise
selection relevant for our customers so they caetiio visit our website

. Compelling price-to-value propositioAs part of our strategy to appeal to the high fezoy value-oriented shopper, we offer low
prices on new products and deeper discounts oasaartment of close-out and recertified merchandlissemploy aggressive
promotional strategies to provide incentives for customers to purchase merchandise on our wedsitduild customer loyalty. We
also offer a fee-based membership program to reaastbmer loyalty by providing exclusive accespreferential offers to
subscribers
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Two shopping formats on our websWe appeal to a broad customer base by offeringstvapping formats designed to attr
frequent visits to our website: every day low prcel our proprietary Bargain Countdow. For the shopper who wants new and
recently released products from leading manufacsumee offer discounted merchandise in an everylaayprice format. For the
bargain shopper interested in close-out and rdieertinerchandise, we market products using our &arGountdowrn™ format which
features tim- and quantit-limited offers of selected merchandise that areentgreply discounte

Rapid response order fulfillmerwe ship substantially all of our customer ordeesrfrinventory at our distribution facility locateéan
the FedEx main hub in Memphis, Tennessee. Subaligrdll orders in stock at the Memphis facilityaped before 4:00 p.m. Eastern
Time ship the same day and can be delivered atustemer’s request by 10:30 a.m. the next day fmstrdomestic locations. We also
utilize virtual warehouse technology to access imendise that is not in stock at our distributiocilfty.

Responsive customer service and positive shoppinerience We believe that our customer service differentisttesbuying
experience for our customers. Our experienced t#anbound sales representatives and customercgergpresentatives assist our
consumer customers by telephone and e-mail. Wehalee relationship managers who are assigned tg ofaour small business
customers to service their needs and increasesfgales opportunities. Our website contains hefpfatures such as in-depth product
information, inventory levels and order statusaditlition, we continually monitor website trafficcaarder activity and periodically
update our website to enhance the shopping experien our customer:

Appealing features for small business custonWe offer our small business customers dedicatedioelship managers to provi
personalized service to their unique business ni

We provide manufacturers and other vendors witbrevenient channel to sell both large and small tities of new, close-out and recertified
inventory. We offer manufacturers and vendors ttlewing key benefits:

Single point of distributiorManufacturers and other vendors often use sepehatenels to sell new, recertified and close-outipcts
because most retailers offer products in only aagesof the product life cycle. Through our two gbiog formats, we offer
manufacturers and other vendors the flexibilityse eCOST.com to sell products in a brand sensitasner in any stage of the
product life cycle. For example, our Bargain Cowmtd ™ capabilities allow our vendors to liquidate smallesidual quantities of
merchandise without disappointing customers dubedimited availability of such product

Efficient distribution and sales channOur centralized distribution capability reducesd@ncosts in shipping product to us. (
ability to rapidly sell inventory is a benefit todse vendors that offer us protection against giosion. Our centralized product
management and feedback to vendors on produdtseligh and inventory position allow vendors taciintly monitor product
movement and placement, eliminating the need &ayufent visits by vendor representatives to physetall locations

Customized manufacturer storWith our ir-house design and merchandising team, we providefacturers the opportunity
showcase their full assortment of products andssmées by establishing virtual stores on our welibiat are specific to individual
manufacturers. We believe this allows manufactuersaximize sales and branding of their produats.promote these manufacturer
stores to our customer base through our integratatieting strategy, including targeted e-mails higtiing a specific manufacturer
and its products and directing customers to thatufeecturer store on our websi

Speed to market for newly released prodiWe respond rapidly to new product releases fromufeaturers through our ability |
quickly post and market new products on our welssite satisfy immediate customer demand throughrapid response order
fulfillment capabilities.

Our Customers

We focus on consumers and business custoliVerbelieve our consumer customers are savvy, oslinppers, who are brand and price
conscious, and interested in new technology. Osiness customers include
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small businesses that we believe are currentlynsedesd by other multi-category online retailershi/ our business customer relationship
managers focus on sales to small businesses, ls@egearvice businesses of all types and sizes. ff¢e small business customers superior and
personalized customer service and new and cuclasg-out and recertified merchandise at competjpiices.

Our Website

Our website is comprehensive, easy to usegpemddes an exciting shopping experience that eragms customer loyalty and repeat visits.
We strive to add hundreds of new products to olinermproduct mix weekly. Our website features haglality product images, detailed prod
information and manufacturer specifications, ad aghighlights of bestelling products and suggested accessories. Waaahy incorporat
new technologies to improve the ease of use ofvalnsite.

Currently, the products available on the exday low price portion of our website are organized several primary product categories:
computer hardware and software, home electronigigatimaging, watches and jewelry, housewaresPO¥ovies, video games and
cellular/wireless. Additionally, we offer severaher categories of products and services througbus affiliate relationships. We also offer
the same products, if they meet certain critenmethe proprietary Bargain Countdowt section of our website. In addition to being ableise
keyword searches to locate specific products omalnsite, customers can browse or search the pioduailable on the every day low price
portion of our website by navigating the subcateggocontained in our primary product categories @ndfeatured manufacturer product
showcases. Products that fall within more thansuieategory on our website are often posted on thareone web page, which we believe
increases the visibility of the products and asdis¢ customer in finding desired merchandise.

Every day low priceOur multi-category merchandise assortment is abigilen an every day low price retail format. Produare organized
by subcategory under each major category tab. Eegor category includes informative and shoppenfily “showcases” organized by
manufacturer, new technology, best sellers, seagifbguides, and new products. This shopping fatrfeatures discounted new products and
recently released products from leading manufacsure

Bargain Countdowii™. Our proprietary Bargain CountdowM shopping format offers closaut, recertified and highly allocated product
limited quantities for a limited time. Bargain Cadawn ™ features more than 100 different product offer$ydaidicating the quantity of
items remaining for the current offer and the tienaining to purchase the product. Based on thalpoty of an offer, an animated graphic
icon will appear to alert the customer of the itsmurrent sales velocity. After the offer has eggjrthe product is removed from Bargain
Countdown™ and may no longer be available at the previousgplediscounted price. Our Bargain CountdoWrshopping format
encourages repeat visits to our website due toaghielly changing mix of merchandise, animated giegthe unique collection of close-out
deals and the search for bargains. We also haweetiiased Bargain CountdoviM tabs throughout the year, including Holiday Coumidp
Watches and Jewelry Countdown, Game of the Yeantdown. Our Clearance Countdown tab is primarigdut liquidate overstocked and
excess inventory across all product categories.Bangain Countdown Platinum Club format is a varsi¢ Bargain CountdowfM and offers
exclusive pricing on select merchandise to ourfaged members.

Other key features of our website include:aambed search, online order status retrieval, omaynent, shipping alternatives, online
registration for promotions and catalogs and ondixiended service agreement recommendations.

As a commitment to our small business custentbey have access to our business customeioredatp management team, the ability tc
up a customized corporate extranet site with cugitoing and product catalogs, up to net 30-dagitterms for qualified customers, software
licensing, computer system configurations, anditepalternatives.

Our Merchandise

We strive to offer our customers an expanselection of varied types of merchandise and ctiyreffer approximately 75,000 products in
several primary merchandise categories. While ooayect offerings
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change on a regular basis due to product avaihlaitid customer demand, we continually offer a wideety of merchandise.

Computer hardware and softwai®ur computer hardware and software product categamyains subcategories for computer systems,
computer hardware and computer software. In thelseagegories customers can find products suchsddage notebook and handheld
computers; servers; personal digital assistantgpws hardware including CD and DVD drives and leusn flat screen monitors, color laser
printers, scanners and networking equipment anohéss, education and entertainment software.

Home electronicOur home electronics product category containsagigories for camcorders, DVD players, audio systepeakers, big
screen and plasma televisions, VCR and digitalovigeorders, portables and accessories. Withiretbalscategories, customers can find
products such as video cameras in popular fornie VD players; surround sound audio systems; sudf@rs, center channel and bookshelf
speakers; LCD, plasma and projection screen tétegsdigital video recorders that pause, rewind @aplay live television; digital music
players and a variety of accessories such as cableste controls and headphones.

Digital imaging.Our digital imaging product category contains pradduncluding digital still cameras; video cameaasl camcorders in
MiniDV format; drawing tablets for digital photo iidg; digital photo and image editing software gitto printers.

Watches and jewelrfDur watches and jewelry product category offerdamasrs the ability to shop in subcategories dedit&d watches,
jewelry and pens. Within these subcategories, austs can find brand name n's and women'’s watches; gold, silver, platinum draimond
jewelry such as rings, necklaces, pendants, eareng bracelets and fountain and ballpoint p

HousewaresOur housewares product category is dedicated tedimid appliances, kitchenware, personal careapys, home decor and
luggage. Within this portion of our website consusngan find products such as traditional housebpfaiances including blenders, toasters
and vacuum cleaners; professional quality cookwarkgourmet kitchen appliances such as coffee grénd

DVD moviesOur DVD movies product category offers consumeraraay of new release and classic DVDs in a widgeeof genres,
including action and adventure; animated; comedgudentary; drama; family; horror; music video aodcerts; musicals and performing
arts; mystery and suspense; sci-fi and fantasytspod fithess and television.

Video gamesOur video game product category includes hardwadesaftware products based on popular gaming ptagfoWithin
subcategories dedicated to Sony PlayStation, Midtogox, Nintendo GameCube and PC gaming, custsroan find hardware products and
accessories, as well as action and adventureplayéng, simulation, sports, strategy and otheetypf video games.

Cellular/WirelessWithin our cellular/wireless category, we offer taraers select cellular phones and service andiatyanf
cellular/wireless accessories including battetiesdsets, vehicle adaptors and battery chargersh&acellular phones and service portion of
this category, we have an arrangement with a thartly cellular service provider under which we reeeeommissions for service plans and
phones purchased by linking through our eCOST.cainsite.

We continually evaluate expanding into addigibcategories in order to attract new custometiscdfer a broader variety of merchandise to
our existing customers. Categories currently udesideration include books, music, sporting gdeelsith and fithess and luggage. We also
plan to increase our depth in our current categdreadding new subcategories, brands and produadtsontinuing to develop and increase
number of affiliate categories.

Sales and Marketing

We currently focus our advertising effortsedficient and effective marketing campaigns aimedcguiring new customers, encouraging
repeat purchases and establishing the eCOST.caomd.l@aur online prospecting
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activities may include cost-per-click arrangemehtt include displaying our products within variqu&ce comparison sites and search engines
such as CNET, PriceGrabber, Shopping.com and Gpsigéegic online banner advertising, affinity athprograms and participation in
various online affiliate marketing programs. Frame to time we test other prospecting vehiclesuditig radio and magazine advertising. We
send our current customers targeted e-mails focosetew product and category launches, special @iorns, and product-related add-on and
accessory offers, as well as cooperative manufachranding campaigns. We also mail an eCOST.camdad catalog to selected customers.

We intend to continue to develop our smallitess customer base. We seek to provide persodaewice for these customers and build
deeper relationships, which will lead to a growstgire of the customer’s overall purchases. We\reBenall business customers respond
favorably to a one-to-one relationship model wigngonalized, well-trained, relationship manageysc@ntacting existing business customers
on a systematic basis, we believe we have the tygtyr to increase overall sales to those custonwWesalso offer our business customers
multiple payment options including leasing and aimét 30-day credit terms for qualified customeligh volume customers may also qualify
for special volume pricing.

Vendors

We purchase products for resale both dirdobiyn manufacturers and indirectly through distridrstand other sources, all of whom we
consider our vendors. We provide vendors with azeaient channel to sell both large and small gtiastbf new, closeout and recertified
inventory. We offer significant advantages for vers] including a single point of distribution, eféint channel relationships, customized
manufacturer stores and speedy release of theiestenerchandise. Our vendors provide us with breamde new and current products, close-
out models and manufacturer recertified products.algo have arrangements with third-party provitlemsugh which we receive commissions
for products in certain categories, such as cellpif®nes and service, as well as other marketidgpasmotional services generated through
eCOST.com website.

We offer products on our website from morentthigDOO0 third-party vendors. In general, we agoeeffler products on our website and the
manufacturers agree to provide us with informatibout their products and honor our customer sepatieies. We have established direct
vendor relationships with many key suppliers ardnid to continue to seek direct relationships wéhdors and suppliers.

Competition

The market for our products is intensely cotitipe, rapidly evolving and has relatively low bbiars to entry. New competitors can launch
new websites at relatively low cost. We believe ttanpetition in our market is based predominaatly

. price;

. product selection, quality and availabili

. shopping convenienc

. customer service; ar

. brand recognition

We currently or potentially compete with aiesyr of companies that can be divided into sevierahd categories:

. other mult-category online retailers and liquidatic-tailers;

. online discount retailers of computer and consuehettronics merchandise such as Buy.com, NewEgg ey&tDirect;

. consumer electronics and office supply supersteueh as Best Buy, Circuit City, CompUSA, Officedat, OfficeMax and Staples;
and

. manufacturers such as Apple, Dell, Gateway, He-Packard and IBM, who sell directly to custom
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Our largest manufacturers have sold, and roatio intensify their efforts to sell, their prads directly to customers. To the extent
additional manufacturers adopt this selling forimrathis trend becomes more prevalent, it could esihg affect our sales growth and
profitability.

Intellectual Property

We rely on a combination of laws and contrakttastrictions with our employees, customers, Bapp affiliates and others to establish and
protect our proprietary rights. Despite these pugoas, it is possible that third parties may copytherwise obtain and use our intellectual
property, including our domain names, without atittadion. Although we regularly assert our intelled property rights when we learn that
they are being infringed, these claims can be tioresuming and may require litigation and/or adntiats/e proceedings to be successful. We
have five trademarks and/or service marks thatamsider to be material to the successful operatfaur business: eCOST®, eCOST.com®,
eCOST.com Your Online Discount Superstore!™, Bargzountdown® and Bargain Countdown Platinum CIlub%é. currently use all of
these marks in connection with telephone, mail Qrcktalog, and online retail services. We havéstegtions in the United States for eCOST®
eCOST.com® and Bargain Countdown® for online reiedler services. We have pending United Statesctioins for eCOST™,
eCOST.com™, eCOST.com Your Online Discount Supsstth and Bargain Countdown Platinum Club™. We haaggstrations in Canada
and in the United Kingdom for eCOST®, eCOST.com® Bargain Countdown®. We own an additional regigtn in the United Kingdom
for eCOST.com Your Online Discount Superstore!®didnally, we own two pending applications in Cdador Bargain Countdown
Platinum Club™, and eCOST.com Your Online Discdbmperstore! ™. In the event that our applicatiomsrent granted, we may not be abl
obtain protection for our trademarks and/or servizeks with the Trademark Offices in the Unitedi&aand in Canada. We would still have
common law rights in and to our marks based orofisiee marks in these respective territories.

We have filed an application with the U.S.dpaitand Trademark Office seeking patent protedtour proprietary Bargain Countdown®
technology. We cannot provide any assurance tpatent will be issued from this patent applicationaddition, effective patent and traderr
protection may not be available or may not be sbbgtus in every country in which our products aedvices are made available online,
including the United States.

From time to time, we may be subject to lggakeedings and claims in the ordinary course oboginess, including claims of alleged
infringement of the patents, trademarks and othtetlectual property rights of third parties by @ampany. Third parties have asserted, and
may in the future assert, that our business otettlenologies we use infringe their intellectualgedy rights. We may be subject to intellectual
property legal proceedings and claims in the omgicaurse of our business. We cannot predict whethiel parties will assert additional
claims of infringement against us in the futurewdiether any future claims will prevent us fromeofiig popular products or operating our
business as planned.

ALL BUSINESS SEGMENTS
Technology

We maintain advanced management informatistesys and have automated key business functiong asiine, reatime or batch systen
These systems enable us to provide informationerity sales, inventory status, customer paymertther operations that are essential for
us and our clients to efficiently manage electratmmerce and supply chain business programs. Y3teras are designed to scale rapidly to
handle the transaction processing demands of @ntsland our growth.

We employ technology from a selected groupastners, some of whom are also our clients. Fangte, we deploy IBM e-servers and
network printers in appropriate models to run wigd feinctions as well as order management andiloligion functions. We utilize Avaya
Communication for telephone switch and call cemanagement functions and to interact with customiersoice, e-mail or chat. Avaya
Communication technology also allows us to sharke pages between customers and our service repagisest We have the ability to trans
and receive voice, data and video simultaneously simgle network connection to a customer to nefiectively serve that customer for our
client. Clients’ interest in using this technologtgms from its ability to allow shoppers
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to consult with known experts in a way that thetomser chooses prior to purchasing. Our sophisticetenputer-telephony integration has
been accomplished by combining systems softwara fBM and Avaya Communication together with our oapplication development. We
use AT&T for our private enterprise network anddatistance carrier. We use Oracle’s J.D. Edwardbasoftware provider for the primary
ERP applications that we use in our operationaseand financial areas. We use Ecometry as thwa@ftprovider for the primary multi-
channel direct marketing application we deploydor catalog and direct marketing clients. We usmat&/Rapistan Materials Handling
Automation for our automated order selection, aatt@u conveyor and “pick-to-light” (inventory retved) systems, and Symbol
Technologies/Telxon for our warehouse radio fregyepplications. Our Warehouse Management Syste®AS”) and Distribution
Requirements Planning (“DRP”) system have beenldped in-house to meet the varied unique requirésneinour vertical markets. Both the
WMS and DRP are tightly integrated to both the Nd@kimerican and European deployments of our J.D.dtds system.

Many internal infrastructures are not suffitieo support the explosive growth in e-businessiagketplaces, supply chain compression,
distribution channel realignment and the correspandemand for real-time information necessarystoategic decision-making and product
fulfilment. To address this need, we have creéitedEntente Suite(SM), which is a comprehensivieaafitechnology services, with support
software and hardware infrastructure, that enatdegpanies with little or no e-commerce infrastruetto speed their time to market and
minimize resource investment and risk, and allolivsampanies involved to improve the efficiencytbéir supply chain. The Entente Suite
(SM) is comprised of five distinct service offertig- EntenteWel , EntenteDirec® , EntenteMessag®and, and EntenteRepétand
EntentePartnerConnect™ — that can stand alone oofndined for a fully customized e-commerce solutiepending on the level of direct
involvement a company wants to maintain in thetoeamerce initiative.

The components of the Entente Suite(SM) pmtid open platform service infrastructure thaivedl us to create complete e-commerce
solutions. Using the various services of the Emté&htite(SM), we can assist our clients in eastiggrating their web sites or ERP systems to
our systems for real-time transaction processirtbauit regard for their hardware platform or opergtsystem. This high-level of systems
integration allows our clients to automatically pess orders, customer data and other e-commemnreniation. We also can track information
sent to us by the client as it moves through ostesys in the same manner a carrier would traclclkaoge throughout the delivery process. Our
systems enable us to track, at a detailed levielrrimation received, transmission timing, any ermmrspecial processing required and
information sent back to the client. The transaetl@and management information contained withinsystems is made available to the client
quickly and easily through the Entente Suite(SM).

The Entente Suite(SM) serves as a transpamentace to our back-office productivity applicats including our customized J.D. Edwards
order management and fulfillment application andBcometry multi-channel direct marketing applioatthat runs on IBM’s e-Server xSeries
servers. It also is designed to integrate with ratoflace technologies offered by major marketpladevare companies. We utilize Gentran
Integration Suite™ (“GIS”") as our technology platfofor Enterprise Application Integration with oclfents and client’s trading partners. With
GIS, we have greatly increased our ability to glyidesign and deploy customized B2B e-commercetisois for our clients by utilizing a
robust business process modeling tool and a higgdiable operating infrastructure. This platformilfeates the efficient and secure exchange
of electronic business transactions/documentswida variety of formats (i.e. XML, X.12 EDI, deliteid text, IDOCS, RosettaNet) and
communication protocols (i.e. FTP/SFTP, AS2/HTTPII#E, AS1 SMTP).

We have invested in advanced telecommunicgtioomputer telephony, electronic mail and messggagintomated fax technology, IVR
technology, barcode scanning, wireless technolfiggr optic network communications and automateeimory management systems. We
have also developed and utilize telecommunicatiecsnology that provides for automatic customelrreslognition and customer profile rec
for inbound customer service representatives.

The primary responsibility of our systems depenent team of IT professionals is directed atlenpenting custom solutions for new clients
and maintaining existing client relationships. @awelopment team can also produce proprietary sysiefrastructure to expand our
capabilities in circumstances where we cannot @geltstandard solutions from commercial providers.algo utilize temporary resources
when needed for additional capacity.
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Our information technology operations andasfructure are built on the premise of reliabititd scalability. We maintain diesel generators
and un-interruptible power supply equipment to ptewconstant availability to computer rooms, caliters and warehouses. Multiple Internet
service providers and redundant web servers prduida high degree of availability to web sitesttimerface with our systems. Capacity
planning and upgrading is performed regularly tovalfor quick implementation of new clients and &l/tme-consuming infrastructure
upgrades that could slow growth rates. We also havesaster Recovery Plan that provides geograjthisaparated and comparably equipped
data centers, in the event of a disastrous situsémd be able to recover in a reasonable andigfenanner.

Strategy

We continue to maintain our simple but effeetstrategy statement to drive our actions foryéer, QGP. This acronym stands for Quality,
Growth and Profit. We believe that if we can ackieutstanding performance on these three basicaksnthey will provide for a stable
foundation for our future. As the evolution of dursiness model continues, we will remain focusethese three fundamentals:

Quality : To exceed our client’s service level requirememts enhance the value of their “brandiile providing their customers a positit
memorable and efficient experience.

Growth: To increase our revenue and gross profit fronsutsent levels. To aggressively market simplifigdduct messages to drive new
clients and revenue and profit growth. To becorfeg@er company and create career and additionaloyment opportunitiesEmbrace
strategic partnering to accentuate strengths anénizie weaknesses.

Profit: To generate positive cash flow and continue teetior consistent profitable results. To incredsevalue of our company for all of
its stakeholders while rewarding our team membéifs ehallenging, fun and memorable life experiences

In alignment with these strategies, we congalet merger with eCOST on February 1, 2006. Webelihe merger will provide substantial
strategic benefits by combining eCOST’s suppli¢atienships, customer base and e-commerce platiagtimour advanced technology and
operational infrastructure thereby providing oumtined company with the enhanced ability to expgntharket share in the fast growing w
commerce market.

The successful balance of the execution (feiendamental strategies over the next yeargetad to result in the formation of a solid
strategic and financial foundation and provide gsistainable and profitable business model fofuhee.

See “Risk Factors” for a complete discussibrisk factors related to our ability to achiever @bjectives and fulfill our business strategies.

Employees

As of December 31, 2006, we had approximatedp0 employees, of which approximately 1,100 wecated in the United States. We hi
never suffered an interruption of business as atrea labor dispute. We consider our relatiopshith our employees to be good. In the U.S.
and Canada, we are not a party to any collectivgdiaing agreements and while our European subgdiare not a party to a collective-
bargaining agreement, they are required to comjily tive rules mentioned in collective bargainingessgnments agreed upon by representatives
of their industry (logistics) and unions.

Our success in recruiting, hiring and trainiagge numbers of skilled employees and obtaingmgd numbers of hourly employees during
peak periods for distribution and call center ofiere is critical to our ability to provide high glity distribution and support services. Call
center representatives and distribution persoretdive feedback on their performance on a regualsistand, as appropriate, are recognized for
superior performance or given additional traini@gnerally, our clients provide specific productrtiiag for our customer service
representatives and, in certain instances, orckéet personnel to provide specific technical sappro maintain
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good employee relations and to minimize employesaver, we offer competitive pay, hire primarilylftime employees who are eligible to
receive a full range of employee benefits, and jdl@employees with clear, visible career paths.

The Company’s Compensation Committee recetbpted a management bonus plan pursuant to o6rE2@@loyee Stock and Incentive
Plan. Under the terms of the bonus plan, cash Emifsany, will be awarded to the Chief Execu®#icer and other executive officers,
officers and senior management based on, and $ubjebe achievement of the following performagoal. The performance goal shall be for
us to exceed, on a quarterly basis, the correspgrmijected quarterly net income contained inanurual budget (or, in case of a budgeted net
loss, to reduce the net loss below the budgetethag} (the “Over Budget Amount”). The Over Budgetount will be determined by the
Committee on a quarter-by-quarter basis.

The total bonus amount for each quarter sie#tqual to the sum of (i) an amount to be detexthbyy the Committee for such quarter, but
not to exceed the lesser of (x) $250,000 or (y)@ker Budget Amount and (i) if and to the extdre Over Budget Amount exceeds $250,000,
ten percent (10%) of such excess.

Following the end of each quarter, the Conemitwill grant cash bonuses in an aggregate amoure tdetermined by it, but not to exceed
the total bonus amount for such immediately pramgduarter, to the Chief Executive Officer and otiseecutive officers, officers and senior
management based on the Committee’s determinatidre gelative contribution of each such person.

Internet Access to Reports

We maintain an Internet website, www.pfswetmc@ur annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly report Form 10-Q, and current reports
on Form 8-K (and amendments, if any, to those tegdded or furnished pursuant to Section 13(al®d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934) are made available, free of charge, throbhghnvestor relations section of this website assas reasonably practicable after we
electronically file such material, or furnish itttee Securities and Exchange Commission. The irdtion on this website is not incorporated in
this report. We also maintain an Internet websiteolur online discount retailer, www.ecost.com.

Government Regulation

We are subject to federal, state, local amelim consumer protection laws, including laws gecting the privacy of our customers’
personally identifiable information and other nambsfic information and regulations prohibiting unfand deceptive trade practices.
Furthermore, the growth and demand for online corambas and may continue to result in more stringensumer protection laws that
impose additional compliance burdens and greatealpes on online companies. Moreover, there reiadt toward regulations requiring
companies to provide consumers with greater inféionaegarding, and greater control over, how tpeirsonal data is used, and requiring
notification where unauthorized access to such dedars. For example, California law currently riegsi us to notify each of our California
customers who is affected by any data securitydbr@awhich an unauthorized person, such as a ctenpacker, obtains such customer’s
social security number, driver’s license numbeC€alifornia Identification Card number, account nemkeredit or debit card number, in
combination with any required security code, acocese, or password that would permit access tstmer’s account. In addition, several
jurisdictions, including foreign countries, haveopted privac-related laws that restrict or prohibit unsolicimhail promotions, commonly
known as “spam,” and that impose significant moryetand other penalties for violations. One such, ldg “CAN-SPAM” Act of 2003,
became effective in the United States on Janua?®d4 and imposes complex, burdensome and ofteigamis requirements in connection
with our sending commercial email to our custonzarg potential customers. Moreover, in an effotdmply with these laws, Internet service
providers may increasingly block legitimate markgtemails. These consumer protection laws may becoore stringent in the future and
could result in substantial compliance costs anddcimterfere with the conduct of our business.

We collect sales or other similar taxes fdpstents of goods in certain states. One or moral |atate or foreign jurisdictions may seek to
impose sales tax collection obligations on us ahéroout-of-state companies that engage in onlkimengerce. If sales tax obligations are
successfully imposed upon us by a state or othmisdjation, we could be exposed to substantialitbilities for past sales and fines and
penalties for failure to collect sales taxes
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and we could suffer decreased sales in that stateisdiction as the effective cost of purchasgmpds from us increases for those residing in
that state or jurisdiction.

In many states, there is currently great uagstly whether or how existing laws governing issgach as property ownership, sales and othe
taxes, libel and personal privacy apply to therim&and commercial online services. These issusstake years to resolve. For example, tax
authorities in a number of states, as well as ag@ssional advisory commission, are currently nging the appropriate tax treatment of
companies engaged in online commerce, and newtatategulations may subject us to additional states and income taxes. New legislation
or regulation, the application of laws and reguwlasi from jurisdictions whose laws do not curremibyply to our business or the application of
existing laws and regulations to the Internet ammercial online services could result in significadditional taxes or regulatory restrictions
on our business. These taxes could have an adeffest on our cash flows and results of operatiéiusthermore, there is a possibility that we
may be subject to significant fines or other paytador any past failures to comply with these regmients.

RISK FACTORS

Our business, financial condition and operatingulés could be adversely affected by any of theWalg factors, in which event the trad
price of our common stock could decline, and yauldctose part or all of your investmel

Risks Related to All Our Business Segments
Certain of our historical financial information maynot be representative of our future results.

The financial information for the periods prto October 1, 2002 included in this Form 10-Keef our then agreements with IBM and
Supplies Distributors, as a master distributorextain IBM products and our then 49% owned subsididnder this agreement, Supplies
Distributors owned and distributed the IBM prodant we provided transaction management and fubiiinservices to Supplies Distributors.
Under this agreement, we did not own the IBM pradune our revenue was service fee revenue (baspdoduct sales volume or other
transaction based pricing) and not product revenue.

In October 2002, we acquired the remaining Bld#6ership interest in Supplies Distributors andne® consolidate 100% of Supplies
Distributors’ financial position and results of eggons into our consolidated financial statemedison consolidation, effective October 1,
2002, we own the IBM product and record producereie as the product is sold to IBM customers.

In addition, effective February 1, 2006, wevmmonsolidate eCOST.com'’s financial position amsltes of our operations into our
consolidated financial statements.

As a result of reflecting revenue earned utldemaster distributor agreements as product tevéncertain historical periods and as ser
fee revenue in others, as well as our acquisitfeeGDST, our historical results of operations may/be indicative of our future operating or
financial performance.

We anticipate incurring significant expenses in tHereseeable future, which may reduce our abilitydachieve or maintain profitability.

To reach our business growth objectives, wg imerease our operating and marketing expensegsekhss capital expenditures. To offset
these expenses, we will need to generate additppéitable business. If our revenue grows slovaanteither we anticipate or our clients’
projections indicate, or if our operating and mérigexpenses exceed our expectations, we mayamargte sufficient revenue to be profite
or be able to sustain or increase profitabilityaoguarterly or an annual basis in the future. Adddlly, if our revenue grows slower than either
we anticipate or our clients’ projections indicates may incur unnecessary or redundant costs andpauating results could be adversely
affected.
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Changes to financial accounting standards may affewr reported results of operations.

We prepare our financial statements to confarigenerally accepted accounting principles, oABAGAAP is subject to interpretation by
the American Institute of Certified Public Accounts, the SEC and various bodies formed to interndtcreate appropriate accounting
policies. A change in those policies can have aisignt effect on our reported results and mayneaffect our reporting of transactions that
were completed before a change is announced. Atioguniles affecting many aspects of our businesdiding rules relating to accounting
for asset impairments, revenue recognition, arnargges involving multiple deliverables, employeecktpurchase plans and stock option
grants, have recently been revised or are currenier review. Changes to those rules or curréatpretation of those rules may have a
material adverse effect on our reported finan@altts or on the way we conduct our business.

We operate with significant levels of indebtednessl are required to comply with certain financiaha non-financial covenants; we are
required to maintain a minimum level of subordinatdoans to our subsidiary Supplies Distributors; dwe have guaranteed certain
indebtedness and obligations of our subsidiariegp$lies Distributors and eCOST.

As of December 31, 2006, our total creditlfaes outstanding, including debt, capital leabégations and our vendor accounts payable
related to financing of IBM product inventory, wagproximately $70.6 million. Certain of the crefditilities have maturity dates in calendar
year 2008 or after, but are classified as curiiabilities in our consolidated financial statemem#& cannot provide assurance that our ci
facilities will be renewed by the lending partigslditionally, these credit facilities include bdihancial and non-financial covenants, many of
which also include cross default provisions apfiedo other agreements. These covenants alsictesir ability to transfer funds among our
various subsidiaries, which may adversely affeetahility of our subsidiaries to operate their besses or comply with their respective loan
covenants. We cannot provide assurance that wéevible to maintain compliance with these covenaity non-renewal or any default
under any of our credit facilities would have a en&l adverse impact upon our business and finkogoialition. In addition we have provided
$6.5 million of subordinated indebtedness to SgspDistributors, the minimum level required undentain credit facilities as of December 31,
2006. The maximum level of this subordinated inddhess to Supplies Distributors that may be pravigighout approval from our lenders is
$8.0 million. The restrictions on increasing thisaunt without lender approval may limit our abilttycomply with certain loan covenants or
further grow and develop Supplies Distributors’ibess. We have guaranteed most of the indebtedfi@spplies Distributors. Furthermore,
we are obligated to repay any over-advance ma8applies Distributors by its lenders to the ex@mpplies Distributors is unable to do so.
We have also guaranteed eCOST’s $7.5 million ciedtitwith Wachovia, as well as certain of its venttade payables. We currently expect
that it may be necessary to provide additional guotes of certain eCOST vendor trade payablesifutare.

We are dependent on our key personnel, and we rteddre and retain skilled personnel to sustain obusiness.

Our performance is highly dependent on theisaed services of our executive officers and ottesr personnel, the loss of any of whom
could materially adversely affect our businessaddition, we need to attract and retain other lyigilled, technical and managerial personnel
for whom there is intense competition. We cannstiessyou that we will be able to attract and rethepersonnel necessary for the continuing
growth of our business. Our inability to attractiaretain qualified technical and managerial perebmould materially adversely affect our
ability to maintain and grow our business.

We are subject to risks associated with our intetioaal operations.

We currently operate a 150,000 square fodtidigion center in Liege, Belgium and a 22,000asguoot distribution center in Markham,
Canada, near Eastern Toronto, both of which cugrér@ive excess capacity. We recently opened a &§08re foot facility in the Philippines
to provide call center and customer service fumsti®e cannot assure you that we will be successipanding in these or any additional
international markets. In addition to the uncettaiegarding our ability to generate revenue framefgn operations and expand our
international presence, there are risks inheredbing business internationally, including:

. changing regulatory requiremen
. legal uncertainty regarding foreign laws, tariffelaother trade barrier

. political instability;
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. potentially adverse tax consequenc
. foreign currency fluctuations; ar
. cultural differences

Any one or more of these factors could maligreadversely affect our business in a number ofsyauch as increased costs, operational
difficulties and reductions in revenue.

We are uncertain about our need for and the avaiilitly of additional funds.

Our future capital needs are difficult to gotdWe may require additional capital to take attage of unanticipated opportunities, including
strategic alliances and acquisitions and to furpitabexpenditures, or to respond to changing mssirconditions and unanticipated compet
pressures. We may also require additional fundimémce operating losses, including continuing afieg losses currently anticipated to be
incurred by eCOST. Should these circumstances, anigeexisting cash balance and credit facilities/rbe insufficient and we may need to
raise additional funds either by borrowing moneyssuing additional equity. We cannot assure yai $ach resources will be adequate or
available for all of our future financing needs.r@ability to finance our growth, either internathr externally, may limit our growth potential
and our ability to execute our business stratefgyelare successful in completing an additionalitgdinancing, this could result in further
dilution to our stockholders or reduce the markstig of our common stock.

We may engage in future strategic alliances or agjtions that could dilute our existing stockholdgrcause us to incur significant expens
or harm our business.

We may review strategic alliance or acquisitipportunities that would complement our currardibess or enhance our technological
capabilities. Integrating any newly acquired busges, technologies or services may be expensivéraaeconsuming. To finance any
acquisitions, it may be necessary for us to raightianal funds through borrowing money or compigtpublic or private financings.
Additional funds may not be available on terms #ratfavorable to us and, in the case of equignfaings, may result in dilution to our
stockholders. We may not be able to operate anyisstibusinesses profitably or otherwise implentemtgrowth strategy successfully. If we
are unable to integrate any newly acquired entitigechnologies effectively, our operating resatisld suffer. Future acquisitions could also
result in incremental expenses and the incurrehdelat and contingent liabilities, any of which @harm our operating results.

If we fail to maintain an effective system of inteal controls, we may not be able to accurately retpmur financial results or prevent fraud
As a result, current and potential stockholders dduose confidence in our financial reporting, whiccould harm our business, and tt
trading price of our common stock.

We have begun a process to document and ¢galuainternal controls over financial reportigsatisfy the requirements of Section 40:
the Sarbane®xley Act, which requires annual management assassnof the effectiveness of our internal contoder financial reporting at
a report by our independent auditors addressingethesessments. Based on the current requireraredteur current public float, we were not
required to comply with Section 404 as of Decen83er2006. We are currently subject to the manageassessment portion of Section 404
for the year ending December 31, 2007, but we atsubject to the requirement to obtain a reporvlyindependent auditors opining on th
assessments. Under current law, we will be sultjettte independent auditor requirement for the pealing December 31, 2008. In this reg
our management has been dedicating internal ressunas engaged outside consultants and has bedamelop a detailed work plan to
(i) assess and document the adequacy of interm&late over financial reporting, (ii) take stepsngprove control processes, where
appropriate, and (iii) validate through testingttbantrols are functioning as documented. If wéttatorrect any issues in the design or
operating effectiveness of internal controls owearficial reporting or fail to prevent fraud, curramd potential stockholders could lose
confidence in our financial reporting, which coblarm our business and the trading price of our comstock.

Delivery of our and our client’ products could be delayed or disrupted by factbesyond our control, and we could lose customerslan
clients as a result.

We rely upon third party carriers for timelglidery of our and our clients’ product shipmems.a result, we
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are subject to carrier disruptions and increasestsatue to factors that are beyond our controluding employee strikes, inclement weather
and increased fuel costs. Any failure to deliverduarcts to our and our clients’ customers in a tineeld accurate manner may damage our
reputation and brand and could cause us to loderoess and clients. We cannot be sure that outioekhips with third party carriers will
continue on terms favorable to us, if at all. If oelationship with any of these third party camsies terminated or impaired or if any of these
third parties is unable to deliver products, we lddae required to use alternative carriers forghipment of our and our clients’ products to
customers. We may be unable to engage alternaivies on a timely basis or on favorable termaf #éll. Potential adverse consequences
include:

. reduced visibility of order status and packagekiray;

. delays in order processing and product deliv

. increased cost of delivery, resulting in reducedgins; anc

. reduced shipment quality, which may result in daasbgroducts and customer dissatisfact

A breach of our -commerce security measures could reduce demandtfoservices. Credit card fraud and other fraududd adversely
affect our business.

A requirement of the continued growth of e-coence is the secure transmission of confidentfarmation over public networks. A party
who is able to circumvent our security measureddconisappropriate proprietary information or intgst our operations. Any compromise or
elimination of our security could reduce demanddor services.

We may be required to expend significant @aihd other resources to protect against sedurétstches or to address any problem they may
cause. Because our activities involve the storagett@nsmission of proprietary information, sucleeedit card numbers, security breaches
could damage its reputation, cause us to losets|i@npact our ability to attract new clients ane @ould be exposed to litigation and possible
liability. Our security measures may not preverusity breaches, and failure to prevent securigabhes may disrupt our operations. In cel
circumstances, we do not carry insurance agaiegtigk of credit card fraud and other fraud, softikire to adequately control fraudulent
transactions on our client’s behalf could increageexpenses.

We are subject to a dispute with a municipal autitgr which, if not resolved in our favor, may maieafly adversely affect our results of
operations.

We receive municipal tax abatements in celftatations. During 2004 we received notice fromwninipal authority that we did not satisfy
certain criteria necessary to maintain the abatésnémDecember 2006 we received notice that theiopal authority planned to make an
adjustment to our tax abatement. We plan to disfhe@djustment, but if the dispute is not resoffearably, additional taxes of
approximately $1.5 million could be assessed agamshrough December 31, 2006.

Risks Related to Our PFS and Supplies Distributor©perating Segments

Our service fee revenue and gross margin is dependgpon our clients’business and transaction volumes and our costs; mahour client
service agreements are terminable by the clientvdl, we may incur financial penalties if we faild meet contractual service levels unc
certain client service agreements.

Our service fee revenue is primarily trangactased and fluctuates with the volume of transastor level of sales of the products by our
clients for whom we provide transaction managersentices. If we are unable to retain existing ¢feor attract new clients or if we dedicate
significant resources to clients whose business doegenerate sufficient revenue or whose prodi@tsot generate substantial customer <
our business may be materially adversely affedttmieover, our ability to estimate service fee rawefor future periods is substantially
dependent upon our clients’ and our own projectitims accuracy of which has been, and will contitwulee, unpredictable. Therefore, our
planning for client activity and targeted goals $ervice fee revenue and gross margin may be ratyeadversely affected by incomplete,
delayed or inaccurate projections. In addition, ynahour service agreements with our clients ammieable by the client at will. Therefore, we
cannot assure you that any of our clients will curg to use our services for any period of timee Tdss of a significant amount of service fee
revenue due to client terminations could have aratadverse effect on our ability to cover oustsaand thus on
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our profitability. Certain of our client serviceragments contain minimum service level requiremantsimpose financial penalties if we fai
meet such requirements. The imposition of a subateaamount of such penalties could have a matedakrse effect on our business and
operations.

Our business is subject to the risk of customer angplier concentration.

For the year ended December 31, 2006 and 2008me contractor (for whom we are a subcontrat¢toa U.S. government agency (for
whom we are a subcontractor), a consumer prodoatpany and Xerox Corporation represented approein28%, 19% and 12%,
respectively, and approximately 27%, 16% and 12%pectively of our total service fee revenue, figiags-through revenue. The loss of, or
nonpayment of invoices by, any or all of such cliewtsuld have a material adverse effect upon our lassinin particular, the agreement ur
which we provide services to such clients are teatnie at will upon notice by such clients.

A substantial portion of our Supplies Disttiims product revenue was generated by sales ofipt@adirchased under master distributor
agreements with the Printing System Division of IBNd is dependent on IBM’s business and the cantinmarket for IBM products. In
January 2007, IBM and Ricoh announced the planoeddtion of a joint venture company based on IBRFeiting Systems Division. If
finalized, upon closing of the agreement, RicoH imitially acquire 51% of the joint venture, whietill be called InfoPrint Solutions Compal
and will progressively acquire the remaining 49%rathe next three years. The newly formed jointwencompany is expected to eventually
become a fully owned subsidiary of Ricoh. No assteacan be given that InfoPrint Solutions Compailyoentinue the master distributor
agreements with Supplies Distributors. A terminaitdd this relationship or a decline in customer dachfor these products will have a mate
adverse effect on Supplies Distributors’ business.

Sales by Supplies Distributors to one custoaeepunted for approximately 11% of Supplies Distrors’ total product revenue for the year
ended December 31, 2006. Sales to three customensrated for approximately 37% of Supplies Disttilvs’ product revenues for the year
ended December 31, 2005. The loss of any one og pfauch customers, or non-payment of any mateneunt by these or any other
customer, would have a material adverse effect Gugplies Distributors’ business.

Our operating results are materially impacted byrazlient mix and the seasonality of their business.

Our business is materially impacted by owrdlimix and the seasonality of their business. 8agpen our current client mix and their
current projected business volumes, we anticipateservice fee revenue business activity will biésalibwest in the first quarter of our fiscal
year and that our master distributor product reedmusiness activity will be at its highest in tberth quarter of our fiscal year. We belie
results of operations for a quarterly period may/bindicative of the results for any other quaotefor the full year. We are unable to predict
how the seasonality of future clients’ business miidgct our quarterly revenue and whether the geditp may change due to modifications to
a client’s business. As such, we believe that tesifloperations for a quarterly period may notrgicative of the results for any other quarter
or for the full year.

Our systems may not accommodate significant growtlour number of clients.

Our success depends on our ability to hanthege number of transactions for many differefdndk in various product categories. We
expect that the volume of transactions will inceeaignificantly as we expand our operations. i ticurs, additional stress will be placed
upon the network hardware and software that managiegperations. We cannot assure you of our gltdiefficiently manage a large number
of transactions. If we are not able to maintairappropriate level of operating performance, we aeyelop a negative reputation, and impair
existing and prospective client relationships andhlusiness would be materially adversely affected.

We may not be able to recover all or a portion afrstart-up costs associated with one or more of clients.

We generally incur start-up costs in connectidth the planning and implementation of busingsgess solutions for our clients. Although
we generally attempt to recover these costs franclient in the early stages of the client reladiup, or upon contract termination if the client
terminates without cause prior to full amortizatifithese costs, there is a risk that the clientra@t may not fully cover the start-up costs. To
the extent start-up costs exceed the start-upréoesved, excess costs will be expensed as inculwdditionally, in connection with

27




Table of Contents

new client contracts we generally incur capitalengitures associated with assets whose primarisuséated to the client solution. There is a
risk that the contract may end before expectedmmchay not recover the full amount of our capitsts.

Our revenue and margins may be materially impactadclient transaction volumes that differ from cli projections and business
assumptions.

Our pricing for client transaction servicesgls as call center and fulfillment, is often baspdn volume projections and business
assumptions provided by the client and our antieip@osts to perform such work. In the event thieadevel of activity or cost is substantia
different from the projections or assumptions, wayrhave insufficient or excess staffing, incremeotats or other assets dedicated for such
client that may negatively impact our margins anodihess relationship with such client. In the eweatare unable to meet the service levels
expected by the client, our relationship with thient will suffer and may result in financial petias and/or the termination of the client
contract.

We face competition from many sources that couldracsely affect our business.

Many companies offer, on an individual basisg or more of the same services we do, and wecfaogetition from many different sources
depending upon the type and range of services séeldy a potential client. Our competitors includetical outsourcers, which are compal
that offer a single function, such as call centpuhlic warehouses or credit card processors. Vifgete against transportation logistics
providers who offer product management functionaraancillary service to their primary transpodatservices. We also compete against
other business process outsourcing providers, vehfopn many similar services as us. Many of thesepganies have greater capabilities than
we do for the single or multiple functions they yide. In many instances, our competition is théduse operations of its potential clients
themselves. The ihouse operations of potential clients often beliga they can perform the same services we ddewtiiers are reluctant
outsource business functions that involve diresta@mer contact. We cannot be certain that we ilhble to compete successfully against
these or other competitors in the future.

Our sales and implementation cycles are highly \abie and our ability to finalize pending contractsay cause our operating results to vary
widely.

The sales cycle for our services is varialyigically ranging between several months to up year from initial contact with the potential
client to the signing of a contract. Occasiondtly sales cycle requires substantially more timéay3an signing and executing client contracts
may affect our revenue and cause our operatindtsdswary widely. We believe that a potentiakdli's decision to purchase our services is
discretionary, involves a significant commitmentloé clients resources and is influenced by intense intemmdlexternal pricing and operati
comparisons. To successfully sell our servicesgereerally must educate our potential clients reigarthe use and benefit of our services,
which can require significant time and resourcemgequently, the period between initial contact tlwedourchase of our services is often long
and subject to delays associated with the lengbipyaval and competitive evaluation processes {matally accompany significant operational
decisions. Additionally, the time required to fiizal pending contracts and to implement our systmisintegrate a new client can range from
several weeks to many months. Delays in signingimatedrating new clients may affect our revenue eaugise our operating results to vary
widely.

Our business could be adversely affected by a syster equipment failure, whether that of us or oalients.

Our operations are dependent upon our abdigrotect our distribution facilities, customensee centers, computer and
telecommunications equipment and software systgyamst damage and failures. Damage or failuresdoasgult from fire, power loss,
equipment malfunctions, system failures, natursdsliers and other causes. If our business isupted either from accidents or the intentional
acts of others, our business could be materiabeesly affected. In addition, in the event of végeead damage or failures at our facilities,
short-term disaster recovery and contingency pdaxsinsurance coverage may not be sufficient.

Our clients’ businesses may also be harmed &oy system or equipment failures we experierloghat event, our relationship with these
clients may be adversely affected, we may loseetiobents, our ability to attract new clients mayduversely affected and we could be
exposed to liability.
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Interruptions could also result from the iritenal acts of others, like “hackers.” If our syst®are penetrated by computer hackers, or if
computer viruses infect our systems, our computentd fail or proprietary information could be mpgaopriated.

If our clients suffer similar interruptions tihheir operations, for any of the reasons discuafede or for others, our business could also be
adversely affected. Many of our clients’ computgstems interface with our systems. If our clienifes interruptions in their systems, the link
to our systems could be severed and sales of itat’slproducts could be slowed or stopped.

We may be a party to litigation involving our e-comerce intellectual property rights.

In recent years, there has been significéigation in the United States involving patent atlder intellectual property rights. We may be a
party to intellectual property litigation in thetfwe to protect our trade secrets or know-how. éthitates patent applications are confidential
until a patent is issued and most technologieslaveloped in secret. Accordingly, we are not, samthot be, aware of all patents or other
intellectual property rights of which our servigaay pose a risk of infringement. Others assertiglgts against us could force us to defend
ourself or our customers against alleged infringeinoé intellectual property rights. We could in@ubstantial costs to prosecute or defend any
such litigation.

Risks Related to the Business Process Outsourcingdustry
If the trend toward outsourcing does not continueyr business will be adversely affecte

Our business could be materially adverselgaéd if the trend toward outsourcing declineseoerses, or if corporations bring previously
outsourced functions back in-house. Particularlgrdugeneral economic downturns, businesses may lmihouse previously outsourced
functions to avoid or delay layoffs. The contindbkreat of terrorism within the United States antbald and the potential for sustained military
action may cause disruption to commerce and ecanoamiditions, both domestic and foreign, which dduve a material adverse effect upon
our business and new client prospects.

Our market is subject to rapid technological changad to compete we must continually enhance ourtegss to comply with evolving
standards

To remain competitive, we must continue toamde and improve the responsiveness, functioreitifeatures of our services and the
underlying network infrastructure. If we are unatdedapt to changing market conditions, clienumements or emerging industry standards,
our business could be adversely affected. Theriateand e-commerce environments are characterizegpltd technological change, changes
in user requirements and preferences, frequentmeduct and service introductions embodying newrtetogies and the emergence of new
industry standards and practices that could readetechnology and systems obsolete. Our succdisdepiend, in part, on our ability to both
internally develop and license leading technologesnhance our existing services and develop eewces. We must continue to address the
increasingly sophisticated and varied needs otbents and respond to technological advances aratgng industry standards and practices
on a coseffective and timely basis. The development of pedpry technology involves significant technicablabusiness risks. We may fail
develop new technologies effectively or to adaptproprietary technology and systems to client neguents or emerging industry standards.

Risks Related to our Merger with eCOST

We may fail to realize the anticipated synergiesstsavings, growth opportunities and other bengfitxpected from the merger.

We entered into a merger with eCOST with tkgeetation that the merger will result in synergissst savings, growth opportunities and
other benefits to the combined company. Howevergtlcan be no assurance that we will realize atlyesfe anticipated benefits. The
combination of our businesses may not result inined financial performance that is better thantvawa company would have achieved
independently if the merger had not occurred.
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Uncertainty regarding the merger may cause clientsstomers, suppliers and others to delay or defecisions concerning us and eCOST,
which may harm the results of operations of either both companies.

In response to our completion of the merg@gnts, customers and suppliers may delay or defesourcing, purchasing or supply decisions
or otherwise alter existing relationships with nsl @ COST. Prospective clients and customers cautelbctant to contract for the combined
company’s services or purchase the combined companyducts due to uncertainty about the combiredpany’s ability to efficiently
provide products and services. In addition, clieotstomers, suppliers and others may also setekrtonate or change existing agreements
with us or eCOST as a result of the merger. Thadeother actions by clients, customers, supplisdsathers could negatively affect the
business of the combined company.

eCOST may be liable to PC Mall for taxes arising asesult of the merger.

In connection with the consummation of the geereCOST received a written opinion from its legaunsel to the effect that the merger
should not cause Section 355(e) of the InternakReg Code to apply to the April 2005 spin-off of&&T from its former parent, PC Mall.
Such opinion was based on certain factual reprasens made by PC Mall and eCOST and certain faanulegal assumptions made by
eCOST'’s legal counsel. Such opinion representel gal counsel’s best judgment regarding the apptin of the U.S. federal income tax
laws, but is not binding on the IRS or the couxs.assurance can be given that the IRS will nagrasscontrary position or that any such
contrary position would not be sustained by a cdfithe merger does cause Section 355(e) to applye April 2005 spin-off of eCOST from
PC Mall, eCOST will be liable to PC Mall for anystéting tax-related liabilities.

Risks Related to eCOST, our Online Discount RetaiteSegment

We may not be able to achieve or maintain profitityi

We have incurred continuing operating lossekraay not be able to achieve or maintain profiitglon a quarterly or annual basis. Our
ability to achieve or maintain profitability dependn a number of factors, including our ability to:

. increase sale:

. maintain and expand vendor relationsh

. obtain additional and increase existing trade trsih key suppliers

. generate sufficient gross profit; a

. control costs and generate the expected synergisable to the merge

We need additional financing and may not be abledtatain additional financing on favorable terms @t all, which could increase our costs
and limit our ability to grow.

We need to obtain additional financing and¢hzan be no assurance that we will be able tdrobtiditional financing on commercially
reasonable terms or at all. Our failure to obtalditonal financing or our inability to obtain finaing on acceptable terms will materially
adversely affect our ability to achieve profitatyiland grow our business.

Our operating results are difficult to predict.

Our operating results have fluctuated in thstjand are likely to vary significantly in thedtg based upon a number of factors, many of
which we cannot control. We operate in a highlyatyit industry and future results could be subjedignificant fluctuations. Revenue and
expenses in future periods may be greater or hessrevenue and expenses in the immediately preg@diriod or in the comparable period of
the prior year. Therefore, period-to-period comgams of our operating results are not necessagtyoa indication of our future performance.
Some of the factors that could cause our operaéisglts to fluctuate include:
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. price competition that results in lower sales vadsimower profit margins, or net loss

. our ability to prevent credit card fraud and redobargeback activity

. the amount, timing and impact of advertising andketing costs

. our ability to successfully implement new technadsgor software system

. our ability to obtain sufficient financing

. changes in the number of visitors to the out webmitour inability to convert those visitors intestomers
. technical difficulties, including system or Intetriailures;

. fluctuations in the demand for our products or st@rking or unde-stocking of products

. fluctuations in revenues and shipping costs, paletity during the holiday seasc

. economic conditions generally or economic condgispecific to the Internet, online commerce rétail industry or the mail order
industry;

. changes in the mix of products that we sell;
. fluctuations in levels of inventory theft, damageobsolescenct
The failure to improve our financial and operatingerformance may result in a failure to comply withur financial covenants.

In the event we are unable to increase owemas and/or gross profit from our present levetsdmnot achieve a sufficient level of
operating efficiencies, we may fail to comply withe or more of the financial covenants requiredenmdir working capital line of credit. In
such event, absent a waiver, the working capitadée would be entitled to accelerate all amountstanding thereunder and exercise all other
rights and remedies, including sale of collaterel payment under the parent guaranty.

If we fail to accurately predict our inventory riskour margins may decline as a result of wi-downs of our inventory due to lower prices
obtained for older or obsolete products.

Some of the products we sell on our websigecharacterized by rapid technological change,lebsence and price erosion (for example,
computer hardware, software and consumer elecspraod because we may sometimes stock large tjeamti particular types of inventory,
inventory reserves may be required or may subselyuygnove insufficient, and additional inventoryiterdowns may be required.

Increased product returns or a failure to accurayepredict product returns could decrease our revesitand impact profitability

We make allowances for product returns baselistorical return rates. We are responsible étwms of certain products ordered through
our website from our distribution center as welpasducts that are shipped to our customers dyréatin our vendors. If our actual product
returns significantly exceed our allowances foumnes, especially as we expand into new producgeaies, our revenues and profitability co
decrease. In addition, because our allowancesaaedlon historical return rates, the introductibnesv merchandise categories, new products,
changes in our product mix, or other factors mayseaactual returns to exceed return allowancebapsrsignificantly. In addition, any polici
intended to reduce the number of product returng masult in customer dissatisfaction, increasediti@rd chargeback activity and fewer
repeat customers.

Our ability to offer a broad selection of product competitive prices is dependent on our abilibynhaintain existing and build new
relationships with manufacturers and vendors. We dot have long-term agreements with our manufacttser vendors and some of our
manufacturers and vendors compete directly with us.

We purchase products for resale both dirdobipn manufacturers and indirectly through distridrstand other sources, all of whom we
consider our vendors. We have historically offgpeaducts on our website from more than 1,000 tpady manufacturers. We do not have
long-term agreements with any of these vendors. #grgements with vendors governing our purchageasfucts are generally terminable by
either party upon 30 days’ notice or less. In gaheve agree to offer products on our website &ed/endors agree to provide us with
information about their products and honor our aomgtr service policies. If we do not maintain relathips with vendors on acceptable terms,
including favorable product pricing and vendor ddegation, we may not be able to offer a broaddile of products or continue to offer
products at competitive prices, and customers rhapse not to shop at our website. In addition, seemelors may decide not to offer
particular
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products for sale on the Internet, and others mvajdeoffering their new products to retailers like who offer a mix of closeut and recertifie
products in addition to new products. From timénee, vendors may terminate our right to sell samall of our products, change the
applicable terms and conditions of sale or reduadiszontinue the incentives or vendor consideretiat they offer. Any such termination or
the implementation of such changes could have ativegimpact on our operating results. Additionaigme products are subject to
manufacturer or distributor allocation, which limthe number of units of those products that asdlae to us and other resellers.

In particular, our business is dependent tessaf Hewlett Packard (HP) and HP-related prodweksch represented approximately 33% of
net sales in 2006, 28% in 2005 and 27% in 200duifability to purchase direct from HP is termirthte restricted, or if the demand for HP
and HP-related products declines, our businessdwithaterially adversely affected.

We are dependent on the success of our advertisind marketing efforts, which are costly and may raathieve desired results, and on our
ability to attract customers on cost-effective tesm

Our revenues depend on our ability to adverisd market our products effectively. Increasabéncosts of advertising and marketing,
including costs of online advertising, paper andtpge costs, costs and fees of third-party sepricgiders and the costs of complying with
applicable regulations, may limit our ability tovaditise and market our business without impactimgpoofitability. If our advertising and
marketing efforts prove ineffective or do not prodwa sufficient level of sales to cover their costsf we decrease our advertising or
marketing activities due to increased costs, m&giris enacted by regulatory agencies or for ahgrateason, our revenues and profit margins
may decrease. Our success depends on our abilityr&@t customers on cosffective terms. We have relationships with onkeevices, searc
engines, shopping engines, directories and othbsites and e-commerce businesses through whichravedp advertising banners and other
links that direct customers to our website. We ekperely on these relationships as significantrses of traffic to our website and to generate
new customers. If we are unable to develop or ragirthese relationships on acceptable terms, dlityab attract new customers on a cost-
effective basis could be harmed. In addition, ¢eré our existing online marketing agreements negus to pay fixed placement fees or fees
for directing visits to our eCOST website, neitbéwhich may convert into sales.

Because we experience seasonal fluctuations in mwenues, our quarterly results may fluctual

Our business is moderately seasonal, refigttia general pattern of peak sales for the rigtdilstry during the holiday shopping season.
Typically, a larger portion of our revenues occuridg the first and fourth fiscal quarters. We beé that our historical revenue growth makes
it difficult to predict the effect of seasonality our future revenues and results of operationantitipation of increased sales activity during
the first and fourth quarter, we incur additiongpenses, including higher inventory and staffingtsolf sales for the first and fourth quarter do
not meet anticipated levels, then increased exgemsg not be offset which could decrease our @oifity. If we were to experience lower
than expected sales during its first or fourth tgprafor any reason, it would decrease our profitgb

Our business may be harmed by fraudulent activit@sour website.

We have received in the past, and anticigeewe will receive in the future, communicationsnfi customers due to purported fraudulent
activities on our eCOST website. Negative publiggnerated as a result of fraudulent conduct b fharties could damage our reputation and
diminish the value of our brand name. Frauduletivities on our eCOST website could also subjediussses. We expect to continue to
receive requests from customers for reimbursemaatal purportedly fraudulent activities or threattdegal action if no reimbursement is
made.

If we do not successfully expand our eCOST webaite processing systems to accommodate higher lesaisaffic and changing custome
demands, we could lose customers and our revenwesdcdecline.

To remain competitive, we must continue toaerde and improve the functionality and featuresusfwebsite. If we fail to upgrade our
website in a timely manner to accommodate highkrmes of traffic, our
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website performance could suffer and we may los¢otmers. The Internet and the e-commerce indusérgubject to rapid technological
change. If competitors introduce new features aalsite enhancements embodying new technologiésnew industry standards and
practices emerge, our existing eCOST website asigs)ys may become obsolete or unattractive. Devedamiir eCOST website and other
systems entails significant technical and businieks. We may face material delays in introduciegvrservices, products and enhancements. If
this happens, customers may forgo the use of o@S30website and use those of our competitors. Weusa new technologies ineffectively,
or we may fail to adapt our website, transactiorcpssing systems and computer network to meetroesteequirements or emerging industry
standards.

If we fail to successfully expand our merchandisategories and product offerings in a ceeffective and timely manner, our reputation and
the value of our new and existing brands could barimed, customer demand for our products could deeland our profit margins could
decrease.

We have generated the substantial majoriguofrevenues during the past five years from the afacomputer hardware, software and
accessories and consumer electronics productsaWeltied several new product categories, includigigatiimaging, watches and jewelry,
housewares, DVD movies, video games and cellulegless. While our merchandising platform has beearporated into and tested in the
online computer and consumer electronics retaiketar we cannot predict with certainty whetheraih ©e successfully applied to other pro:
categories. In addition, expansion of our busirstisgegy into new product categories may requir® uiscur significant marketing expenses,
develop relationships with new vendors and comgti wew regulations. We may lack the necessaryréigpen a new product category to
realize the expected benefits of that new cateddmgse requirements could strain managerial, filmhaod operational resources. Additional
challenges that may affect our ability to expartd imew product categories include our ability to:

. establish or increase awareness of new brandsraddqi categories

. acquire, attract and retain customers at a reatonabt;

. achieve and maintain a critical mass of customedsaaders across all product categor

. attract a sufficient number of new customers tomheew product categories are targe

. successfully market new product offerings to ergtustomers

. maintain or improve gross margins and fulfillmeosts;

. attract and retain vendors to provide an expanidedof products to customers on terms that arepabke; anc
. manage inventory in new product categor

We cannot be certain that we will be ableuccgssfully address any or all of these challemgaesnanner that will enable us to expand our
business into new product categories in a cost#ffe or timely manner. If our new categories adgucts or services are not received
favorably, or if our suppliers fail to meet our tarsers’ expectations, our results of operationsld/suffer and our reputation and the value of
the applicable new brand and other brands couliebgaged. The lack of market acceptance of our medupgt categories or inability to
generate satisfactory revenues from any expandtlpt categories to offset our cost could harmbusiness.

Credit card fraud could materially adversely affeatir business.

We do not currently carry insurance againstribk of credit card fraud, so the failure to astggly control fraudulent credit card
transactions could reduce our revenues and grogsmslVe may suffer losses as a result of ordeasqul with fraudulent credit card data even
though the associated financial institution appdopayment of the orders. Under current credit gaadtices, we may be liable for fraudulent
credit card transactions because we did not obtagrdholdes signature. If we are unable to detect or comtradlit card fraud, or if credit ca
companies require more burdensome terms, refuseckpt credit card charges or assess financialtgEnaur business could be materially
adversely affected.

If we are unable to provide satisfactory customengce, we could lose custome

Our ability to provide satisfactory levelsafstomer service depends, to a large degree, affibient and uninterrupted operation of our
customer service operations. Any material disruptioslowdown in our order
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processing systems resulting from labor disputdsphone or Internet failures, power or serviceges, natural disasters or other events could
make it difficult or impossible to provide adequatestomer service and support. If we are unabtettinually provide adequate staffing and
training for our customer service operations, @putation could be seriously harmed and we coudd tmustomers. Because our success
depends in large part on keeping our customersfigatj any failure to provide high levels of custarservice would likely impair our

reputation and decrease our revenues.

We may not be able to compete successfully aganristting or future competitors.

The market for online sales of the productsoffer is intensely competitive and rapidly evolyilWe principally compete with a variety of
online retailers, specialty retailers and otheritesses that offer products similar to or the sameur products. Increased competition is likely
to result in price reductions, reduced revenuegands margins and loss of market share. We expegpetition to intensify in the future
because current and new competitors can enter dhleetrwith little difficulty and can launch new waites at a relatively low cost. In addition,
some of our product vendors have sold, and contmirgensify their efforts to sell, their producisectly to customers. We currently or
potentially compete with a variety of businessesluding:

. other mult-category online retailers and liquidatic-tailers;
. online discount retailers of computer and consuahestronics merchandise such as Buy.com, NewEgd eyatDirect;

. consumer electronics and office supply superstauel as Best Buy, Circuit City, CompUSA, Office DgpOfficeMax and Staple:
and

. manufacturers such as Apple, Dell, Gateway, He-Packard and IBM, that sell directly to custom:

Many of the current and potential competitors déscr above have longer operating histories, lacgetomer bases, greater brand recognition
and significantly greater financial, marketing aniltler resources than we do. In addition, onlinailes may be acquired by, receive
investments from or enter into other commerciatiehships with larger, well-established and welkhced companies. Some of our
competitors may be able to secure products fromufiaaturers or vendors on more favorable terms, egeater resources to marketing and
promotional campaigns, adopt more aggressive grigirinventory availability policies and devote stantially more resources to website and
systems development than we are able to.

If the protection of our trademarks and proprietamghts is inadequate, our eCOST brand and reputaticould be impaired and we cou
lose customers.

We have five trademarks and/or service mdraswe consider to be material to the successfeftadon of our business: eCOST®,
eCOST.com®, eCOST.com Your Online Discount Supesstd, Bargain Countdown® and Bargain Countdowniflah Club™. We
currently use all of these marks in connection wétkephone, mail order, catalog, and online resail/ices. We also have several additional
pending trademark applications. We rely on tradé&maad copyright law, trade secret protection anafidentiality agreements with our
employees, consultants, suppliers and others tegrour proprietary rights. Our applications may lbe granted, and we may not be able to
secure significant protection for our service masksrademarks. Our competitors or others coulgpaittademarks or service marks similar to
our marks, or try to prevent us from using our rsatkereby impeding our ability to build brand itignand possibly leading to customer
confusion. Any claim by another party against uscisstomer confusion caused by use of our tradesmarkervice marks, or our failure to
obtain registrations for our marks, could negagivadfect our competitive position and could causeailose customers.

We have also filed an application with the UP&tent and Trademark Office for patent protectosrour proprietary Bargain Countdown
(TM) technology. We may not be granted a patenttis technology and may not be able to enforcepatent rights if our competitors or
others use infringing technology. If this occurst oompetitive position, revenues and profitabitibuld be negatively affected.

Effective trademark, service mark, patent,yrigit and trade secret protection may not be ab&lin every country in which we will sell
our products and offer our services. In additibe, elationship between regulations governing damames and laws protecting trademarks
and similar proprietary rights is unclear.
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Therefore, we may be unable to prevent third paftiem acquiring domain names that are similaimiinge upon or otherwise decrease the
value of our trademarks and other proprietary ggtitwe are unable to protect or preserve theevafiour trademarks, copyrights, trade secrets
or other proprietary rights for any reason, our petitive position could be negatively affected avelcould lose customers.

We also rely on technologies that we licemeenfrelated and third parties. These licenses noagantinue to be available to us on
commercially reasonable terms, or at all, in thearel As a result, we may be required to developbtain substitute technology of lower
quality or at greater cost, which could negativadfgct our competitive position, cause us to laggt@mers and decrease our profitability.

If third parties claim we are infringing their intectual property rights, we could incur significaditigation costs, be required to pe¢
damages, or change our business or incur licensigxpenses.

Third parties have asserted, and may in theduassert, that our business or the technoleggesse infringe on their intellectual property
rights. As a result, we may be subject to intellatproperty legal proceedings and claims in tlténary course of business. We cannot predict
whether third parties will assert claims of infrergent in the future or whether any future claimk prevent us from offering popular products
or services. If we are found to infringe, we mayéguired to pay monetary damages, which couldigdetreble damages and attorneys’ fees
for any infringement that is found to be willfuhéeither be enjoined or required to pay ongoinglitees with respect to any technologies
found to infringe. Further, as a result of infringent claims either against us or against thoselighnse technology to us, we may be required,
or deem it advisable, to develop non-infringinghtealogy, which could be costly and time consumarggnter into costly royalty or licensing
agreements. Such royalty or licensing agreemdmsquired, may be unavailable on terms that aceptable, or at all. If a third party
successfully asserts an infringement claim agaisstnd we are enjoined or required to pay mone&lanyages or royalties or we are unable to
develop suitable non-infringing alternatives oelise the infringed or similar technology on reabtmterms on a timely basis, our business,
results of operations and financial condition cduédmaterially harmed.

On July 12, 2004, we received corresponderara MercExchange LLC alleging infringement of itsSUpatents relating to@mmerce an
offering to license its patent portfolio to eCO%In July 15, 2004, we received a follow-up lettenirMercExchange specifying which of
eCOST'’s technologies it believes infringe certditopatents, alone or in combination with tectogi¢s provided by third parties. Some of
those patents are currently being litigated bydtpiarties, and we are not involved in those proiogsd In addition, three of the four patents
identified by MercExchange are under reexaminagiothe U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, which mraypay not result in the modification
of the claims. In the July 15(th) letter, MercExoba also advised that it has a number of applicatmEending for additional patents.
MercExchange has filed lawsuits alleging infringemnef some or all of its patents against third ieartresulting in settlements or verdicts in
favor of MercExchange. At least one such verdics appealed to the United States Court of AppealthioFederal Circuit and was affirmec
part. Based on our investigation of this mattedate, we believe that our current eCOST operationsot infringe any valid claims of the
patents identified by MercExchange in these letters

We may be liable for misappropriation of our custens’ personal information.

Data security laws are becoming more stringettie United States and abroad. Third partie®agaging in increased cyber attacks against
companies doing business on the Internet and itails are increasingly subjected to identity amdlitrcard theft on the Internet. If third
parties or unauthorized employees are able to peeaiur network security or otherwise misapprdprigs customers’ personal information or
credit card information, or if we give third pasier our employees improper access to customersopal information or credit card
information, we could be subject to liability. THigbility could include claims for unauthorizedrpbases with credit card information,
impersonation or other similar fraud claims. Thablility could also include claims for other misas# personal information, including
unauthorized marketing purposes. Liability for npigeopriation of this information could decrease profitability. In such circumstances, we
also could be liable for failing to provide timeiptice of a data security breach affecting cergies of personal information. In addition, the
Federal Trade Commission and state agencies haughirnumerous enforcement actions against Inteemapanies for alleged deficiencies
those companies’ privacy and data security prastiaed
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they may continue to bring such actions. We condtii additional expenses if new regulations regaydhe collection, use or storage of
personal information are introduced or if governireggencies investigate our privacy or security ficas.

We rely on encryption and authentication tetbgy licensed from third parties to provide theigéty and authentication necessary to effect
secure transmission of sensitive customer infolmnagich as customer credit card numbers. Advancesmputer capabilities, new discove
in the field of cryptography or other events or elepments may result in a compromise or breacheatgorithms that we use to protect
customer transaction data. If any such compronfisecurity were to occur, it could subject us #llity, damage our reputation and diminish
the value of our brand-name. A party who is ableitoumvent the security measures could misappatgpproprietary information or cause
interruptions in operations. We may be requiredxpend significant capital and other resourcegdtept against such security breaches or to
alleviate problems caused by such breaches. Ourisemeasures are designed to prevent securigchies, but our failure to prevent such
security breaches could subject us to liabilitypdge our reputation and diminish the value of sant-name.

Moreover, for the convenience of our customeesprovide non-secured channels for customeecstumunicate. Despite the increased
security risks, customers may use such channelsrd personal information and other sensitive dataddition, “phishing” incidents are on
the rise. Phishing involves an online company’s@uers being tricked into providing their credita@aumbers or account information to
someone pretending to be the online company’s septative. Such incidents have recently giventdd#igation against online companies for
failing to take sufficient steps to police agaissth activities by third parties, and may discoaragstomers from using online services.

We may be subject to product liability claims thaduld be costly and time consuming.

We sell products manufactured and distribigthird parties, some of which may be defectifanly product that we sell were to cause
physical injury or damage to property, the injupadty or parties could bring claims against ushasrétailer of the product. Our insurance
coverage may not be adequate to cover every clabcbuld be asserted. If a successful claim weradht against us in excess of its insur:
coverage, it could expose us to significant ligfilEven unsuccessful claims could result in theeexiture of funds and management time and
could decrease profitability.

If, eCOST is unable to generate projected cash #ow could trigger future impairment charges rekd to eCOS’s intangible assets.

The valuation of intangible assets related@®ST is dependent upon, among other things, eCO&ility to generate projected cash flows
for its business. In the event eCOST is unabledetrauch projections, we may be required undeenticcounting rules to record an
impairment charge in connection with the write-dosfrsuch intangibles.

Risks Related to Our eCOST Online Retailer Operatig Segment’s Industry

Additional sales and use taxes could be imposegast or future sales of our products or other prozts sold on our eCOST website, whi
could adversely affect our revenues and profitatyili

In accordance with current industry practiod aur interpretation of applicable law, we collaot remit sales taxes only with respect to
physical shipments of goods into states where we hghysical presence. If any state or otherdigi®n successfully challenges this practice
and imposes sales and use taxes on orders on whido not collect and remit sales taxes, we coaléxposed to substantial tax liabilities for
past sales and could suffer decreased sales istttator jurisdiction in the future. In additi@npumber of states, as well as the U.S. Congress,
have been considering various legislative initiagithat could result in the imposition of additibsales and use taxes on Internet sales. If any
of these initiatives are enacted, we could be reguio collect sales and use taxes in states wie@n not have a physical presence. Future
changes in the operation of our business also gesldt in the imposition of additional sales asé tax obligations. The imposition of
additional sales and use taxes on past or futles sauld adversely affect our revenues and piofita

Existing or future government regulation could expe us to liabilities and costly changes in our bosss operations, and could redu
customer demand for our products.

We are subject to general business regulatioddaws, as well as regulations and laws spetlifigoverning the Internet and e-commerce.
Such existing and future laws and regulations mgyeide the growth of the Internet or other onlin@ises. These regulations and laws may
cover taxation, user privacy, marketing and proor@! practices, database protection, pricing, eantopyrights, distribution, electronic
contracts, email
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and other communications, consumer protection,yrrosafety, the provision of online payment sersjéetellectual property rights,
unauthorized access (including the Computer Fraddfduse Act), and the characteristics and qualfifyroducts and services. It is unclear
how existing laws governing issues such as propewtyership, sales and other taxes, libel, trespida, mining and collection, and personal
privacy apply to the Internet and e-commerce. Uafalle resolution of these issues may expose lishitities and costly changes in our
business operations, and could reduce customerrderithe growth and demand for online commerce hdsw@ay continue to result in more
stringent consumer protection laws that imposetaxtil compliance burdens on online companies.example, California law requires notice
to California customers if certain personal infotima about them is obtained by an unauthorizedgrersuch as a computer hacker. These
consumer protection laws could result in substantimpliance costs and could decrease profitability

Laws or regulations relating to privacy and datagiection may adversely affect the growth of our eEDInternet business or ou
marketing efforts.

We are subject to increasing regulation netato privacy and the use of personal user infolmnator example, we are subject to various
telemarketing and anti-spam laws that regulatertaener in which it may solicit future suppliers angstomers. Such regulations, along with
increased governmental or private enforcement, imergase the cost of growing the business. In matdiseveral jurisdictions, including
California, have adopted legislation limiting thees of personal user information gathered onlineguire online services to establish privacy
policies. Pursuant to the Children’s Online Priv&egtection Act, the Federal Trade Commission ldapged regulations regarding the
collection and use of personal identifying inforioatobtained from children under 13 years of agerdasingly, federal, state and foreign laws
and regulations extend online privacy protectioadalts. Moreover, in jurisdictions where we doihass, there is a trend toward requiring
companies to establish procedures to notify usfepsivacy and security policies, to obtain priomsent from users for the collection, use and
disclosure of personal information (even disclogoraffiliates), and to provide users with the épilo access, correct and delete personal
information stored by companies. These data priotecegulations and enforcement efforts may retstiir ability to collect, use or transfer
demographic and personal information from userschvbould be costly or harm marketing efforts. Rert any violation of privacy or data
protection laws and regulations may subject ugntesf penalties and damages, as well as harm teputation, which could decrease our
revenues and profitability.

Risks Related to Our Stock

The market price of our common stock may be voktiYou may not be able to sell your shares at ooabthe price at which you purchased
such shares

The trading price of our common stock may ligiect to wide fluctuations in response to quarbequarter fluctuations in operating results,
announcements of material adverse events, geraditions in our industry or the public marketplacel other events or factors. In addition,
stock markets have experienced extreme price adéhty volume volatility in recent years. This vdigt has had a substantial effect on the
market prices of securities of many technologyteslacompanies for reasons frequently unrelatetleémperating performance of the specific
companies. These broad market fluctuations mayradieaffect the market price of our common stdoladdition, if our operating results
differ from our announced guidance or the expemtatiof equity research analysts or investors, the pf our common stock could decrease
significantly.

Our stock price could decline if a significant nuneb of shares become available for sale.

As of December 31, 2006, we had issued anstanding 601,190 warrants to purchase common $haskng a weighted average exercise
price of $2.29 per share). In addition, as of Deoen81, 2006, we have an aggregate of 5,900,418 sfations outstanding to employees,
directors and others with a weighted average eseimice of $1.27 per share. The shares of commtogk that may be issued upon exercise of
these warrants and options may be resold into ubégmarket. Sales of substantial amounts of comstock in the public market as a result
of the exercise of these warrants or options, empirception that future sales of these sharesl @maiur, could reduce the market price of our
common stock and make it more difficult to sell gsecurities in the future.
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Our common stock could be delisted from the Nas@apital Market which would cause us to become igdble to use Form S-3 for the
registration of the resale of our securities helg bertain of our security holders.

Historically, the price of our common stoclkshieaded below $1.00 per share. If the price ofomnmmon stock declines below $1.00 per
share for 30 consecutive trading days, we maytdaiheet Nasdag’ maintenance criteria, which may result in théstiab of our common stoc
from the Nasdaq Capital Market.

In the event of such delisting, trading, if/aim our common stock may then continue to be ootet in the non-Nasdaq over-the-counter
market in what are commonly referred to as thetedai bulletin board and the "pink sheet&$ a result, an investor may find it more diffic
to dispose of or obtain accurate quotations akeartarket value of our common stock. In additioa,would be subject to a Rule promulgated
by the SEC that, if we fail to meet criteria setlian such Rule, imposes various practice requérgision broker-dealers who sell securities
governed by the Rule to persons other than eshedolisustomers and accredited investors. For tlypss of transactions, the broker-dealer
must make a special suitability determination fa purchaser and have received the purchasert®mwidbnsent to the transactions prior to the
sale. Consequently, the Rule may have a maten@rad effect on the ability of broker-dealers tib @er securities, which may materially
affect the ability of stockholders to sell our séiies in the secondary market.

A delisting from the Nasdaq Capital Markethalso make us ineligible to use Forn83e register the sale of shares of our commorksto
to register the resale of our securities held btade of our security holders with the SEC, theretmgking it more difficult and expensive for us
to register our common stock or other securitiesraise additional capital. We are a party to égemagistration rights agreements, which
require us to maintain the effectiveness of regigin statements relating to the resale of sha&resramon stock issuable upon the exercise of
outstanding warrants. If we are ineligible to userfr S-3, we will need to file new registration staents on some other permitted Form and
maintaining the effectiveness of such registratitatements may be more difficult, expensive ané+tonsuming.

Our certificate of incorporation, our bylaws, ourhsreholder rights plan and Delaware law make it fidult for a third party to acquire us,
despite the possible benefit to our stockholders.

Provisions of our certificate of incorporatimur bylaws, our shareholder rights plan and DataWwaw could make it more difficult for a
third party to acquire us, even if doing so woudddeneficial to our stockholders. For example,aautificate of incorporation provides for a
classified board of directors, meaning that onlgragimately one-third of our directors may be sabje re-election at each annual stockholder
meeting. Our certificate of incorporation also pigsnour Board of Directors to issue one or moréesenf preferred stock, which may have
rights and preferences superior to those of thenmomstock. The ability to issue preferred stocklddave the effect of delaying or preventing
a third party from acquiring us. We have also addyat shareholder rights plan. These provisionsdcdiscourage takeover attempts and could
materially adversely affect the price of our stdckaddition, because we are incorporated in Dedlaywae are governed by the provisions of
Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation,halich may prohibit large stockholders from consuating a merger with, or acquisition
of us. These provisions may prevent a merger aniaitgpn that would be attractive to stockholdensl @ould limit the price that investors
would be willing to pay in the future for our commstock.

There are limitations on the liabilities of our dactors and executive officers.

Pursuant to our bylaws and under Delaware ¢tawdirectors are not liable to us or our stocled for monetary damages for breach of
fiduciary duty, except for liability for breach afdirector’s duty of loyalty, acts or omissionsagirector not in good faith or which involve
intentional misconduct or a knowing violation ofaor any transaction in which a director has dstian improper personal benefit.
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Item 2. Properties

Our general corporate headquarters and thpoate headquarters of our PFS service fee andigsjistributors businesses are located in
Plano, Texas, a Dallas suburb. Our eCOST corpbeddquarters is located in El Segundo, California.

In the U.S., we operate two distribution faigs in Memphis, Tennessee, which includes agdeelfoor and mezzanine space of more than
800,000 square feet. We also operate approximatsiillion square feet of distribution facilities Bouthaven, Mississippi. Both of these
complexes are located approximately five miles ftbemMemphis International Airport, where both Fedl&xpress and United Parcel Service
operate large hub facilities. We also manage a@®@@0square foot distribution facility in Grapevifiexas.

We operate a 150,000 square foot distributimter in Liege, Belgium, which contains advancistritiution systems and equipment. We
also operate a 22,000 square foot distributionezéntMarkham, Canada, near Eastern Toronto. Weatgpeustomer service centers in
Memphis, Tennessee; Plano, Texas; and Liege, Belgwur call center technology permits the automatiging of calls to available customer
service representatives in several of our callersnt

We recently opened a 6,500 square foot fgdilithe Philippines to provide call center andtouser service functions.

Except for the Grapevine, Texas facility, whige manage on our client’s behalf, all of ourliies are leased and the material lease
agreements contain one or more renewal options.
Item 3. Legal Proceedings

On May 9, 2005, a lawsuit was filed in thetiies Court of Collin County, Texas, by J. Greggtétrard, as Trustee of the D.1.C. Creditors
Trust, naming the former directors of Daisytek intgional Corporation and the Company as defendaxtisytek filed for bankruptcy in
May 2003 and the Trust was created pursuant toyld's Plan of Liquidation. The complaint allegasjong other things, that the spin-off of
the Company from Daisytek in December 1999 wasiadiulent conveyance and that Daisytek was daméageelty in the amount of at least
$38 million. We believe the claim has no merit &mend to vigorously defend the action.

On August 24, 2006, a lawsuit was filed in @eancery Court of Davidson County, Tennessee,ligntCogic Corp. alleging, among other
things, that the Company breached its obligatiordeua Confidentiality and Nondisclosure Agreem&he complaint sought injunctive relief
and damages in an unspecified amount. In Janud@y @@ lawsuit was voluntarily dismissed withoutjpdice.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

None.
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PART Il
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Sktwlder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Seities

Our common stock is listed and currently tsade the NASDAQ Capital Market under the symbol SWW" The following table sets forth
for the period indicated the high and low sale @fir the common stock as reported by NASDAQ:

Price
High Low
Year Ended December 31, 2C
First Quarte| $1.8(C $1.2C
Second Quarte $1.31 $0.92
Third Quartel $1.0: $0.67
Fourth Quarte $1.3¢ $0.61
Year Ended December 31, 2C
First Quarte $3.7¢ $2.1¢
Second Quarte $2.67 $1.6€
Third Quartel $2.8t $1.52
Fourth Quarte $1.77 $1.0¢

As of March 30, 2007, there were approxima8&R00 shareholders of which approximately 169 wecerd holders of the common stock.

We have never declared or paid cash dividendsur common stock and do not anticipate the paywiecash dividends on our common
stock in the foreseeable future. We are also m¢sttifrom paying dividends under our debt agreemevithout the prior approval of our
lenders. We currently intend to retain all earnit@gfinance the further development of our busingébg payment of any future cash dividends
will be at the discretion of our Board of Direct@rsd will depend upon, among other things, fut@miegs, operations, capital requirements,
the general financial condition of the Company gaderal business conditions and the approval ofemgers. See “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Result©gplerations — Liquidity and Capital Resources.”

Item 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Data
Historical Presentation

The selected consolidated historical staternBaperations data for the years ended Decemhe2®Ib6, 2005 and 2004, and the selected
consolidated balance sheet data as of Decemb@086,and 2005 have been derived from our auditedatoated financial statements, and
should be read in conjunction with those statemantsnotes, which are included in this Form 10-Ke Belected consolidated statement of
operations data for the years ended December 8B, &3d 2002 and the selected consolidated baldweet data as of December 31, 2004,
2003 and 2002 have been derived from our auditadaimated financial statements, and should be ireadnjunction with those statements,
which are not included in this Form 10-K.

The financial information presented prior tot@er 1, 2002 reflect our agreements with IBM &oghplies Distributors as a master
distributor of certain IBM products and our ther¥48wned subsidiary. Under these agreements, Sspigtributors owned and distributed
the IBM product and we provided transaction managearand fulfillment services to the master distrilvs. Under these agreements, we did
not own the IBM product and our revenue was serfgeerevenue (based on product sales volume or tthesaction based pricing) and not
product revenue.

In October 2002, we acquired the remaining ®i8ership interest in Supplies Distributors andneg consolidate 100% of Supplies
Distributors financial position and results of cg#wns into our consolidated financial statemed{son consolidation, effective October 1,
2002, we own the IBM product and record producereie as the product is sold to IBM customers.
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As a result of consolidating Supplies Disttiys’ financial position and results of operatioosy total revenues arising under our new 1BM
agreements have increased, as compared to thedweésiues arising under the prior IBM agreementsvéVer, our gross profit margin as a
percent of product revenue under the new IBM agesgsis lower as compared to our gross profit meagia percent of net service fee
revenue under the prior IBM service fee agreements.

The selected consolidated financial data shbalread in conjunction with “Management’s Disemis@nd Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations,” “Risks Related to OusiBess — Certain of our historical financial infation may not be representative of our
future results,” and the consolidated financiatesteents and notes thereto that are included elsevitn¢his Form 10-K.
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Historical Selected Condensed Consolidated FinandiBata
(In thousands, except per share data)

Year Ended
December 31,
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations Ral
Revenues
Product revenue, n $333,31:  $252,90: $267,47( $249,23( $57,49:
Service fee revent 67,05¢ 60,78 42,07¢ 33,77 35,82¢
Pas-through revenu 22,88¢ 17,97: 12,11¢ 3,43¢ 3,69:
Total revenue 423,25! 331,65 321,66! 286,43t 97,00¢
Costs of revenue:
Cost of product revent 311,41° 235,58« 251,96¢ 235,31 54,34:
Cost of service fee reven 49,27+ 45,59 28,067 23,15¢ 22,66(
Cost of pas-through revenu 22,88t 17,97: 12,11¢ 3,43¢ 3,692
Total costs of revenue 383,57 299,15: 292,15¢ 261,91: 80,69¢
Gross profit 39,67¢ 32,50« 29,51 24,52¢ 16,31«
Percent of revenue 9.4% 9.8% 9.2% 8.6% 16.8%
Selling, general and administrative exper 44,29( 30,50¢ 27,07% 25,69: 27,90¢
Severance and other termination c« — — — 1,21
Stock-based compensatic 89¢ 16 14 6 28
Merger integration expens 1,49¢ — — — —
Amortization of identifiable intangible 74¢ — — — —
Goodwill impairment 3,507 — — — —
Total operating expens 50,94( 30,52 27,09: 25,69¢ 29,141
Income (loss) from operatiol (11,26 1,98: 2,42( 1,279  (12,83))
Percent of revenue (2.7)% 0.6% 0.8% 0.9% (13.2)%
Equity in earnings of affiliat: — — — — 1,16:
Interest expense (income), 1 2,112 1,72¢ 1,46( 2,00( (161)
Income (loss) before income taxes and extraordiiteny (23,37¢) 254 96C (3,179 (11,509
Income tax expens 1,154 1,001 734 572 94
Income (loss) before extraordinary it (24,530) (747) 22¢€ (3,746) (11,609
Extraordinary iten— gain on purchase of 51% share of Supg
Distributors — — — — 203
Net income (loss $(14530) $ (747 $ 22€ $ (3,746 $(11,400
Per share data:
Net income (loss) per shai
Basic $ (03) $ (©0) $ 001 $ (020 $ (0.69
Diluted $ (03) $ (009 $ 001 $ (020 $ (0.69
Weighted average number of shares outstan
Basic 42,76 22,39« 21,33: 19,01: 18,22¢
Diluted 42,76 22,39¢ 23,46¢ 19,01: 18,22¢
As of December 31,
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002
Consolidated Balance Sheet Date
Working capital $ 20,70 $ 23,35¢ $ 22,60¢ $ 21,407 $ 16,04¢
Total asset 164,15: 131,72¢ 130,32 108,35¢ 107,22:
Long-term obligation: 7,604 8,10z 8,74¢ 3,76( 4,51
Shareholde’ equity 48,84( 29,93« 29,92¢ 28,411 26,47(
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financiab@dition and Results of Operations

We believe the following discussion and analysivigles information that is relevant to an assessraed understanding of our
consolidated results of operations and financiatdition. The discussion and analysis should be ieambnjunction with the consolidated
financial statements and related notes thereto appg elsewhere in thiForm 10-K . This Management’s Discussion and Aniglydl help
you understand

. The impact of forward looking statemer

. Key transactions that we completed in 2C

. Our financial structure, including our historicaidncial presentatior

. Our results of operations for the last three ye

. Our relationship with our subsidiaries Suppliestiiisitors and eCOS1

. Our liquidity and capital resource

. The impact of seasonality, inflation and recerglyuied accounting standards on our financial statesnanc

. Our critical accounting policies and estima

Forward-Looking Information

We have made forward-looking statements is Reéport on Form 18- These statements are subject to risks and waictets, and there ¢
be no guarantee that these statements will probe torrect. Forwartboking statements include assumptions as to howneae perform in th
future. When we use words like “seek,” “strive,€leve,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “predict,” “poterdl,” “continue,” “will,” “may,” “could,”
“intend,” “plan,” “target” and “estimate” or simitaexpressions, we are making forward-looking states. You should understand that the
following important factors, in addition to the RiBactors set forth above or elsewhere in this RepoForm 10-K, could cause our results to
differ materially from those expressed in our ford¢#ooking statements. These factors include:

. our ability to retain and expand relationships ve#isting clients and attract and implement neerds;
. our reliance on the fees generated by the tramsaetlume or product sales of our clier

. our reliance on our clier’ projections or transaction volume or product se

. our dependence upon our agreements with |

. our dependence upon our agreements with our migort<s;

. our client mix, their business volumes and the @eality of their busines:

. our ability to finalize pending contrac!

. the impact of strategic alliances and acquisiti

. trends in -commerce, outsourcing, government regulation batbign and domestic and the market for our sery
. whether we can continue and manage gro

. increased competitiol

. our ability to generate more revenue and achiestamable profitability

. effects of changes in profit margir

. the customer and supplier concentration of ourrtass;

. the unknown effects of possible system failuresrapid changes in technolog

. foreign currency risks and other risks of operatmépreign countries

. potential litigation;

. potential delisting

. our dependency on key persont

. the impact of new accounting standards, and changesdsting accounting rules or the interpretasiof those rules
. our ability to raise additional capital or obtauhd&ional financing;

. our ability and the ability of our subsidiariesitorrow under current financing arrangements andtaii compliance with del
covenants

. relationship with and our guarantees of certaithefliabilities and indebtedness of our subsid&

. whether outstanding warrants issued in a priorgbeiylacement will be exercised in the futt



our ability to successfully achieve the anticipabedefits of the eCOST merg:
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. eCOS™s potential indemnification obligations to its fanparent

. eCOST'’s ability to maintain existing and buildamneelationships with manufacturers and vendorstaedsuccess of its advertising and
marketing efforts; an

. eCOST™s ability to increase its sales revenue and salggimand improve operating efficienci
. eCOS7's ability to generate a client and projected céshid sufficient to cover the values of its intarlgibssets

We have based these statements on our cexxpattations about future events. Although we beltbat the expectations reflected in our
forward-looking statements are reasonable, we daguarantee you that these expectations actuallypeviachieved. In addition, some
forward-looking statements are based upon assungpée to future events that may not prove to berate. Therefore, actual outcomes and
results may differ materially from what is expectedorecasted in such forward-looking statemews.undertake no obligation to update
publicly any forwardlooking statement for any reason, even if new imfation becomes available or other events occurdrfuture. There mi
be additional risks that we do not currently viesnaaterial or that are not presently known. In eatihg these statements, you should consider
various factors, including the risks set forthlie section entitled “Risk Factors.”

Key Transactions in 2006
For 2006, we highlight the following key tragsions:

. We completed the implementation of many new cotdrasigned in the latter portion of 2005. These pemlplemented contrac
contributed $6.4 million in new service fee revenidaring 2006

. We added relationships with both new and existifgnts with estimated fully implemented full yemrnual service fees of
approximately $10 to $12 million based on currdignt projections. Service fee revenues invoicetnfthese new relationships in
2006 were approximately $4.7 million. We also redagd approximately $1.3 million of service feee@aue in 2006 from special
projects with new and existing clien

. We occupied a hew 164,000 square foot distribuaility in Memphis, Tennessee and a new 22,000itiacn Markham, Canade
near Eastern Toront

. We completed a merger with eCOST in February 20@bsaibstantially completed all of the related inatign related activities
. We continued our efforts to improve profitabilitytivthe continued expansion of our operations &Rhilippines

. We completed a $5.0 million private placement af ammon stock, generating approximately $4.8 onillin net proceed.

Overview

We are an international provider of integrdbediness process outsourcing solutions to magmdname companies seeking to maximize
their supply chain efficiencies and to extend thditional business and e-commerce initiativesel as a leading multi-category online
discount retailer of new, “close-out” and receetifibrand-name merchandise. We derive our revenomsthree business segments: business
process outsourcing, a master distributor and@odi#t online retailer.

First, in our business process outsourcingness segment we derive our revenues from a baregerof services, including professional
consulting, technology collaboration, order managetymanaged web hosting and web development,mestelationship management,
financial services including billing and collectiservices and working capital solutions, kittinglassembly services, information manager
and international fulfillment and distribution sex@s. We offer our services as an integrated smiutvhich enables our clients to outsource
their complete infrastructure needs to a singles®and to focus on their core competencies. Qatridition services are conducted at
warehouses that we lease or manage and includémesinventory management and customized pickiagking and shipping of our clients’
customer orders. We currently offer the abilityptovide infrastructure and distribution solutionsctients that operate in a range of vertical
markets, including technology manufacturing, corepptroducts, printers, cosmetics, fragile goodsh Isiecurity collectibles, pharmaceuticals,
contemporary home furnishings, apparel, aviatielecommunications and consumer electronics, amtrey
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In this business process outsourcing segmantio not own the underlying inventory or the réaglaccounts receivable, but provide
management services for these client-owned addfetsypically charge our service fee revenue onst-ptus basis, a percent of shipped
revenue basis or a per-transaction basis, suclpasminute basis for web-enabled customer corttter services and a per-item basis for
fulfilment services. Additional fees are billedrfother services. We price our services basedvariaty of factors, including the depth and
complexity of the services provided, the amountagital expenditures or systems customization redquihe length of contract and other
factors.

Many of our service fee contracts involvedhirarty vendors who provide additional serviceshsae package delivery. The costs we are
charged by these third-party vendors for theseiees\are often passed on to our clients. Our g#lifor reimbursements of these and other
‘out-of-pocket’ expenses include travel, shippimgl dandling costs and telecommunication chargesemhcluded in pass-through revenue.

In our second business segment is a produehtee model. In this segment, we are a masteifligor of product for IBM and certain other
clients. In this capacity, we purchase, and thus,omventory and recognize the corresponding protwenue. As a result, upon the sale of
inventory, we own the accounts receivable. Fredgists billed to customers are reflected as comgsredrproduct revenue. This business
segment requires significant working capital reguoients, for which we have senior credit faciliteprovide for more than $87 million of
available financing.

Our third business segment is a web-commenaugt revenue model focused on the sale of predoct broad range of consumer and
small business customers. In this segment we apasa multi-category online discount retailer @fvn“close-out” and recertified brand-name
merchandise. Our product line currently offers agpnately 75,000 products in several primary menclise categories, primarily including
computer hardware and software, home electroniggatimaging, watches and jewelry, housewaresPD¥ovies, video games and
cellular/wireless.

Growth is a key element to us achieving otmriei goals, including achieving and maintainingaimable profitability. Growth in our
business process outsourcing segment is drivewdyrtain elements: new client relationships and miggrowth from existing clients. We
focus our sales efforts on larger contracts wiltnbrname companies within two primary target markehich, by nature, require a longer
duration to close but also often prove to be high&lity and longer duration engagements. Our 2866lts include approximately $3.3 milli
of new revenue, including certain incremental prtgewhich we estimate is approximately 25% ofapproximately $10 to $12 million we
believe will ultimately be the fully operationalrmmal fee revenue under new client relationshipsredtinto in 2006.

Growth within our product revenue businessrisarily driven by our ability to attract new mastistributor arrangements with IBM or
other manufacturers and the sales and marketiogiefif the manufacturers and third party salempas.

Growth within our web-commerce product revemaael is primarily driven by our ability to incremeCOSTS sales and expand its prod
line.

We continue to monitor and control our costfotus on profitability. While we are targetingraiew service fee contracts to yield increa
gross profit, we also expect to incur incremenigestments to implement new contracts, investmaritdrastructure and sales and marketing
to support our targeted growth and increased publicpany professional fees.

Our expenses comprise primarily four categorlg cost of product revenue, 2) cost of servézerevenue, 3) cost of pass-through revenue
and 4) operating expenses.

Cost of product revenues-consists of the purchase price of product soldfegight costs, which are reduced by certain reirahble
expenses. These reimbursable expenses includehpasgh customer marketing programs, direct costsried in passing on any price
decreases offered by vendors to cover price pioteend
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certain special bids, the cost of products provieeplace defective product returned by custoraadscertain other expenses as defined L
the master distributor agreements. Vendor marketingrams, such as co-op advertising, also redoseot product revenue.

Cost of service fee revenue consists primarily of compensation and relateplesses for our webnabled customer contact center serv
international fulfillment and distribution servicaad professional consulting services, and otlxedfiand variable expenses directly related to
providing services under the terms of fee basetracts, including certain occupancy and informatechnology costs and depreciation and
amortization expenses.

Cost of pass-through revende the related reimbursable costs for pass-throxgkem@ditures are reflected as cost of pass-throengenue.

Operating expenses- consist primarily of selling, general and admirsisve (“SG&A”) expenses such as compensationratated
expenses for sales and marketing staff, advertisiniine marketing and catalog production, disttitnu costs (excluding freight) applicable to
the Supplies Distributors and eCOST businessesuéixe, management and administrative personneb#imet overhead costs, including
certain occupancy and information technology cast$ depreciation and amortization expenses.

As a result of the acquisition of eCOST in ety 2006, and the subsequent valuation of intdegissets acquired in the acquisition, it was
determined that the carrying value of the intarggtdxceeded their fair value thereby requiring Weatvrite-off the excess net book value of
approximately $3.5 million.

Monitoring and controlling our available casdances continues to be a primary focus. Our aagHiquidity positions are important
components of our financing of both current operatiand our targeted growth. In recent years we hdded to our available cash and
liquidity positions through various transactions.

. Each of our primary operating subsidiaries hasanaore ass-based working capital financing agreements witliouer lenders

. In 2003 we completed a private placement of agprately 1.6 million shares of our common stockéotain investors that
provided net proceeds of approximately $3.2 millisnJanuary 2005, we issued an additional 0.4ignilkhares of common stock
certain of these investors who exercised warrasised in the private placement. The warrants esegtgrovided $1.3 million of
additional proceed:

. In 2004 we received proceeds of $5.0 millionaodable revenue bonds to finance capital additiormit new facility in Southaven,
MS.
. In June 2006, we completed another private placenfen0 million shares of our common stock to agrinvestors that provide

net proceeds of $4.8 millio

Historical Financial Presentation

As a result of our merger with eCOST.com ibrigary 2006, we believe our historical financiatetnents may not provide a meaningful
comparison to our current and future financial perfance.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth certain histadifinancial information from our condensed coidsated statements of operations expressed as
a percent of net revenues.

Year Ended December 31

2006 2005 2004
Product revenue, n 78.1% 76.2% 83.1%
Service fee revent 15.¢ 18.2 13.1
Pas-through revenu _ 54 _ 54 _ 3.8
Total revenue 100.C 100.( 100.(
Cost of product revenue (as % of product revel 93.4 93.2 94.2
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Year Ended December 31

2006 2005 2004
Cost of service fee revenue (as % of service feemee) 73.t 75.C 66.7
Cost of pas-through revenue (as % of p-through revenue 100.( 100.( 100.(
Total costs of revenus 90.€ 90.z _90.€
Gross profit 9.3 9.8 9.2
Operating expenst 12.¢ _ 9.2 _ 84
Income (loss) from operatiol (2.7 0.€ 0.8
Interest expense, n _ 04 0.t 0.t
Income (loss) before income tax 3.1 0.1 0.2
Income tax expens 0.4 _ 0.2 0.2
Net income (loss (3.5% (0.2)% _0.1%

Year Ended December 31, 2006 Compared to Year Erdecember 31, 2005

Product Revenudroduct revenue was $333.3 million for the yeareghdecember 31, 2006, as compared to $252.9 miltiothe year
ended December 31, 2005, an increase of $80.4miltir 31.8%. Excluding the $88.3 million of protuevenue of eCOST following its
acquisition in February 2006, product revenue desad $7.9 million, or 3.1%, primarily due to lowaiumes and reduced vendor promotional
activity. We currently expect our 2007 annual pritdevenue (excluding eCOST) to remain relativelggistent with 2006 and we expect our
eCOST product revenues to grow.

Service Fee Revenu&ervice fee revenue was $67.1 million for theryraled December 31, 2006 as compared to $60.@midr the
year ended December 31, 2005, an increase of $ili@mor 10.3%. Service fee revenue includes iasex service fees generated fi
incremental projects with certain client relatioipsh The change in service fee revenue is showawbé$ millions):

Year ended December 31, 2C $ 60.¢
New service contract relationships, including dertacremental projects under new contre 4.7
Change in existing client service fees from orgamawvth and certain incremental projects with ergstlients 6.7
Terminated clients not included in 2006 reve (5.7

Year ended December 31, 2C $ 67.1

Service fee revenue for the year ended DeceBihe?2006 included approximately $2.9 million eé§ earned from client contracts
terminated during 2006.

Cost of Product Revenu€ost of product revenue was $311.4 million for ykar ended December 31, 2006, as compared to $a8%idh
for the year ended December 31, 2005, an incref@se508 million or 32.2%. Excluding the $84.1 nolhi of cost of product revenue of eCOST
following its acquisition in February 2006, costprbduct revenue decreased $8.2 million or 3.5%t Gbproduct revenue, excluding eCOST,
decreased primarily as the result of decreased galames of certain products. Cost of product meree as a percent of product revenue,
excluding the impact of eCOST, was 92.8% duringyter ended December 31, 2006 and 93.2% duringetiieended December 31, 2005.
The resulting gross profit margin was 7.2% forykar ended December 31, 2006 and 6.8% for thegrebed December 31, 2005. The gross
profit margin for the 2006 and 2005 periods inclegetain incremental inventory cost reductions. 8CQ cost of product revenue, as a
percentage of product revenue was 95.2% duringeheended December 31, 2006, following its actjaisin February 2006. The resulting
gross margin for eCOST was 4.8% during the samedherhich is lower than expected primarily duautausually high levels of credit card
chargeback activity that resulted in approximagly7 million of higher than normal credit card dpevacks, an increased provision for excess
and obsolete inventory, and the impact of a $0lamiloss applicable to a sales transaction toraner eCOST customer.

Cost of Service Fee Revenugost of service fee revenue was $49.3 milliontfieryear ended December 31, 2006, as compared to
$45.6 million during the year ended December 3D52@n increase of $3.7 million or 8.1%. The rasglservice fee gross profit was
$17.8 million, or 26.5% of service fee revenue,mythe year
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ended December 31, 2006 as compared to $15.2 mitin25.0% of service fee revenue, for the yededrDecember 31, 2005. Our gross
profit as a percent of service fees increasedarytfar ended December 31, 2006 primarily due tberigross margins on certain client project
revenue as well as the prior year having lowergroargins on certain new contracts, including deggart up costs. As we add new service
revenue in the future, we currently intend to tatge underlying contracts to earn an average grasf percentage of 25-35%, but we have
and may continue to accept lower gross margin péages on certain contracts depending on contcagiesand other factors.

Operating ExpensesOperating expenses were $50.9 million for the yemled December 31, 2006, or 12.0% of total neimees, as
compared to $30.5 million, or 9.2% of total netewues, for the year ended December 31, 2005. Erduke $20.4 million of operating
expenses of eCOST following its acquisition in Feeloy 2006, operating expenses were $30.6 millio®, B of total net revenues, during the
current period. As we have essentially completedrtegration of eCOST into our infrastructure, veve begun to realize certain operating
savings through the reduction of certain eCOST luwad expenses, changes in corporate infrastruatuta reduction in integration related
costs. Operating expenses in the year ended Dec&hp2006 included $0.9 million of costs applieatd stock-based compensation, which
were zero in the prior year. In addition, the 2@@5iod included certain personnel related costscanidin incremental costs incurred to relo
certain of our operations from Memphis, TN to a reuility in Southaven, MS, which did not recurd@06. While we do not expect the same
level of 2006 merger integration expenses to rac@007, we do anticipate incremental operatingeesgs for certain of our facilities and
additional expenses in preparation of complyindhwlite Section 404 requirements of the Sarbanesy@deof 2002.

Operating expenses also include a goodwilkiimmpent resulting from our annual analysis purstier8tatement of Financial Accounting
Standard No. 142, Goodwill and Other IntangiblegissUnder this analysis, we determined that theyicey value of goodwill exceeded the
fair value, which resulted in a $3.5 million norsbawrite-off of goodwill during the fourth quartef 2006.

Interest Expense, nelNet interest expense was $2.1 million and $1Iianifor the years ended December 31, 2006 an& 2@ pectively
The increase was primarily related to the incréaseterest rates.

Income Taxed-or the year ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 ceeded a tax provision of $1.2 million and $1.0iom, respectively,
primarily associated with our subsidiary Suppligstiibutors’ Canadian and European operations. Wedt record an income tax benefit
associated with our consolidated net loss in o&. dperations. A valuation allowance has been geal/for our net U.S. deferred tax assets as
of December 31, 2006 and 2005, which are primaeilgted to our net operating loss carryforwards, @ertain foreign deferred tax assets. We
did not record an income tax benefit for our PFS@abadian pre-tax losses in the current or prioiods. We expect that we will continue to
record an income tax provision associated with 8epistributors’ Canadian and European resultspefrations.

Year Ended December 31, 2005 Compared to Year Erdecember 31, 2004

Product Revenue, N&Rroduct revenue was $252.9 million for the yeareehidecember 31, 2005, as compared to $267.5 mfthothe
year ended December 31, 2004, a decrease of $1idhrar 5.4%. The decrease in annual product nexeresulted primarily from a decre:
in hardware sales volume and increased efficieficgdain products offset by certain product pitereases.

Service Fee Revenugervice fee revenue was $60.8 million for the yerated December 31, 2005 as compared to $42.1 midiothe yea
ended December 31, 2004, an increase of $18.7omifif 44.5%. Service fee revenue for the periotlided increased service fees generated
from incremental projects with certain client redaships. The change in service fee revenue is stim@bow ($ millions):

Year ended December 31, 2C $ 421
New service contract relationships, including daertacremental projects under new contr¢ 15.2
Change in existing client service fees from orgagmawvth and certain incremental projects with ergstlients 4.7
Terminated clients not included in 2005 reve (1.2

Year ended December 31, 2C $ 60.¢
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Service fee revenue for the year ended DeceBihe2005 included approximately $2.4 million eé§ earned from client contracts
terminated during 2005.

Cost of Product Revenu€ost of product revenue was $235.6 million foryear ended December 31, 2005, as compared to $&bfidh
for the year ended December 31, 2004, a decregiksot million or 6.5%. Cost of product revenueagsercent of product revenue was 93.2%
during the year ended December 31, 2005 and 94.2¥githe year ended December 31, 2004. The ragudtioss profit margin was 6.8% and
5.8% for the year ended December 31, 2005 and 268gectively. The decrease in annual cost of mtodwenue from the prior year resulted
primarily from certain incremental inventory costluctions and the result of decreased sales volafreestain products. In addition, 2004
included higher provisions for excess and obsafetentory of $1.2 million compared to 2005.

Cost of Service Fee Revenugost of service fee revenue was $45.6 milliontfieryear ended December 31, 2005, as compared to
$28.1 million during the year ended December 3D42@n increase of $17.5 million or 62.5%. The Itésy service fee gross profit was
$15.2 million or 25.0% of service fee revenue, dgithe year ended December 31, 2005 as compafditd million, or 33.3% of service fee
revenue for the year ended December 31, 2004. @gs grofit as a percent of service fee revenueedsed in the current period primarily due
to lower gross margins on certain new contractigiigrdue to higher costs incurred during the ierpkntation and initial operating periods of
these new contracts. The 2004 results also refleethigher gross margin benefit related to cenpagject revenue that did not occur at a sir
level in 2005.

Operating ExpensesOperating expenses were $30.5 million for the yealed December 31, 2005 or 9.2% of total netrmess, as
compared to $27.1 million, or 8.4% of total revesider the year ended December 31, 2004. SG&A esgeimcreased from the prior year
primarily due to approximately $1.4 million of irenental costs incurred in 2005 to relocate cedhivur operations from Memphis, Tennes
to a new facility in Southaven, Mississippi, thgdefees related to the Daisytek lawsduit filed iayM2005 (see Part I. Item 3. Legal
Proceedings), incremental sales and marketing egsesnd certain personnel related costs.

Income TaxesFor the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2G94ecorded a tax provision of $1.0 million and $®illion, respectively,
primarily associated with Supplies Distributors’adian and European operations. We did not recoidame tax benefit for our PFSweb
Canadian pre-tax losses in the current or prioiogsr

Supplies Distributors and its Subsidiaries

Supplies Distributors and its subsidiariesasctnaster distributors of various IBM and othedpicts and, pursuant to a transaction
management services agreement between us and &upjgiributors, we provide transaction manageraedtfulfilment services to Supplies
Distributors and its subsidiaries. In addition to equity investment in Supplies Distributors, veeé also provided Supplies Distributors wi
subordinated loan that, as of December 31, 20@bahabutstanding balance of $6.5 million.

Supplies Distributors has paid us dividend$3® million, $1.0 million, and $0.8 million in 6, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Pursuant to
the terms of its amended credit agreements, Suppisributors is currently restricted from payfiugther cash dividends without the prior
approval of its lenders. In addition, no distriloumtimay be made if, after giving effect thereto, tieéworth of Supplies Distributors would be
less than $1.0 million.

eCOST and its Subsidiaries

eCOST is a multi-category online discountitetaf new, “close-out” and recertified brand-namerchandise, selling products primarily to
customers in the United States. As of Decembe326, we have advanced $10.6 million to eCOST ppstt their operations.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Net cash provided by operating activities $a$ million for the year ended December 31, 2086 @imarily consisted of a decrease in
inventories of $2.9 million, a decrease in accouatgivable of $1.7 million and a decrease in igtstl cash of $0.8 million. These sources of
cash were offset by a $2.6 million decrease in actopayable, accrued expenses and other liabikitiel a decrease in net income, as adjusted
for non-cash items of $0.2 million.

Net cash provided by operating activities $@s8 million for the year ended December 31, 200% @rimarily resulted from increases in
income, as adjusted for non-cash items, of $5.4amilind accounts payable, accrued expenses aadl@thilities of $2.5 million, partially
offset by increases in accounts receivable of $#lkon, prepaid expenses, other receivables ahdraissets of $1.8 million and an increase in
inventories of $0.8 million.

Net cash used in investing activities was $dilion for the year ended December 31, 2006 amsisted primarily of capital expenditures
of $4.0 million and cash paid to acquire eCOST afieash acquired, of $1.3 million, partially offé®s a decrease in restricted cash of $0.9
million.

Net cash used in investing activities for ykear ended December 31, 2005 totaled $2.8 miltiesylting from capital expenditures of
$3.9 million offset by a decrease in restrictechoafs$1.1 million.

Capital expenditures have historically corgigprimarily of additions to upgrade our managenngiormation systems and general
expansion of our facilities, both domestic and ifigne We expect to incur capital expenditures topgupnew contracts and anticipated future
growth opportunities. Based on our current cliargibess activity and our targeted growth plansamtécipate that our total investment in
upgrades and additions to facilities and infornratiechnology services for the upcoming twelve menitiil be approximately $6 million to
$9 million, although additional capital expenditsiraay be necessary to support the infrastructupgirements of new clients as well as the
eCOST infrastructure. To maintain our current ofpegacash position, a portion of these expenditanag be financed through debt, operating
or capital leases or additional equity. We maytaieenodify or defer a portion of such anticipatedestments in the event that we do not
achieve the revenue necessary to support suchtingets.

Net cash provided by financing activities &s3 million for the year ended December 31, 200@arily representing $4.9 million of net
proceeds on issuance of common stock pursuanptivae placement transaction and $1.0 million eff proceeds on debt partially offset by
payments on capital leases of $1.5 million andhaneiase in restricted cash of $1.1 million.

Net cash provided by financing activities vaaproximately $2.1 million for the year ended Debenm31, 2005, primarily representing
$1.2 million of proceeds from debt and $2.1 milliwiproceeds from the issuance of common stockuauntsto our employee stock purchase
and stock option programs and warrant exercisdfappoffset by $1.2 million of payments on ourpital lease obligations.

Our liquidity has been negatively impactedassult of the merger with e COST. During 2005 2006, eCOST experienced a significant
net usage of cash primarily due to losses incudsd result, during the process of transitionind ategrating the eCOST operations, we t
had to support eCOST’s cash needs to help it aeldestabilized operational position. The amourtither cash needed to support eCOST
operations will depend upon the financing availadevell as eCOST'’s ability to improve its financisults.

We currently expect that eCOST, as part afralined company, should achieve annual recurrisg $@vings of approximately $4 million
to $5 million, dependent upon sales volumes, aspeoed to pre-merger levels. These savings resuit,famong other things, the reduction of
certain overhead expenses, changes in corporatstinfcture and reduced freight costs, althougletban be no assurance that these cost
savings will be achieved. As we have essentialmmleted the integration of eCOST into our infrastiwe, we have begun to realize the
benefits of many of these expected cost savingditiddally we expect improvements in eCOST profilibin 2007 and beyond as a result of
planned efforts to increase sales, improve prodhixtand improved operational efficiencies.
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During the year ended December 31, 2006, aukiwg capital decreased to $20.7 million from $2&illion at December 31, 2005
primarily as a result of the use of cash relatetthéointegration activities of eCOST into the PRBastructure as well as cash used to support
eCOST operating losses. A portion of these casftoous were offset by the net proceeds from the el@ur common stock in a private
placement transaction. To obtain additional finagdn the future, in addition to our current casisifion, we plan to evaluate various financ
alternatives including the sale of equity, utiligicapital or operating leases, borrowing underovum credit facilities, expanding our current
credit facilities, entering into new debt agreemsamttransferring to third-parties a portion of subordinated loan balance due from Supplies
Distributors. In conjunction with certain of thesléernatives, we may be required to provide cefgtiers of credit to secure these
arrangements. No assurances can be given thatlilgeveiuccessful in obtaining any additional finizugcor the terms thereof. We currently
believe that our cash position, financing availabieer our credit facilities and funds generatedifloperations (including our anticipated
revenue growth and/or cost reductions to offseelotian anticipated revenue growth) will satisfy ptesently known operating cash needs,
our working capital and capital expenditure requieats, our lease obligations, and additional Idarsur subsidiaries Supplies Distributors
and eCOST, if necessary, for at least the nextvewelonths.

The following is a schedule of our total catual cash obligations, which is comprised of apeg leases, debt, vendor financing and
capital leases (including interest), as of Decen®1e2006 (in millions):

Payments Due By Peric

Less thar 1-3 3-5 More thar
Total 1 Year Years Years 5 Years

Contractual Obligation
Debt and vendor financir $66,86¢ $62,17¢ $ 2,16¢ $ 1,72( $ 804
Capital lease obligatior 4,88¢ 2,87¢ 1,67 334 —
Operating lease 26,66" 8,62( 11,39( 5,98( 67t
Total $98,41¢ $ 73,67 $15,22¢ $ 8,03« $ 1,47¢

In support of certain debt instruments andésaas of December 31, 2006 and 2005, we had@ich and $0.7 million, respectively, of
cash restricted as collateral for a letter of dremhich expires in 2007. As of December 31, 2006 2005, we had $2.5 million and $1.6
million, respectively, of cash restricted for payref capital expenditures or repayment to lenderaddition, as described above, we have
provided collateralized guarantees to secure thayraent of certain of our subsidiaries’ credit liiels. Many of these facilities include both
financial and non-financial covenants, and alsduithe cross default provisions applicable to othredit facilities and agreements. These
covenants include minimum levels of net worth fog individual borrower subsidiaries and restrictsiam the ability of the borrower
subsidiaries to advance funds to other borrowesididries. As a result, it is possible for one arenof these borrower subsidiaries to fail to
meet their respective covenants even if anotheobar subsidiary otherwise has available excesdgwvhich, if not restricted, could be used
to cure the default. To the extent we fail to compith our debt covenants, including the monthhaficial covenant requirements and our
required level of stockholders’ equity, and thedlers accelerate the repayment of the credit fpa@lifigations, we would be required to repay
all amounts outstanding thereunder. In particutathe event eCOST is unable to increase its rexamal/or gross profit from its present levels
it may fail to comply with one or more of the firaal covenants required under its working capita bf credit. In such event, absent a wai
the working capital lender would be entitled toelecate all amounts outstanding thereunder anctimeeall other rights and remedies,
including sale of collateral and payment underpanent guaranty. A requirement to accelerate thayment of the credit facility obligations
would have a material adverse impact on our firerandition and results of operations. We can joi@wo assurance that we will have the
financial ability to repay all of such obligationss of December 31, 2006, we were in compliancé wit debt covenants. We do not have any
other material financial commitments, although fatalient contracts may require capital expendguned lease commitments to support the
services provided to such clients.

In the future, we may attempt to acquire othesinesses or seek an equity or strategic paxirggnerate capital or expand our services or
capabilities in connection with our efforts to growr business. Acquisitions involve certain riskdl @ancertainties and may require additional
financing. Therefore, we can give no assurance regpect to whether we will be successful in idgimg businesses to acquire or an equity or
strategic partner, whether we or they will be dblebtain financing to complete a transaction, bether we or they will be successful in
operating the acquired business.
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To finance their distribution of IBM producSupplies Distributors and its subsidiaries havatsterm credit facilities with IBM Credit LL(
(“IBM Credit”) and IBM Belgium Financial ServicesA. (“IBM Belgium”). We have provided a collateraéid guaranty to secure the
repayment of these credit facilities. These asaset) credit facilities provided financing for up®80.5 million and up to 12.5 million Euros
(approximately $16.5 million) with IBM Credit an8M Belgium, respectively. These agreements expifdarch 2008.

Supplies Distributors also has a loan andriigcagreement with Wachovia Bank, N.A. (“Wachovia) provide financing for up to
$25 million of eligible accounts receivables in theited States and Canada. The Wachovia facilipires on the earlier of March 29, 2009 or
the date on which the parties to the IBM mastdritistor agreement no longer operate under theserfsuch agreement and/or IBM no lor
supplies products pursuant to such agreement.

Supplies Distributors’ European subsidiary &dactoring agreement with Fortis Commercial FoeaN.V. (“Fortis”) to provide factoring
for up to 7.5 million Euros (approximately $9.9 lioih) of eligible accounts receivables through Ma©08.

These credit facilities contain cross defaoltvisions, various restrictions upon the abilifySoipplies Distributors and its subsidiaries to,
among other things, merge, consolidate, sell assets indebtedness, make loans, investments aypieh@nts to related parties (including
entities directly or indirectly owned by PFSwelbg.)nprovide guarantees, make investments and |péedge assets, make changes to capital
stock ownership structure and pay dividends, atagdiinancial covenants, such as cash flow froerafions, annualized revenue to working
capital, net profit after tax to revenue, minimuet worth and total liabilities to tangible net woras defined, and are secured by all of the
assets of Supplies Distributors, as well as a wldized guaranty of PFSweb. Additionally, we seguired to maintain a subordinated loan to
Supplies Distributors of no less than $6.0 milliorgintain restricted cash of less than $5.0 milaod are restricted with regard to transactions
with related parties, indebtedness and changesptitat stock ownership structure and a minimumelhalders’ equity of at least $18.0 million.
Furthermore, we are obligated to repay any atrance made to Supplies Distributors or its sudnsas under these facilities if they are un:
to do so. We have also provided a guarantee afliigations of Supplies Distributors and its sukbzgies to IBM, excluding the trade payables
that are financed by IBM credit.

Our PFS subsidiary has entered into a LoanSaudirity Agreement with Comerica Bank (“Comerigcaihich provides for up to
$10.0 million of eligible accounts receivable fiarg through April 2008, provided a $1.5 milliomeloan due in equal monthly installments
through December 2007, and provided for up to $&lbon of eligible equipment purchases throughed@008. We entered this Agreement to
supplement our existing cash position, and profudeling for our current and future operations, ullthg our targeted growth. The Agreement
contains cross default provisions, various restnist upon our ability to, among other things, meggmsolidate, sell assets, incur indebtedness
make loans and payments to subsidiaries, affiliatesrelated parties (including entities directiyrairectly owned by PFSweb, Inc.), make
investments and loans, pledge assets, make chngapital stock ownership structure, as well aaricial covenants of a minimum tangible
net worth of $20 million, as defined, and a minimliguidity ratio, as defined. The agreement alsuté PFS’ ability to increase the
subordinated loan to Supplies Distributors to nagertban $8.0 million and advance no more than #8likon to eCOST without Comerica’s
approval. The agreement is secured by all of teetaof PFS, as well as a guarantee of PFSweb.

eCOST currently has an asset-based line dftdeeility of up to $7.5 million with Wachovia @#al Finance Corporation (Western), which
is collateralized by substantially all of eCOST&sats and expires in May 2009. Borrowings undefabitity are limited to a percentage of
eligible accounts receivable and letter of cred#ilability is limited to a percentage of accourdgseivable and inventory. As of December 31,
2006, eCOST had $1.6 million of letters of creditstanding and $0.9 million of available credit anthis facility. The credit facility restricts
eCOST’s ability to, among other things, merge, otidate, sell assets, incur indebtedness, makesjéavestments and payments to
subsidiaries, affiliates and related parties, makestments and loans,
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pledge assets, make changes to capital stock oipestsucture, as well as a minimum tangible nettivof $0, as defined. PFSweb has
guaranteed all current and future obligations cD&C under this line of credit.

In 2003, we entered into a Securities Purchageement with certain institutional investorsaiprivate placement transaction pursuant to
which we issued and sold an aggregate of 1.6 milllwares of our common stock, (the “Common Stodk"addition to the Common Stock,
investors received certain warrants to purchaseestef Common Stock at a specified exercise pAse result of the merger with eCOST and
the private placement of our common stock in JU@Adiscussed below), the exercise price of thstanding warrants has been adjusted to
$2.31 per share and the number of warrants hasdifjested to 564,980. In addition, in connectiothvtihhe merger of eCOST, we assumed
outstanding warrants to issue an aggregate of 8&Rares of common stock at an exercise price .0032er share, subject to the terms set
forth therein.

In 2004, to fulfill our obligations under cairt new client relationships, we entered into a¢hyear operating lease arrangement for a new
distribution facility in Southaven, MS, near ouiis#g distribution complex in Memphis, TN. We haweurred more than $5 million in capi
expenditures to support the incremental businefsismew distribution center. We financed a siigaifit portion of these expenditures through
a Loan Agreement with the Mississippi Business k@eaCorporation (the “MBFC”) pursuant to which M8FC issued $5 million MBFC
Taxable Variable Rate Demand Limited Obligation &ave Bonds, Series 2004 (Priority Fulfilment Seegi, Inc. Project) (the “Bonds”). The
MBFC loaned us the proceeds of the Bonds for thipgae of financing the acquisition and installatidrequipment, machinery and related
assets located in our new Southaven, Mississigiilution facility. The primary source of repayreifthe Bonds is a letter of credit (the
“Letter of Credit”) in the initial face amount o6$L million issued by Comerica pursuant to a Reirasbment Agreement between us and
Comerica under which we are obligated to pay to &iga all amounts drawn under the Letter of Crékdie Letter of Credit has a maturity
date of April 2008 at which time, if not renewedreplaced, will result in a draw on the undrawrefamount thereof.

In June 2006, we entered into a Securitiestige Agreement with certain institutional investora private placement transaction pursuant
to which we issued and sold an aggregate of 5.lomihares of our common stock, par value $.001spare, at $1.00 per share, resulting in
gross proceeds of $5.0 million. After deductingenges, the net proceeds were approximately $4l@miVe have advanced the net proce
to eCOST to support their operating requirements.

To the extent we fail to comply with the varsodebt covenants described above, and the leadeeterate the repayment of the credit
facility obligations, we would be required to replamounts outstanding thereunder. Any requirdrteeaccelerate the repayment of the ci
facility obligations would have a material adveirs@act on our financial condition and results oégiions. We can provide no assurance that
we will have the financial ability to repay all sfich obligations. As of December 31, 2006, we irmmpliance with all debt covenants.

Through our merger with eCOST, we have aligthedcore strengths of each company, to leveragemerational infrastructure and
technology expertise with eCOST’s customer basesapglier relationships. We are targeting to achi®4 to $5 million in annual cost
savings, dependent upon sales volumes, as comfmaped-merger levels. These savings are expectesstdt from, among other things,
reductions in the following costs:

. Certain redundant administrative and public compagtivities;

. Excess capacity and other related facility exper

. Technology, telecommunications and operationals;c@std

. Overall outbound freight costs due to additionalght options

As we have essentially completed the integradif eCOST into our infrastructure, we are begigrto realize the expected cost savings.

Additionally, we believe the combined companian pursue a variety of incremental revenue aossgrofit-related opportunities, such as:
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. Increase the number “virtual warehous” partnerships for both electronics and -electronic goods

. Develop higher margin n-product and service categori

. Expand international sales, particularly in Eurape Canada, where we maintain a presence

. Utilize our stronger financial platform to enhares@OS™ s working capital resources to expand access fogxe products and dea

We can provide no assurance that such platieearnderlying financial benefits will be achievédiditionally, even with such plans, we
expect that eCOST will operate at a loss duringrz&@d will require funding to support its operason

eCOST has historically incurred significaneoating losses and used cash to fund its operatfana result, we have been required to invest
cash to fund eCOST’s operations, which we may eadtie to continue to do without approval from lmmders. The amount of further cash
needed to support eCOST operations depends updimémeing available under its credit line as vadleCOST’s ability to improve its
financial results. Through March 28, 2007, we hasteanced $10.6 million to eCOST to fund eCOST $dlsv requirements and have lender
approval to advance an additional $2.6 millionwgertain restrictions, if needed. In the eventneed to invest further cash to eCOST, we
be required to seek approval from our lenders ¢oigde such funds. We can provide no assurancembatill receive such approval from our
lenders or any terms or conditions required bylenders to obtain such approval. In addition, PRShees provided a guaranty of eCOST'’s
bank line of credit and certain eCOST’s vendorérpeyables.

If eCOST is unable to meet its requirementdeniits debt obligations and bank facility, the iqueees referred to above could be called
upon.

We receive municipal tax abatements in celltaiations. During 2004 we received notice fromuniuipal authority that we did not satisfy
certain criteria necessary to maintain the abatésnémDecember 2006 we received notice that theiopal authority planned to make an
adjustment to our tax abatement. We plan to disihe@djustment, but if the dispute is not resoffearably, additional taxes of
approximately $1.5 million could be assessed agamshrough December 31, 2006. We have not acdorgtie additional taxes as we do not
believe that it is probable that an additional assent will be incurred.

On May 9, 2005, a lawsuit was filed in thetided Court of Collin County, Texas, by J. Greggtéhrard, as Trustee of the D.I.C. Creditors
Trust, naming the former directors of Daisytek intgional Corporation and the Company as defendaxtisytek filed for bankruptcy in
May 2003 and the Trust was created pursuant toyld's Plan of Liquidation. The complaint allegasjong other things, that the spin-off of
the Company from Daisytek in December 1999 wasiadiulent conveyance and that Daisytek was daméageelty in the amount of at least
$38 million. The Company believes the claim hasnasit and intends to vigorously defend the actithmough December 31, 2006, we have
incurred outstanding legal costs of approximat&l83$nillion, which have not been paid as we exgach costs to be covered by insurance.

On August 24, 2006, a lawsuit was filed in @eancery Court of Davidson County, Tennessee,ligntCogic Corp. alleging, among other
things, that we breached our obligations under afi@entiality and Nondisclosure Agreement. The ctaimt sought injunctive relief and
damages in an unspecified amount. In January Z2@®lawsuit was voluntarily dismissed without préped

On July 12, 2004, we received correspondermra MercExchange LLC alleging infringement of MexcBange’s U.S. patents relating to e-
commerce and offering to license its patent padftd eCOST. On July 15, 2004, we received a follgnletter from MercExchange specifyi
which of its technologies MercExchange believedigfed certain of its patents, alone or in combaratvith technologies provided by third
parties. Some of those patents are currently Heiggted by third parties, and we are not involiedhose proceedings. In addition, three of
four patents identified by MercExchange are undexamination at the U.S. Patent and Trademark &ffiich may or may not result in the
modification of those claims. In the July 15 lettélercExchange also advised eCOST that it has daupf applications pending for additio
patents. MercExchange has filed lawsuits allegnfigrigement of some or all of its patents agaihsttparties, resulting in settlements or
verdicts in favor of MercExchange. At least onelsuerdict was appealed to the United States Cdukppeals for the Federal Circuit and was
affirmed in part. Based on our investigation of
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this matter to date, we believe that our currer®8T operations do not infringe any valid claimdhef patents identified by MercExchange in
these letters. There can be no assurance, hovthaesuch claims will not be material or adversafgct our business, financial position,
results of operations or cash flows.

Inventory Management

We manage our inventories held for sale byntaiing sufficient quantities of product to achéehigh order fill rates while at the same time
maximizing inventory turnover rates. Inventory lradas will fluctuate as we add new product linesrdduce the risk of loss due to supplier
price reductions, our master distributor agreemestyell as certain vendor agreement in our eCQfinbss, provide for price protection
under which we receive credits if the supplier losvgrices on previously purchased inventory.

Seasonality

The seasonality of our service fee businedgjigndent upon the seasonality of our clidmtsiness and sales of their products. Accordit
our management must rely upon the projections othents in assessing quarterly variability. Wéidee that with our current client mix and
their current business volumes, our service feénkgs activity will be at its lowest in the quartarded March 31. We anticipate that our
Supplies Distributors product revenue will be higthduring the quarter ended December 31. Our eddSihess is moderately seasonal,
reflecting the general pattern of peak sales ferrétail industry during the holiday shopping seadwypically, a larger portion of our eCOST
revenues occur during the first and fourth fisasrgers. We believe that our historical revenuevtinanakes it difficult to predict the effect of
seasonality on our future revenues and resultperfations

We believe that results of operations for artgrly period may not be indicative of the resfdtsany other quarter or for the full year.

Inflation

Management believes that inflation has notédathterial effect on our operations.

Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In June 2006, the Financial Accounting Stadg&oard (FASB) issued Financial InterpretationA&;ounting for Uncertainty in Income
Taxes — an interpretation of FASB Statement No(ED® 48). FIN 48 defines the threshold for recogmizthe benefits of tax return positions
in the financial statements as “more-likely-thari*rto be sustained by the taxing authority. The rdgéssued literature also provides guida
on the derecognition, measurement and classificationcome tax uncertainties, along with any msfiainterest and penalties. FIN 48 also
includes guidance concerning accounting for inctemeuncertainties in interim periods and incredbedevel of disclosures associated with
any recorded income tax uncertainties. The int¢aicn is effective for fiscal years beginning afeecember 15, 2006. Any differences
between the amounts recognized in the statemeffitsapicial position prior to the adoption of FIN 48d the amounts reported after adoption
will be accounted for as a cumulatieéfect adjustment recorded to the beginning balaficetained earnings. We do not expect the adopatfi
FIN 48 to have a material impact to our consoliddieancial statements.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements have Ipgepared in conformity with accounting principtgnerally accepted in the U.S. These
accounting principles require us to make estimatesassumptions that affect the reported amourdass#ts and liabilities at the date of our
financial statements and the reported amountsvefnges and expenses during the reporting periode\Wie do not believe the reported
amounts would be materially different, applicatafrthese policies involves the exercise of judgneer the use of assumptions as to future
uncertainties and, as a result, actual resultsdoditfier from these estimates. If there is a siigaifit unfavorable change to current conditions, it
would likely result in a material adverse impacbto business, operating results and financial itimmd We evaluate our estimates and
assumptions on an ongoing basis. We
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base our estimates on experience and on varioes assumptions that we believe to be reasonableruhd circumstances. All of our
significant accounting policies are disclosed ia tiotes to our consolidated financial statements.

We have defined a critical accounting estingst®ne that is both important to the portrayawffinancial condition and results of
operations and requires us to make difficult, stibje or complex judgments or estimates about ettt are uncertain. During the past tt
fiscal years, we have not made any material chaimg@scounting methodology used to establish tiiealaccounting estimates discussed
below, unless otherwise noted. All of our signifitaccounting policies are disclosed in the natesut consolidated financial statements. The
following represent certain critical accountingipw@s that require us to exercise our businessmeig or make significant estimates. In
addition, there are other items within our consaiiedl financial statements that require estimatigrabe not deemed critical as defined above.

Product Revenue Recognition

We adhere to the revised guidelines and piesiof sales recognition described in Staff AcdmgnBulletin No. 104, Revenue Recogniti
issued as a revision to Staff Accounting Bulletio. 101, Revenue Recognition. While the wording ABSL04 has revised the original SAB
101, the revenue recognition principles of SAB t&hain largely unchanged by the issuance of SAB Wddler SAB 104, sales are recogn
when the title and risk of loss are passed to tstomner, there is persuasive evidence of an arnaagefor the sale, delivery has occurred
and/or services have been rendered, the salesipfizged or determinable and collectibility is semably assured. Under these guidelines, we
recognize a majority of our sales, including reveefrom product sales and gross outbound shippiddghandling charges, upon receipt of the
product by the customer. For all product salespgdpdirectly from suppliers to customers, we aeegtimary obligor in the transaction, and
take title to the products sold upon shipment, loeedit risk, and bear inventory risk for return@dducts that are not successfully returned to
suppliers; therefore, we recognize these revenug®sas sales amounts.

Sales are reported net of estimated returdsabowances, credit card fraud and chargebackef alhich are estimated based upon recent
historical information such as return and redemmptates, and fraud and chargeback experience. Mamagt also considers any other current
information and trends in making estimates. If attales returns, allowances, discounts and cradit fraud and chargebacks are greater than
estimated by management, additional expense mayheed.

Cost of Service Fee Revenue

Our service fee revenues primarily relatedodistribution services and order management/custaare services. Distribution services
relate primarily to inventory management, prodectiving, warehousing and fulfillment (i.e., picfirpacking and shipping). Order
management/customer care services relate printartBking customer orders for our client’s produggsvarious channels such as telephone
call-center, electronic or facsimile. These servialso entail addressing customer questions relaterters, as well as cross-selling/up-selling
activities.

Our cost of service fee revenue representsdbeto provide the services described above,griiyncompensation and related expenses and
other fixed and variable expenses directly reléeproviding the services. These include certaitupancy and information technology costs
and depreciation and amortization expenses. Cesfdhese costs are allocated from general andradirdtive expenses. For these allocations,
we estimate the amount of direct expenses basadcbantspecific number of transactions processed. We\rlerr allocation methodology
reasonable, however a change in assumptions wesldt in a different gross profit in our statemehbperations, yet no change to the resu
net income or loss.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The determination of the collectibility of aomds due from our customers requires us to usmatds and make judgments regarding future
events and trends, including monitoring our custemeayment history and current credit worthinesdetermine that collectibility is
reasonably assured, as well as consideration of the
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overall business climate in which our clients andtomers operate. Inherently, these uncertaintigsire us to make frequent judgments and
estimates regarding our clients and customersityld pay amounts due us to determine the appremount of valuation allowances
required for doubtful accounts. Provisions for ddwibtaccounts are recorded when it becomes evitthattthe client or customer will not make
the required payments at either contractual duesdatin the future.

With our online discount retail business, wemanaintain an allowance for uncollectible vendareivables, which arise from vendor rebate
programs, price protections and other promotions.détermine the sufficiency of the vendor receigatlowance based upon various factors,
including payment history. Amounts received fronma@lers may vary from amounts recorded because ehfiat non-compliance with certain
elements of vendor programs. If our estimated alowes for uncollectible accounts or vendor recédésmbubsequently prove insufficient,
additional allowance maybe required.

Allowances for doubtful accounts totaled $illion and $0.5 million at December 31, 2006 afd2, respectively. We believe that our
allowances for doubtful accounts are adequate tercanticipated losses under current conditionsdwer, uncertainties regarding changes in
the financial condition of our clients and customeither adverse or positive, could impact thew@mand timing of any additional provisions
for doubtful accounts that may be required.

Inventory Reserves

Inventories (merchandise, held for resalepfalhich are finished goods) are stated at theeloof weighted average cost or market. Sup
Distributors and its subsidiaries assume respditgibor slow-moving inventory under certain mastkstributor agreements, subject to certain
termination rights, but have the right to returndarct rendered obsolete by engineering changetefased. eCOST assumes responsibility for
slow-moving inventory but has limited rights toust product based on specific inventory agreemé&kesreview inventory for impairment on
a periodic basis, but at a minimum, annually. Recability of the inventory on hand is measured bmparison of the carrying value of the
inventory to the fair value of the inventory. Théjuires us to record provisions and maintain xesefor excess or obsolete inventory. To
determine these reserve amounts, we regularlyweinieentory quantities on hand and compare thesstonates of future product demand
market conditions. These estimates and forecasésently include uncertainties and require us t&arjadgments regarding potential
outcomes. At December 31, 2006 and 2005, our alewdor slow moving inventory totaled $3.0 milliand $1.5 million, respectively. We
believe that our reserves are adequate to covieigated losses under current conditions. Significa unanticipated changes to our estimates
and forecasts, either adverse or positive, coufghrththe amount and timing of any additional priovis for excess or obsolete inventory that
may be required.

Income Taxes

The liability method is used for determiningr income taxes, under which current and defemdiabilities and assets are recorded in
accordance with enacted tax laws and rates. Uhéientethod, the amounts of deferred tax liabilitiesl assets at the end of each period are
determined using the tax rate expected to be egcefffhen taxes are actually paid or recovered. &teln allowances are established to reduce
deferred tax assets when it is more likely thanthat some portion or all of the deferred tax asgeil not be realized. In determining the need
for valuation allowances, we have considered andenjiadgments and estimates regarding estimateteftaMable income. These estimates
judgments include some degree of uncertainty aad@bs in these estimates and assumptions couloleeguto adjust the valuatic
allowances for our deferred tax assets. The ulémadlization of the certain of our deferred taseds depends on the generation of sufficient
taxable income in the applicable taxing jurisdingoAlthough we believe our estimates and judgmargseasonable, actual results may differ,
which could be material.

As we operate in multiple countries, we argjact to the jurisdiction of multiple domestic afodleign tax authorities. Determination of
taxable income in any jurisdiction requires theiptetation of the related tax laws and regulatams the use of estimates and assumptions
regarding significant future events such as thelamydiming and character of deductions, permigsibenue recognition methods under the
tax law and the sources and character of incoméandredits. Changes in tax laws, regulationsifpr currency exchange restrictions or our
level of operations or profitability in each taxipgisdiction could have an impact on the amounhobme taxes that we provide during any
given year.
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Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets include property, intangiéssets, goodwill and certain other assets. We foaggnents and estimates in conjunction
with the carrying value of these assets, inclu@ingunts to be capitalized, depreciation and anaditiz methods and useful lives.
Additionally, we review long-lived assets for impaent periodically, but at a minimum annually, diemever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amoumtnodsset may not be recoverable. We record impatriogses in the period in which we
determine that the carrying amount is not recoverd®ecoverability of assets to be held and usedeiasured by a comparison of the carrying
amount of an asset to future net cash flows expdotée generated by the asset. This may requite mske judgments regarding long-term
forecasts of our future revenues and costs retatéie assets subject to review. During the fogttarter of 2006, we determined that the
carrying value of the goodwill resulting from owruisition of eCOST was impaired, which resultingai$3.5 million non-cash write-off of
goodwill.
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Item 7a. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure about MarkRisk

We are exposed to various market risks indgaditerest rates on our financial instruments faneign exchange rates.

Interest Rate Risk

Our interest rate risk is limited to our oatsfing balances on our inventory and working cafiitancing agreements, taxable revenue
bonds, loan and security agreements, and factagngement for the financing of inventory, accouatgivable and certain other receivables
and certain equipment, which amounted to $70.6anitht December 31, 2006. A 100 basis point movéinneinterest rates would result in
approximately $0.3 million annualized increase ecréase in interest expense based on the outsigoalance of these agreements at
December 31, 2006.

Foreign Exchange Risk

Currently, our foreign currency exchange rék is primarily limited to the Canadian Dollarcgathe Euro. In the future, our foreign curre
exchange risk may also include other currenciefiGgipe to certain of our international operationte have and may continue, from time to
time, to employ derivative financial instrumentstanage our exposure to fluctuations in foreigmeney rates. To hedge our net investment
and intercompany payable or receivable balancés@ign operations, we may enter into forward coacseexchange contracts.
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Report of Independent Registered Public AccourtEinm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of
PFSweb, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balgineets of PFSweb, Inc. and subsidiaries asadrblger 31, 2006 and 2005, and the
related consolidated statements of operationsebbéters’ equity and comprehensive income (losd)cash flows for each of the years in the
three-year period ended December 31, 2006. In abiomewith our audits of the consolidated finanatltements, we also have audited the
accompanying financial statement schedules as oéber 31, 2006 and 2005, and for each of the yedhe three-year period ended
December 31, 2006. These consolidated financitdrsents and financial statement schedules areiponsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express aniopion these consolidated financial statementdiaadcial statement schedules based on
our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighamiqUnited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to sbteasonable assurance about whether the finestatements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on alasis, evidence supporting the amounts and disis in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting principged and significant estimates made by managenewntelhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetaepferred to above present fairly, in all materégpects, the financial position of PFSweb,
Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2006 868,2and the results of their operations and #esh flows for each of the years in the three-
year period ended December 31, 2006, in conformiity U.S. generally accepted accounting principfdso, in our opinion, the relate

financial statement schedules as of December 31§ aAd 2005, and for each of the years in the theae period ended December 31, 2006,
when considered in relation to the basic finansiatements taken as a whole, present fairly, imaterial respects, the information set forth
therein.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated findrste&ements, during 2006, the Company adopte@@tit of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 123FShare-Based Payment

KPMG LLP

Dallas, Texas
April 2, 2007
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PFSWEB, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share data)

December 31 December 31
2006 2005
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivale $ 15,06¢ $ 13,68
Restricted cas 2,65 2,077
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doub#ttounts of $2,352 and $484 at December 31,
and 2005, respective 48,717 44 ,55¢
Inventories, net of reserves of $2,987 and $1,5%%eaember 31, 2006 and 2005, respecti 47,67( 43,65¢
Other receivable 10,774 9,86¢
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 3,531 3,213
Total current asse 128,41: 117,04¢
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, ne 12,88 13,04(
RESTRICTED CASH — 15C
IDENTIFIABLE INTANGIBLES, net 6,64 —
GOODWILL 15,36: —
OTHER ASSET< 84¢ 1,48
Total asset $ 164,15:. $ 131,72¢
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS ' EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Current portion of lon-term debt and capital lease obligati $ 23,80: $ 21,62¢
Trade accounts payak 61,97: 60,05
Accrued expense 21,93¢ 12,017
Total current liabilities 107,70¢ 93,69(
LONG-TERM DEBT AND CAPITAL LEASE OBLIGATIONS, less currg portion 6,07¢ 6,28¢
OTHER LIABILITIES 1,52¢ 1,813
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
SHAREHOLDERY EQUITY:
Preferred stock, $1.00 par value; 1,000,000 shargsorized; none issued and outstant — —
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 75,000,000 shartt®azed; 46,553,752 and 22,613,314 shares i
at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively; ambZ¢152 and 22,527,014 outstanding at
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respecti 47 23
Additional paic-in capital 91,30: 58,73¢
Accumulated defici (44,35 (29,829
Accumulated other comprehensive inca 1,93( 1,08¢
Treasury stock at cost, 86,300 she (85) (85)
Total shareholde’ equity 48,84( 29,93
Total liabilities and sharehold¢ equity $ 164,15. $ 131,72¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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PFSWEB, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31
(In thousands, except per share data)

REVENUES:
Product revenue, n
Service fee revent
Pas-through revenu
Total revenue:

COSTS OF REVENUES
Cost of product revent
Cost of service fee reven
Cost of pas-through revenu

Total costs of revenue

Gross profi

SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION EXPENSI

MERGER INTEGRATION EXPENSE!

AMORTIZATION OF IDENTIFIABLE INTANGIBLES
GOODWILL IMPAIRMENT

Total operating expens:

Income (loss) from operatiol

INTEREST EXPENSE
INTEREST INCOME

Income (loss) before income tax
INCOME TAX EXPENSE

NET INCOME (LOSS)

EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE
Basic

Diluted

WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER OF SHARES OUTSTANDINC

Basic
Diluted

2006

$333,31:
67,05¢
22,88¢
423,25!

311,417
49,27+
22,88¢

383,57.

39,67¢

44,29(
89¢
1,49¢
74¢
3,507
50,94(

(11,269

2,74¢

(63€)
(13,376
1,15¢
$(14,530

$ (0.39
$ (0.39

42,76
42,76:

2005

$252,90:
60,78
17,97:
331,65

235,58«
45,59]
17,97:

299,15

32,50/

30,50¢
16

30,52:
1,98

1,82¢

(99
254
1,001

$ (749

$  (0.09)
$ (0.0

22,39¢
22,39/

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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2004

$267,47(
42,07¢
12,11¢
321,66¢

251,96¢
28,06
12,11¢
292,15¢

29,511

27,07
14

27,09]
2,42C

1,59(

(130)
96C
734

$ 22¢

$ 0.01
$ 0.01

21,33
23,46¢
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Balance, December 3

2003

Net income

Stock-based
compensation
expense

Employee stock
purchase pla

Proceeds fron
exercised option

Other comprehensiv
income— foreign

currency translation

adjustmen

Comprehensivi
income

Balance, December 31,

2004
Net loss
Stock-based
compensation
expense
Employee stocl
purchase pla
Proceeds from
exercised option
Warrants exercise
Other comprehensive
loss— foreign

currency translation

adjustmen
Comprehensive los

Balance, December 3

2005

Net loss

Stocl-basec
compensation
expense

Employee stock
purchase pla

Proceeds fron
exercised option

Issuance of common
stock

Shares issued for
eCOST acquisitiol

Other comprehensiv
income— foreign
currency translatiol
adjustmen

Comprehensive los

Balance, December 31,

2006

PFSWEB, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
(In thousands, except share data)

Accumulated

Additional Other Total Comprehensive
Common Stock Paid-In Accumulated  Comprehensive Treasury Stock  Shareholder¢ Income
Shares Amount  Capital Deficit Income (Loss) Shares  Amount Equity (Loss)
21,247,94 $ 21 $56,15¢ $ (29,309 $ 1,62¢ 86,30 $ (85$ 28,41
— — — 22¢€ — — — 22¢  $ 22¢€
— — 14 — — — — 14
226,38: 1 31¢ — — — — 317
191,26: — 15¢ — — — — 15¢
— — — — 793 — — 793 793
$ 1,01¢
2166558 $ 22 $56,64t $ (29,07) $ 2,421 86,30( $ (85% 29,92¢
— — — (747) — — — (747 $ (747)
— — 16 — — — — 16
401,27( — 613 — — — — 613
151,77 — 181 — — — — 181
394,68! 1 1,281 — — — — 1,282
— — — — (1,337 — — (1,337 (1,337
$ (2,089
22,61331 $ 23 $58,73t $ (29,829 $ 1,08 86,30( $ (85 % 29,93«
— — — (14,530) — — — (14530 $ (14,530
— — 89¢ — — — — 89¢
54,43 — 52 — — — — 52
27,87¢ — 16 — — — — 16
5,000,00! 5 4,83¢ — — — — 4,844
18,858,13 19 26,76( — — — — 26,77¢
— — — — 84¢€ — — 84¢€ 84€
$ (13,689
46,553,75 $ 47 $91,30. $ (44,35) $ 1,93C 86,30( $ (85$  48,84(

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statemer
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PFSWEB, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31
(In thousands)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income (loss

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to @eshcprovided by operating activitie

Depreciation and amortizatic
Goodwill impairment
Loss on disposition of asse
Provision for doubtful accoun
Provision for excess and obsolete invent
Deferred income taxe
Stoclk-based compensation expel
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Restricted cas
Accounts receivable
Inventories, ne
Prepaid expenses, other receivables and othes:i
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and otheritied

Net cash provided by operating activit

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property and equipm
Payment for purchase of eCOST, net of cash acq
Decrease (increase) in restricted c

Net cash used in investing activiti

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net proceeds from issuance of common s
Decrease (increase) in restricted c
Payments on capital lease obligatis
Proceeds from debt, n

Net cash provided by financing activiti
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATES ON CASH AND CASH EQUIVALE
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, beginning of peric

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, end of perio

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Non-cash investing and financing activiti¢
Property and equipment acquired under capital &

Shares issued to acquire eCC

2006
$(14,530)

7,47¢
3,501
144
96C
1,49t

(148)
89¢

84t
1,67¢
2,85¢

(66)

(2,627)
2,48¢

(3,979)
(1,299)
892

(4,38

4,91z
(1,109
(1,502)
1,02¢
3,32¢

(45
1,38
13,68¢

$ 15,06«

$ 2,30¢
526,77

&
=
[N
N
rm

©®
|

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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2004
$ 22¢

4,647

28¢

1,204
(81)

14

(9,839)
(315)
(5,825)
15,14¢
5,46:

(7,69¢)

(1,0%)
(8,769

47t

(35¢)

(1,134
3,26¢
2,24¢
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PFSWEB, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Overview

PFSweb, Inc. and its subsidiaries, includingies Distributors, Inc, and eCOST.com, Inc.@kectively referred to as the “Company;”
“Supplies Distributors” refers to Supplies Distribts, Inc. and its subsidiaries; “eCOST” refere@OST.com, Inc. and its subsidiaries and
“PFSweb” refers to PFSweb, Inc. and its subsidéaetecluding Supplies Distributors and eCOST.

PFSweb Overviey

PFSweb is an international provider of intégglabusiness process outsourcing services to mhegod name companies seeking to maximize
their supply chain efficiencies and to extend theiditional and e-commerce initiatives in the \@diStates, Canada, and Europe. PFSweb
offers such services as professional consultirdnrtelogy collaboration, managed web hosting anehit application development, order
management, web-enabled customer contact centesteneer relationship management, financial senifegsiding billing and collection
services and working capital solutions, informatioanagement, facilities and operations managerkigting and assembly services, and
international fulfillment and distribution services

Supplies Distributors Overvie

Supplies Distributors, PFSweb and Internati@usiness Machines Corporation (“IBM”) have enteneto master distributor agreements
whereby Supplies Distributors acts as a masteniloligor of various products, primarily IBM produ&ursuant to transaction management
services agreements between PFSweb and Suppligbtisrs, PFSweb provides transaction managenmehfudfillment services to Supplies
Distributors.

Supplies Distributors has obtained certaiarfiting (see Notes 3 and 4) that allows it to fureworking capital requirements for the sale of
primarily IBM products. Pursuant to the transactimanagement services agreements, PFSweb provi@espmies Distributors such services
as managed web hosting and maintenance, procuremgndrt, web-enabled customer contact centercgarvcustomer relationship
management, financial services including billingl @ellection services, information management, iatefnational distribution services.
Additionally, IBM and Supplies Distributors havetsourced the product demand generation to a tlairty pSupplies Distributors sells its
products in the United States, Canada and Europe.

All of the agreements between PFSweb and $&sppiistributors were made in the context of ateglaarty relationship and were negoti
in the overall context of PFSweb’s and Suppliedritistors’ arrangement with IBM. Although managermgenerally believes that the terms of
these agreements are consistent with fair markaeesathere can be no assurance that the pricegechto or by each company under these
arrangements are not higher or lower than the pticat may be charged by, or to, unaffiliated tipiadties for similar services.

eCOST Overview

eCOST is a multi-category online discountitetaf new, “close-out” and recertified brand-namerchandise, selling products primarily to
customers in the United States. eCOST offers pitsdacseveral merchandise categories, includingpeaer hardware and software, home
electronics, digital imaging, watches and jewelhgusewares, DVD movies, video games and cellulegleds. eCOST carries products from
leading manufacturers such as Apple, Canon, Cit2emon, Hewlett-Packard, Nikon, Onkyo, Seiko andfiiba.

The Company’s liquidity has been negativelpatted as a result of the merger with eCOST. DW2D@H eCOST experienced a significant
net usage of cash primarily due to losses incusd result, during the process of transitionind ategrating eCOST'’s operations, the
Company has had to support eCOST’s cash needd$ptit behieve a stabilized operational positione®mount of further cash needed to
support eCOST operations will depend upon the fimanavailable as well as eCOST's ability to impedts financial results.

In the event eCOST is unable to increaseeitemue and/or gross profit from its present levielway fail to
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PFSWEB, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (conti nued)

comply with one or more of the financial covenamtguired under its working capital line of crediit.such event, absent a waiver, the working
capital lender would be entitled to acceleratealbunts outstanding thereunder and exercise alt oifphts and remedies, including sale of
collateral and demand for payment under the Compangnt guaranty. Any acceleration of the repayméttie credit facilities would have a
material adverse impact on the Company’s finaregaldition and results of operations and no asseraan be given that the Company would
have the financial ability to repay all of suchightions.

Management currently believes eCOST will nieetCompany’s expectations related to annual savang overall profitability.
Nevertheless, due to the absence of any-term commitments related solely to eCOST, if eCQ@B&s not meet these expectations, the
Company anticipates that it would be able to teat@ireCOST'’s short-term facility leases, liquidamaining inventory through the website
and reduce certain personnel related costs as di¢éedatisfy eCOST'’s obligations and minimize ampact on the Company’s financial
condition.

The Company expects improvement in eCOST fitptulity in 2007 and beyond as a result of plashedforts to increase sales and improve
product mix. In addition, the Company currently es{s that eCOST, as part of a combined companyldlachieve annual cost savings, as
compared to 2006 and pre-merger levels, as a rele#tsentially completing the integration of eCOB® the Company infrastructure. Thes
savings are expected to result from, among othiegshthe reduction of certain overhead expenses)ges in corporate infrastructure and
reduced freight costs, although there can be norasse that these cost savings will be achieved.

Acquisition of eCOS1

Effective February 1, 2006, a wholly-owned sidiary of PFSweb merged with and into eCOST, wifOST surviving the merger as a
wholly-owned subsidiary of PFSweb. Each of the 18,858id8#d and outstanding shares of common stock ©S8Cwvere converted into o
share of common stock of the Company. In conjunctiith the merger, the Company assumed 36,210 niarpxeviously issued to a former
eCOST warrantholder with an exercise price of $p80share, subject to the terms set forth theAsma result of the merger, effective
February 1, 2006, the Company began consolidafd@§6lof eCOST's financial position and results oéigtions into the Company’s
consolidated financial statements. The followingégresents selected pro forma information, fongarative purposes, assuming the
acquisition had occurred on January 1 for the plerfresented (unaudited) (in thousands):

Year Endec
2006 2005
Net revenue $436,18° $506,44¢
Net loss (16,120 (14,457
Basic and diluted loss per sh: (0.39) (0.35)

The unaudited pro forma information combirtes thistorical unaudited consolidated statementseCompany’s operations and eCOST'’s
operations for the years ended December 31, 200@@D5 giving effect to the merger and related &van if they had been consummated on
January 1 for the periods presented. Pro formastdgnts have been made to reflect the amortizatipense relating to the finite lives of
certain acquired intangibles, such as trademarkereamd customer relationships and the reversaleoiitome tax expense recognized by
eCOST in the year ended December 31, 2005.

The unaudited pro forma information does edlect significant operational and administratiestcsavings, which are referred to as
synergies, that management estimates may be adhisva result of the merger transaction, or otiereimental costs that may be incurred as a
direct result of the merger transaction. The unadddro forma net revenue and pro forma net lossiat necessarily indicative of the
consolidated results of operations for future psior the results of operations that would havebealized had the Company consolidated
eCOST during the periods noted.

The transaction was accounted for using thieh@se method of accounting for business combina@md, accordingly, the results of
operations of eCOST have been included in the Cagip&onsolidated financial statements since the dhacquisition. For purposes of
computing the purchase price, the value of the &8ln shares of the Company’s common stock idsuas $1.42 per common share, based
on the average closing price of the Company’s comstock on NASDAQ for the period beginning two day®r to the consummation of the
merger and ending on the consummation of the mefdper following table summarizes the estimatedvalue of the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed as of February 1, 2006 (in famas):
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Cash and restricted ca $ 1,05:¢
Accounts receivable, n 5,72%
Inventories 6,89:
Identifiable intangible: 7,38(
Property and equipme 47¢
Other asset 328
Total assets acquire 21,85!
Trade accounts payat 8,24¢
Accrued expense 3,56(
Other liabilities 834
Total liabilities assume 12,64:
Net assets acquire 9,20¢
Estimated purchase pri 28,07¢
Goodwill acquirec $18,86¢

Purchase price for eCOST is as follows (irudands):

Number of shares of common stock iss 18,85¢
Multiplied by the Compar’s stock price $ 1.4z
Share consideratic $26,77¢
Transaction cost 1,30(
Purchase pric $ 28,07¢

The above purchase price has been allocasstilmn estimates of the fair values of assets gemtjand liabilities assumed.

The excess of the purchase price over thev&dire of the net assets acquired and liabilitessimed was allocated to goodwill and is
included in the eCOST reportable segment. Totatigdbof $18.9 million, none of which is deductibler tax purposes, is not being amortized
but is subject to an impairment test each yeanguaifair-value-based approach pursuant to SFASLAR. The Company is amortizing the
identifiable intangible assets acquired on a sidlige basis over their estimated remaining uskfeks.

There are no residual values for any of thangible assets subject to amortization acquirethgduhe eCOST acquisition. Definite lived
intangible assets acquired in the eCOST acquistttmsist of (in thousands):

Estimatec
Fair Value & Accumulater Net Carrying Useful Life
Acquisition Amortizatior Value from Acquisitior
Trademark nam $ 4,63t $ (425) $ 4,21( 10 years
Customer relationshiy 2,74% (329 2,421 8 years

Total definite lived intangible asse $ 7,38( $ (749 $ 6,631

Amortization expense for intangible assetssigmated to be approximately $0.8 million annuédlyeach year in the period ending
December 31, 2011.

During the Company’s annual analysis of theyilag value of intangible assets, pursuant toeStent of Financial Accounting Standard
No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, @mmpany determined that the carrying value of gabb@wceeded the fair value, whic
resulted in a $3.5 million non-cash write-off ofagtwill during the fourth quarter of 2006.

The Company determined fair value using a doatlon of the discounted cash flow, market mudtiphd market capitalization valuation
methods.

2. Significant Accounting Policies
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PFSWEB, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (conti nued)

Principles of Consolidatior
All intercompany accounts and transactionsHaeen eliminated in consolidation.
Investment in Affiliates

Priority Fulfillment Services, Inc. (“PFS”)veholly-owned subsidiary of PFSweb, has loaned Sepistributors monies in the form of a
Subordinated Demand Note (the “Subordinated Notéfider the terms of certain of the Company’s daebilities, the outstanding balance of
the Subordinated Note cannot be increased to rhare®8.0 million or decreased to lower than $6.ianiwithout prior approval of the
Company'’s lenders (see Notes 3 and 4). As of Deee@ib, 2006 and 2005, the outstanding balanceeoBttbordinated Note, which is
eliminated upon the consolidation of Supplies Ohsitors’ financial position, was $6.5 million and.® million, respectively.

PFS has also loaned eCOST monies under cégtaims of the Company’s debt facilities, which riegsi outstanding balances of the eCOST
loan not to be less than $2.0 million without prquproval of eCOST'’s lender or increased above #$8l®n without the approval of PFS’
lender. The outstanding loan balance owed to PBS.&million as of December 31, 2006. PFSweb laslaaned eCOST $4.7 million as of
December 31, 2006.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financialestants in conformity with generally accepted actiogrprinciples requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect thetegpamounts of assets, liabilities, revenues apeérses and disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities. The recognition and allocationceftain operating expenses in these consolidateasidial statements also require management
estimates and assumptions. The Company'’s estiraateassumptions are continually evaluated basedaitable information and experience.
Because the use of estimates is inherent in tladial reporting process, actual results coulcedififorn estimates.

Revenue and Cost Recognitic

Depending on the terms of the customer armaege, Supplies Distributors recognizes productmeeeand product cost either upon the
shipment of product to customers or when the custaeceives the product. Supplies Distributors fisrits customers to return product for
credit against other purchases, which include nstfor defective products (that Supplies Distribstiven returns to the manufacturer) and
incorrect shipments. Supplies Distributors providesserve for estimated returns and allowance®#ears terms to its customers that it
believes are standard for its industry.

Freight costs billed to customers are refi@ete components of product revenues. Freight aostisred are recorded as a component of cost
of goods sold.

Under the master distributor agreements (s®e Bl), Supplies Distributors bills IBM for reimts@ments of certain expenses, including:
through customer marketing programs, including teband coop funds; certain freight costs; direstxincurred in passing on any price
decreases offered by IBM to Supplies Distributargiocustomers to cover price protection and cegpecial bids; the cost of products
provided to replace defective product returnedust@mers; and certain other expenses as definggli€si Distributors records a receivable
these reimbursable amounts as they are incurrédandbrresponding reduction in either inventorgast of product revenue. Supplies
Distributors also reflects pass through customeketang programs as a reduction of product reveangecost of product revenue.

eCOST recognizes product revenue, net of asidnreturns, promotional discounts, credit caaddrand chargebacks, when both title and
risk of loss to the products has transferred tactiomer, which eCOST has determined to occur veoeipt of products by the customer.
eCOST generally requires payment by credit card
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upon placing an order, and to a lesser extenttg@aedit to business customers on normal creditdeeCOST permits its customers to return
defective product for credit against other purckase

For product sales shipped directly from eCGS/Endors to end customers, eCOST records revenbiekated costs at the gross amounts
charged to the customer and paid to the vendodb@s@n evaluation of the criteria outlined in EINIB. 99-19 Reporting Revenue Gross as a
Principal Versus Net as an Age. eCOST'’s evaluation is performed based on a nufialogors, including whether eCOST is the primary
obligor in the transaction, has latitude in estbiig prices and selecting suppliers, takes ttkné products sold upon shipment, bears credit
risk, and bears inventory risk for returned produbtt are not successfully returned to third-padypliers. eCOST recognizes revenue on
extended warranties and other services for whichribt the primary obligor on a net basis.

The Company’s service fee revenues primaeilste to its (1) distribution services, (2) ordeamagement/customer care services and (3) the
reimbursement of out-of-pocket and third-party exqes. The Company typically charges its servicedeenue on a cost-plus basis, a percent
of shipped revenue basis or a per transaction bagis as a per item basis for fulfilment servioea per minute basis for web-enabled
customer contact center services. Additional feesdled for other services.

Distribution services relate primarily to imtery management, product receiving, warehousingfalfillment (i.e., picking, packing and
shipping) and facilities and operations managentgenvice fee revenue for these activities is reamghas earned, which is either (i) on a per
transaction basis or (ii) at the time of produdtifment, which occurs at the completion of thetiibution services.

Order management/customer care services i@iabarily to taking customer orders for the Comgartlients’ products via various
channels such as telephone call-center, electoyrfcsimile. These services also entail addressilsgomer questions related to orders, as well
as cross-selling/upelling activities. Service fee revenue for thit\aty is recognized as the services are renddfeds charged to the client
on a per transaction basis based on either (ig-aetermined fee per order or fee per telephonetesrnincurred, (ii) a per dedicated agent fee,
or (iii) are included in the product fulfillmentrséce fees that are recognized on product shipment.

The Company'’s billings for reimbursement of-oftpocket expenses, including travel and certhird-party vendor expenses such as
shipping and handling costs and telecommunicati@nges are included in patsough revenue. The related reimbursable costeeflexted a
cost of pass-through revenue.

The Company'’s cost of service fee revenueesgmting the cost to provide the services destibeve, is recognized as incurred. Cost of
service fee revenue also includes certain costxmded with technology collaboration and ongoiechinology support that include
maintenance, web hosting and other ongoing progiamactivities. These activities are primarily pgrhed to support the distribution and
order management/customer care services and argnieed as incurred.

The Company recognizes revenue and records &recounts receivables, pursuant to the methastsided above, when collectibility is
reasonably assured. Collectibility is evaluatethmmaggregate and on an individual customer bakisg into consideration payment due date,
historical payment trends, current financial paositiresults of independent credit evaluations adrent terms.

The Company primarily performs its servicegemone to three-year contracts that can gendsaltgrminated by either party. In
conjunction with these long-term contracts, the @any sometimes receives start-up fees to covenjilementation costs, including certain
technology infrastructure and development coste. Company defers the fees received, and the redatgd, and amortizes them over the life
of the contract. The amortization of deferred resers included as a component of service fee rexefoe amortization of deferred
implementation costs is included as a cost of serfge revenue. To the extent implementation dostson-technology infrastructure and
development exceed the fees received, the excetsame expensed as incurred. The following sunmesithe deferred implementation
revenues and costs, excluding technology and dewedat costs that are included in property and eqgeig (in thousands):
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December 31 December 31
2006 2005
Deferred implementation revenu
Current $ 2,04¢ $ 1,547
Non-current 832 862

$ 2,87¢ $ 2,40¢

Deferred implementation cos
Current $ 1,077 $ 95C
Non-current 271 57¢
$ 1,34¢ $ 1,52¢

Current and non-current deferred implementatiosts, excluding technology and development castsa component of prepaid expenses
and other assets, respectively. Current and namtudeferred implementation revenues, which magegue the timing of when the related
implementation costs are incurred and thus defemexla component of accrued expenses and otbéitigs, respectively.

Concentration of Business and Credit Risk

The Company’s service fee revenue is generatddr contractual service fee relationships withitiple client relationships. There was one
customer that exceeded 10% of consolidated reveurieg the years ended December 31, 2006, 2002004, A summary of the customer
and client concentrations is as follows:

December 31 December 31 December 31
2006 2005 2004

Product Revenue (as a percentage of Product Reje

Customer 1 11% 14% 9%

Customer ¢ 9% 12% 12%

Customer ¢ 8% 11% 11%
Service Fee Revenue (as a percentage of ServicRdwamue)

Client 1 23% 27% 42%

Client 2 12% 12% 15%

Client 3 19% 16% —
Consolidated Revenu

Customer/Client : 9% 10% 7%

Customer/Client : 7% 7% 18%

Accounts Receivable
1 Customer/Clien 13% 12% 18%

PFSweb has provided certain collateralizedantaes of its subsidiaries’ financings and craditngements. These subsidiaries’ ability to
obtain financing on similar terms would be sigréfitly impacted without these guarantees. Additignalnce Supplies Distributors has limil
personnel and physical resources, its ability todoet business could be materially impacted bytanyination of its contract with the party
performing product demand generation for the IBMdurcts sold by Supplies Distributors.

The Company has multiple arrangements with i@&# is dependent upon the continuation of su@ngements. These arrangements, w
are critical to the Company’s ongoing operationsiude Supplies Distributors’ master distributoresgnents, certain of Supplies Distributors’
working capital financing agreements, product sad8M business units, and a term master leaseeagent.

A substantial portion of Supplies Distributqueoduct revenue was generated by sales of prqulurchased under master distributor
agreements with the Printing System Division of IBNd is dependent on IBM’s business and the cantinmarket for IBM products. In
January 2007. IBM and Ricoh announced the planoeddtion of a joint
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venture company based on IBM’s Printing Systemsdinm. If finalized, upon closing of the agreemeRigoh will initially acquire 51% of the
joint venture, which will be called InfoPrint Solohs Company, and will progressively acquire theaiming 49% over the next three ye:
The newly formed joint venture company is expedtedventually become a fully owned subsidiary afdRi.

eCOST'’s arrangements with its vendors areitexibte by either party at will. Loss of any vendoosild have a material adverse effect on its
financial position, results of operations and ciahs.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents are defined as short-termhhiguid investments with original maturities thfree months or less.
Restricted Casl

Restricted cash includes the following itemstifousands):

December 31 December 31
2006 2005
Current:

Letters of credit securit $ 15C $ 52t
Customer remittance 2,457 1,13¢
Bond financing 46 41%
Total current 2,652 2,077

Long term:
Letters of credit securit — 15C
Total restricted cas $ 2,657 $ 2,227

The Company has cash restricted as collat@rédtters of credit that secure certain debt leede obligations (see Notes 4 and 9). The It
of credit currently expire during 2007.

In conjunction with certain of its financingr@ements, Supplies Distributors has granted teriders a security interest in certain customer
remittances received in specified bank accounts {sse 4). At December 31, 2006 and 2005, thesk deeounts held $2.2 million and $1.1
million, respectively, which was restricted and cauty be used to reduce the outstanding debt.

In conjunction with certain of its financingr@ements, eCOST has granted to its lender a §etugrest in certain customer remittances
received in specified bank accounts (see Note #pekember 31, 2006 these bank accounts held $ili@mmwhich was restricted and can
only be used to reduce the outstanding debt.

Other Receivables and Liabilities

Other receivables include $10.6 million andB®@illion as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, repay, primarily for amounts due from
IBM for costs incurred by the Company under the teragistributor agreements (see Note 6).

Inventories

Inventories (all of which are finished goodsg stated at the lower of weighted average costasket. The Company establishes inventory
reserves based upon estimates of potential dedtinedues due to inventories that are potentislibyv moving or obsolete, potential excess
levels of inventory or values assessed at potént@aler than cost.

Supplies Distributors assumes responsibititystow-moving inventory under certain master distior agreements, subject to certain
termination rights, but has the right to returndurct rendered obsolete by engineering changesfased (see Note 6). In the event PFSweb,
Supplies Distributors and IBM terminate the maslistributor agreements, the agreements providéhfoparties to mutually agree on a plan of
disposition of Supplies Distributors’ then existiimgentory.
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Supplies Distributors’ inventories include mleandise in-transit that has not been receivedh&yCompany but that has been shipped and
invoiced by Supplies Distributors’ vendors. Theresponding payable for inventories in-transit isluded in accounts payable in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

eCOST inventories include goods in-transitustomers.

The Company reviews inventory for impairmentsoperiodic basis, but at a minimum, annually.dvecability of the inventory on hand is
measured by comparison of the carrying value ofrtlaentory to the fair value of the inventory.

Property and Equipmen
The components of property and equipment &egember 31, 2006 and 2005 are as follows (inghods):

December 31 December 31
2006 2005 Depreciable Life
Furniture and fixture $ 19,66¢ $ 17,39¢ 2-10 years
Purchased and capitalized software c 12,27¢ 10,47: 1-7 years
Computer equipmet 10,05( 8,611 2-3 years
Leasehold improvemen 6,501 5,87¢ 1-9 years
Other, primarily constructic-in-progress 354 15C 3-7 years
48,84¢ 42,51
Less-accumulated depreciation and Amortizat (35,969 (29,479)
Property and equipment, r $ 12,88¢ $ 13,04(

Property and equipment are stated at cosaendepreciated using the straight-line method theeestimated useful lives of the respective
assets. Leasehold improvements are amortized bgehiorter of the useful life of the related asse¢he remaining lease term.

The Company property held under capital leases amount tocxpately $3.7 million and $3.3 million, net of asoulated amortization
approximately $10.0 million and $8.3 million, at@enber 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Long-Lived Assets

The company reviews long-lived assets for iimpant periodically, but at a minimum annually vanenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amoumincdsset may not be recoverable. Long-lived assetgle property, intangible assets,
goodwill and certain other assets. Recoverabilitgssets is measured by a comparison of the careyimount of an asset to future net cash
flows expected to be generated by the asset. If assets are considered to be impaired, the impairto be recognized is measured as the
amount by which the carrying amount of the asseteeds the fair value of the assets. Fair valuddvoa determined using appraisals,
discounted cash flow analysis or similar valuatechniques. We make judgments and estimates imgotipn with the carrying value of these
assets, including amounts to be capitalized, dégien and amortization methods and useful lives. Mtord impairment losses in the peric
which we determine that the carrying amount isreobverable. This may require us to make judgmegarding long-term forecasts of our
future revenues and costs related to the asseecstb review.

Foreign Currency Translation and Transactions

For the Company’s Canadian and European dpesathe local currency is the functional curren&ly assets and liabilities are translated at
exchange rates in effect at the end of the pednd,income and expense items are translated avédrage exchange rates for the period.

The Company includes currency gains and losseshort-term intercompany advances in the detextioin
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of net income. Currency gains and losses, incluthiagsaction gains and losses and those on shiortitéercompany advances, included in net
income or loss were a net gain of approximatel $fillion, net loss of $0.3 million and a net gai$0.3 million for the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively Cdrepany will continue to report gains or lossesm@rcompany foreign currency
transactions that are of a long-term investmenineads a separate component of shareholders’ equity

Stock-Based Compensation

On January 1, 2006, the Company adopted thedhe recognition provisions of Financial Accoimg Standards Board (“FASB”)
Statement No. 123(Rghare-Based Payment‘FAS 123R”). Prior to January 1, 2006, the Compaccounted for share-based employee
compensation plans using the recognition and measamt provisions of APB Opinion No. 2&¢counting for Stock Issued to Employees
(“APB 25”), and related Interpretations. In accaorda with APB 25 no compensation was required teebegnized for options granted that had
an exercise price equal to or greater than the ebadlue of the underlying common stock on the dagrant.

The following table shows the pro forma effentthe Company’s net income (loss) and incomes)lpsr share as if compensation cost had
been recognized for stock-based employee compengatins based on their fair value at the datb@frant. The pro forma effect of stock-
based employee compensation plans on the Compaetyincome (loss) for the years prior to the Conypsadoption of FAS 123R may not
representative of the pro forma effect for futueass due to the impact of vesting and potentialreuiwards.

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31 December 31
2005 2004
(In thousands, except per share amount
Net income (loss) as report $ (747) $ 22¢€
Add: Stocl-based no-employee compensation expense included in repogethcome (loss 16 14
Deduct: total stoc-based employee and r-employee compensation expense determined unde¢
value based methc (1,009 (841
Pro forma net loss, applicable to common stoclbfmic and diluted computatio $  (L,73) $ (60D
Income (loss) per common sh& as reporte
Basic and dilutes $ (0.09) $ 0.01
Loss per common sha- pro forma
Basic and dilutes $ 0.0¢ $ (0.09)

Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Standar

In June 2006, the Financial Accounting Stadgd&oard (FASB) issued Financial InterpretationA&;ounting for Uncertainty in Income
Taxes — an interpretation of FASB Statement No.(E09 48). FIN 48 defines the threshold for recogmizthe benefits of tax return positions
in the financial statements as “more-likely-thari*rto be sustained by the taxing authority. The rdgésgued literature also provides guida
on the derecognition, measurement and classificationcome tax uncertainties, along with any msieinterest and penalties. FIN 48 also
includes guidance concerning accounting for inctameuncertainties in interim periods and incredkedevel of disclosures associated with
any recorded income tax uncertainties. The intéaion is effective for fiscal years beginning afeecember 15, 2006. Any differences
between the amounts recognized in the statemeffitsamicial position prior to the adoption of FIN 48d the amounts reported after adoption
will be accounted for as a cumulative-effect adjpestt recorded to the beginning balance of retagz@dings. The Company does not expect
the adoption of FIN 48 to have a material impacitsronsolidated financial statements.

Income Taxes
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recaghfor the future tax consequences attributabltifferences
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between the financial statement carrying amounexisting assets and liabilities and their respediax bases. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are measured using enacted tax ratpe@rd to apply to taxable income in the yearshiiclvthose temporary differences are
expected to be recovered or settled. The effectedarred tax assets and liabilities of a changevirates is recognized in income in the period
that includes the enactment date. Valuation all@garare established when necessary to reduceeatbfax assets to the amount more likely
than not to be realized.

Self Insurance

The Company is self-insured for medical insgeabenefits up to certain stop-loss limits. Sun$ts are accrued based on known claims and
an estimate of incurred, but not reported (“IBNRI§ims. IBNR claims are estimated using historiaglinformation and other data provided
by claims administrators.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying value of the Company’s finanaistruments, which include cash and cash equivalagtcounts receivable, accounts payable
and debt and capital lease obligations, approxirtiegie fair values based on short terms to matunitgurrent market prices and interest rates.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) is defined asiamge in equity (net assets) of a business ergenpuring a period from transactions and
other events and circumstances from non-owner ssuf@omprehensive income (loss) consists of netiiec(loss) and foreign currency
translation adjustments.

Net Income (Loss) Per Common Sha

Basic and diluted net income (loss) per simo®mputed by dividing net income (loss) availableommon shareholders by the weighted-
average number of common shares outstanding foefhwting period. Stock options not included ia talculation of diluted net income (lo
per share for the years ended December 31, 2006, &@d 2004, were 5.9 million, 5.4 million, and fiflion, respectively, as the effect wot
be anti-dilutive. Warrants not included in the cddtion of diluted net income (loss) per sharetfaryears ended December 31, 2006, 2005 an(
2004, were 0.6 million, 0.4 million and 0.9 milliorespectively, as the effect would be anti-dilatiFor the calculation of diluted net income
per share for the year ended 2004, weighted avetzayes outstanding are increased by approximatelgnillion shares, reflecting the dilutive
effect of stock options.

Cash Paid During Year

The Company made payments for interest ofapprately $2.8 million, $2.4 million and $2.2 mdl and income taxes of approximately
$0.5 million, $0.7 million and $0.6 million durirtge years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2&&épkctively (see Notes 3, 4 and 8).
3. Vendor Financing

Outstanding obligations under vendor finana@ngngements consist of the following (in thousand

December 31 December 31
2006 2005
Inventory and working capital financing agreeme
United State: $ 28,03 $ 30,09:
Europe 12,71% 12,07
Total $ 40,75( $ 42,16:

Inventory and Working Capital Financing Agreementt/nited State
Supplies Distributors has a short-term crédiility with IBM Credit LLC to finance its distribtion of IBM

75




Table of Contents

PFSWEB, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (conti nued)

products in the United States, providing finandiogeligible IBM inventory and for certain othercegvables up to $30.5 million through its
expiration in March 2007. As of December 31, 20®@pplies Distributors had $2.3 million of availaltedit under this facility. The credit
facility contains cross default provisions, varigastrictions upon the ability of Supplies Distribrs to, among others, merge, consolidate, sell
assets, incur indebtedness, make loans and paytoaeiated parties (including entities directlyidirectly owned by PFSweb, Inc.), provide
guarantees, make investments and loans, pledges asske changes to capital stock ownership stre@nd pay dividends, as well as finan
covenants, such as annualized revenue to workipigatanet profit after tax to revenue, and totabllities to tangible net worth, as defined,
are secured by certain of the assets of SupplissiBitors, as well as a collateralized guaranti?leSweb. Additionally, PFSweb is required to
maintain a minimum Subordinated Note receivablated from Supplies Distributors of $6.5 million andhinimum shareholders’ equity of
$18.0 million. Borrowings under the credit faciléigcrue interest, after a defined free financingogke at prime rate plus 0.5% (8.75% as of
December 31, 2006). At December 31, 2005, theastavas accrued at prime rate plus 1% (8.25% Beoémber 31, 2005). The facility also
includes a monthly service fee.

On March 28, 2007, Supplies Distributors exdeénto an amended credit facility with IBM CretltC, which extends the termination date
through March 2008 and reduces the minimum SubateihNote balance to $6.0 million. The Companydtassified the outstanding amounts
under this facility as accounts payable in the otidated balance sheets.

Inventory and Working Capital Financing AgreemeniEurope

Supplies Distributors’ European subsidiariagéha short-term credit facility with IBM Belgiunirfancial Services S.A. (“IBM Belgium”) to
finance their distribution of IBM products in Eumprlhe asset based credit facility with IBM Belgipnovides up to 12.5 million Euros
(approximately $16.5 million) in financing for pdmasing IBM inventory and for certain other recelestthrough its expiration in March 2007.
As of December 31, 2006, Supplies Distributors’dp@an subsidiaries had 0.3 million euros ($0.4iom)l of available credit under this
facility. The credit facility contains cross defaptovisions, various restrictions upon the abitfySupplies Distributors and its European
subsidiaries to, among others, merge, consolidateassets, incur indebtedness, make loans amdgrdsy to related parties (including entities
directly or indirectly owned by PFSweb, Inc.), pite guarantees, make investments and loans, pksiggs, make changes to capital stock
ownership structure and pay dividends, as wellremntial covenants, such as annualized revenuetking capital, net profit after tax to
revenue, and total liabilities to tangible net vinpiis defined, and are secured by certain of thet@sf Supplies Distributors’ European
subsidiaries, as well as collateralized guaramfedupplies Distributors and PFSweb. Additional®¥;Sweb is required to maintain a minimum
Subordinated Note receivable balance from Supplisgibutors of $6.5 million and a minimum sharateis’ equity of $18.0 million.
Borrowings under the credit facility accrue interedter a defined free financing period, at Euriptus 1.5% and 2.0% as of December 31,
2006 and 2005, respectively (5.1% and 4.1% as oeBéer 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively). Supplisgibutors’ European subsidiaries pay
a monthly service fee on the commitment. The Compeas classified the outstanding amounts undeffakiity as accounts payable in the
consolidated balance sheets.

On March 28, 2007, Supplies Distributors’ Eperan subsidiaries entered into an amended cradlityfavith IBM Belgium, which extends
the termination date through March 2008, reducesritnimum Subordinated Note balance to $6.0 milliime Company has classified the
outstanding amounts under this facility as accopaigble in the consolidated balance sheets.

4. Debt and Capital Lease Obligations:

Outstanding obligations under debt and capetade obligations consist of the following (in eisands):

December 31 December 31
2006 2005
Loan and security agreements, United Stz
Supplies Distributor: $ 12,10: $ 11,67
PFSwelk 6,98t 6,64(
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December 31 December 31
2006 2005

Credit facility— eCOST — —
Factoring agreement, Euro 1,03¢ 57¢€
Taxable revenue boni 4,50( 5,00
Master lease agreemel 4,742 3,71:
Other 51C 313
Total 29,87¢ 27,91¢
Less current portion of loi-term debt 23,80: 21,62¢
Long-term debt, less current porti $ 6,07¢ $  6,28¢

Loan and Security Agreemel— Supplies Distributors

Supplies Distributors has a loan and secagtgement with Wachovia Bank, N.A. (“Wachovia”ytmvide financing for up to $25 million
of eligible accounts receivable in the United Stated Canada. As of December 31, 2006, Supplidsiitors had $0.2 million of available
credit under this agreement. The Wachovia facdlitpires on the earlier of March 29, 2007 or the et which the parties to the IBM master
distributor agreement (see Note 6) no longer oparatier the terms of such agreement and/or IBMvngdr supplies products pursuant to ¢
agreement. Borrowings under the Wachovia facildgrae interest at prime rate to prime rate plu§%.2r Eurodollar rate plus 2.25% to
2.75%, dependent on excess availability, as defifikd interest rate as of December 31, 2006 wds 706 $6.0 million of outstanding
borrowings and 8.2% for $6.1 million of outstandimgrrowings. This agreement contains cross defaaitisions, various restrictions upon the
ability of Supplies Distributors to, among otheintis, merge, consolidate, sell assets, incur iretki#ss, make loans and payments to related
parties (including entities directly or indirecthyvned by PFSweb, Inc.), provide guarantees, malestments and loans, pledge assets, make
changes to capital stock ownership structure agdpédends, as well as financial covenants, stchaimum net worth, as defined, and is
secured by all of the assets of Supplies Distritsjtas well as a collateralized guaranty of PFSwWelditionally, PFSweb is required to
maintain a Subordinated Note receivable balanae Bopplies Distributors of no less than $6.5 milland restricted cash of less than
$5.0 million, and is restricted with regard to saantions with related parties, indebtedness andgeato capital stock ownership structure.
Supplies Distributors has entered into blocked astagreements with its banks and Wachovia purgeamhich a security interest was
granted to Wachovia for all U.S. and Canadian ecustaemittances received in specified bank accoétt®ecember 31, 2006 and
December 31, 2005, these bank accounts held $2i@mend $1.0 million, respectively, which wastréted for payment to Wachovia.

On March 28, 2007, Supplies Distributors eglénto an amended loan and security agreementWéithovia, which extends the
termination date through March 2009, reduces thermim Subordinate Note balance to $5.5 million eetlices the Eurodollar loan interest
rate to LIBOR plus 1.75% from LIBOR plus 2.25%.

Loan and Security Agreemer— PFSweb

PFS has a Loan and Security Agreement (“Caragkgreement”) with Comerica Bank (“Comerical’he Comerica Agreement provides
up to $7.5 million of eligible accounts receivafiteancing (“Working Capital Advances”) through Ap#008, a Term Loan of $1.5 million due
in monthly installments through December 2007 a2 $nillion of equipment financing (“Equipment Adwses”) through June 15, 2008.
Outstanding Working Capital Advances, $5.2 millasof December 31, 2006, accrue interest at prateeplus 1% (9.25% as of December
2006). Outstanding Equipment Advances, ($0.4 nnilks of December 31, 2006) and the Term Loan ($1li®&n outstanding as of
December 31, 2006) accrue interest at prime raie hb% (9.75% as of December 31, 2006). As of Bbee 31, 2006, PFS had $1.9 million
of available credit under the Working Capital Adearportion of this facility and no funds availableder the Equipment Advance or Term
Loan portions of this facility. In January 2007e tBompany repaid the $5.2 million of Working Cajpitdvances outstanding as of
December 31, 2006. The Comerica Agreement contagss default provisions, various restrictions updi®’ ability to, among other things,
merge, consolidate, sell assets, incur indebtedngasise loans and payments to related parties @htuentities directly or indirectly owned by
PFSweb, Inc.), make investments and loans, plesggts make changes to capital stock ownershiptstay as well as financial covenants «
minimum tangible net worth of $20 million, as defth a minimum earnings before interest and taxXas,gepreciation, amortization and non-
cash compensation accruals, if any, as definedaanahimum
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liquidity ratio, as defined. The Comerica Agreemegstricts the amount of the subordinated noteivabé from Supplies Distributors to a
maximum of $8 million. Comerica has provided apgider PFS to advance $6.5 million in cash to fiimel cash flow requirements of eCOST.
As of December 31, 2006, PFS has advanced $5.mit eCOST. The Comerica Agreement is securealtnf the assets of PFS, as well as
a guarantee of PFSweb, Inc. The Comerica Agreeregoires PFS to maintain a minimum cash balan&d & million at Comerica.

On April 2, 2007, PFS entered into an ameratgéement with Comerica, which increases the maxiiiiorking Capital Advance balance
to $10.0 million, eliminates the minimum cash bakanequirement and provides the approval for PR&it@nce an additional $2.0 million to
eCOST, with certain restrictions, if needed.

Credit Facility — eCOST

eCOST has an asset-based line of credittiatlilat provides for borrowings of up to $7.5 naillifrom Wachovia Capital Finance
Corporation (Western), through May 2009, whichaBateralized by substantially all of eCOST’s ass@&orrowings under the facility are
limited to a percentage of eligible accounts reaklg and inventory. Outstanding amounts underabityy bear interest at rates ranging from
the prime rate to the prime rate plus 0.5% (8.75%fdDecember 31, 2006), depending on eC@Sihancial results. As of December 31, 2C
eCOST had $1.6 million of letters of credit outstizng and $0.9 million of available credit understfacility. In connection with the line of
credit, eCOST entered into a cash management amaang whereby eCOST’s operating amounts are swebtsed to repay outstanding
amounts under the line of credit. The credit facilestricts eCOST's ability to, among other thingerge, consolidate, sell assets, incur
indebtedness, make loans, investments and paynoestbsidiaries, affiliates and related partiesl(iding entities directly or indirectly owned
by PFSweb, Inc.), make investments and loans, pledgets, make changes to capital stock ownershigige, and requires a minimum
tangible net worth of $0, as defined. PFSweb hasamteed all current and future obligations of eC@8der this line of credit.

Factoring Agreement

Supplies Distributors’ European subsidiary &dactoring agreement with Fortis Commercial FoeaN.V. (“Fortis”) to provide factoring
for up to 7.5 million euros (approximately $9.9 lioih) of eligible accounts receivables through Ma2008. As of December 31, 2006,
Supplies Distributors’ European subsidiary had egionately 3.5 million euros ($4.6 million) of avallle credit under this agreement.
Borrowings accrue interest at Euribor plus 0.692%4 at December 31, 2006). This agreement contarisus restrictions upon the ability of
Supplies Distributors’ European subsidiary to, agnother things, merge, consolidate and incur inetiteéss, as well as financial covenants,
such as minimum net worth. This agreement is seldoyea guarantee of Supplies Distributors, up teeximum of 200,000 euros.

Taxable Revenue Bonds

PFSweb has a Loan Agreement with the Misgi$8psiness Finance Corporation (the “MBFC”) in nention with the issuance by the
MBFC of $5 million MBFC Taxable Variable Rate Denddnmited Obligation Revenue Bonds, Series 2004b(Ry Fulfillment Services, Inc.
Project) (the “Bonds”). The MBFC loaned the proceefithe Bonds to PFSweb for the purpose of finagthe acquisition and installation of
equipment, machinery and related assets locatdi@ompany’s Southaven, Mississippi distributiacilfty. The Bonds bear interest at a
variable rate (5.4% as of December 31, 2006), teyméned by Comerica Securities, as RemarketinghAde-Sweb, at its option, may convert
the Bonds to a fixed rate, to be determined byRémarketing Agent at the time of conversion.

The primary source of repayment of the Bosds lietter of credit (the “Letter of Credit”) inghnitial face amount of $5.1 million issued by
Comerica pursuant to a Reimbursement Agreementeegtw? FSweb and Comerica under which PFSweb isabétigo pay to Comerica all
amounts drawn under the Letter of Credit. The ketfeCredit has a maturity date of April 2008 atig¥htime, if not renewed or replaced, will
result in a draw on the undrawn face amount thetétfe Letter of Credit is renewed or replacdds Bonds require
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future principal repayments of $800,000 in eachasfuary 2008 through 2012. PFSweb has establistia#tiag fund account with Comerica,
which at December 31, 2006 includes $0.04 milliestricted for payments on the Bonds.

Debt Covenant:

To the extent the Company or any of its subsigs fail to comply with its covenants applicatidts debt or vendor financing obligations,
including the monthly financial covenant requirensesind required level of stockholders’ equity orwerth, and one or all of the lenders
accelerate the repayment of the credit facilityigdiions, the Company would be required to rephgrabunts outstanding thereunder. In
particular, in the event eCOST is unable to inaedétssrevenue and/or gross profit from its presevels, it may fail to comply with one or mc
of the financial covenants required under its wagkéapital line of credit. In such event, absewaaser, the working capital lender would be
entitled to accelerate all amounts outstandingetiveder and exercise all other rights and remetfielsiding sale of collateral and demand for
payment under the Company parent guaranty. Anyl@etmn of the repayment of the credit facilitigsuld have a material adverse impact on
the Company’s financial condition and results céigpions and no assurance can be given that thep&@onwould have the financial ability to
repay all of such obligations.

PFSweb has also provided a guarantee of tiigatibns of Supplies Distributors to IBM, excludithe trade payables that are financed by
IBM credit.

Master Lease Agreemen

The Company has a Term Lease Master AgreewigmtBM Credit Corporation (“Master Lease Agreenigithat provides for leasing or
financing transactions of equipment and other assétich generally have terms of 3 to 5 years. @litstanding leasing transactions
($1.0 million and $0.7 million as of December 30@0& and 2005, respectively) are secured by théetkquipment and a letter of credit (see
Note 2). The outstanding financing transactions4$0illion and $0.2 million as of December 31, 2@0®&I 2005, respectively) are secured |
letter of credit (see Note 2).

The Company has two master agreements wigim€img companies that provide for leasing or fimag¢ransactions of certain equipment.
The amounts outstanding under these agreementdaesember 31, 2006 and 2005 were $2.1 million$&d million, respectively, and are
secured by the related equipment.

The Company has other leasing and financimgeagents and will continue to enter into thosergyeanents as needed to finance the
purchasing or leasing of certain equipment or o#issets. Borrowings under these agreements areagigrsecured by the related equipment.

Debt and Capital Lease Maturitie

The Company’s aggregate maturities of debsagbent to December 31, 2006 are as follows (instods):

Fiscal year ended December

2007 $21,18°
2008 964
2009 904
2010 80C
2011 80C
Thereaftel 80C

Total $ 25,45¢

The following is a schedule of the Companyife minimum lease payments under the capitatetmether with the present value of the
net minimum lease payments as of December 31, @gd@Bousands):
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Fiscal year ended December

2007 $ 2,87¢
2008 1,07¢
2009 594
2010 24(C
Thereaftel 94

Total minimum lease paymer $ 4,88¢
Less amount representing interest at rates rarfginy 5.5% to 12.4% (469)
Present value of net minimum lease paym 4,42:
Less: Current portio 2,61F

Long-term capital lease obligatio $ 1,80¢

5. Stock and Stock Options
Preferred Stock Purchase Righ

On June 8, 2000, the Company’s Board of Dinesctieclared a dividend distribution of one prefdrstock purchase right (a “Right”) for
each share of the Company’s common stock outstgradirduly 6, 2000 and each share of common stsdledsthereafter. Each Right entitles
the registered shareholders to purchase from timep@oy one onéiousandth of a share of preferred stock at arceseeprice of $67, subject
adjustment. The Rights are not currently exercesatlt would become exercisable if certain eveatsioed relating to a person or group
acquiring or attempting to acquire 15 percent oravaf the Company outstanding shares of common stock. The Righggeern July 6, 201(
unless redeemed or exchanged by the Company earlier

Employee Stock Purchase Ple

In 2000, the Company’s shareholders approlvedPFSweb Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “Storthase Plan”) that is qualified
under Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Cod®86lto provide employees of the Company an oppitto acquire a proprietary interest
in the Company. The Stock Purchase Plan permits @d8. employee who has completed ninety daysrefceeto elect to participate in the
plan. Eligible employees may elect to contributéhveifter-tax dollars up to a maximum annual contiin of $25,000. The Stock Purchase
Plan originally provided for acquisition of the Cpamy’s common stock at a 15% discount to the lavféine beginning or end of a calendar
guarter’'s market value. In 2005, the Company’saalders approved amendments to the Stock Pur€Hasehat increased the number of
shares of common stock reserved for issuance uhde$tock Purchase Plan and effective JanuaryQf &duced the acquisition price
discount to 5% of the market value on the dateuofipase. The Company has reserved 4 million sludrigs common stock under the Stock
Purchase Plan. During the years ended Decemb@088, 2005 and 2004, the Company issued 54,431240hnd 226,381 shares under the
Stock Purchase Plan, respectively. As of DecembgP@06, there were 2,171,489 shares availabliftrer issuance under the Stock
Purchase Plan.

Private Placement Transactior

In November 2003, the Company entered intecufties Purchase Agreement with certain instindl investors in a private placement
transaction pursuant to which the Company issuédsald an aggregate of 1,581,944 shares of its amrstock, par value $.001 per share
“Common Stock”), at $2.16 per share, resultingnosg proceeds of $3.4 million. After deducting enges, the net proceeds were
approximately $3.2 million. In addition to the CormmStock, the investors received one-year wartanpsirchase an aggregate 525,692 shares
of Common Stock at an exercise price of $3.25 paresand fougear warrants to purchase an aggregate of 3958&s of Common Stock
an exercise price of $3.30 per share. In Januad$,2804,685 of the one-year warrants were exergsed to their expiration, generating net
proceeds to the Company of $1.3 million, and 131 @7the one-year warrants expired unexercised Fesult of the merger with eCOST and
the private placement transaction in June 2006fdineyear warrants have been adjusted such teat tre now 564,980 warrants outstanding
with an exercise price of $2.31 per share.

In June 2006, the Company entered into a Rgegreement and Registration Rights Agreemeit egittain institutional investors in a
private placement transaction pursuant to whichdbmpany issued and sold an aggregate of 5,008/88@s of its common stock, par value
$.001 per share, at $1.00 per share, resulting in
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gross proceeds of $5.0 million. After deductingemxges, the net proceeds were approximately $4l@miThe Company has advanced
$4.7 million of these proceeds to eCOST as of Déxezrl, 2006.

Stock Options and Stock Option Plau

On January 1, 2006, the Company adopted thedlie recognition provisions of Financial Accoing Standards Board (“FASB”)
Statement No. 123(Rghare-Based Payment‘FAS 123R”). Prior to January 1, 2006, the Compaccounted for share-based employee
compensation plans using the recognition and meawmt provisions of APB Opinion No. 28¢counting for Stock Issued to Employees
(“APB 257), and related Interpretations. In accarda with APB 25 no compensation was required teebegnized for options granted that had
an exercise price equal to or greater than the enadlue of the underlying common stock on the dagrant.

The Company adopted FAS 123R using the mabrespective transition method. Under that trémsimethod, compensation cost
recognized during the year ended December 31, R@édes: a) compensation cost for all share-basgehents granted prior to, but not yet
vested as of January 1, 2006, based on the gremfadavalue estimated in accordance with theioalgprovisions of FAS 123, and b)
compensation cost for all share-based paymentsegtanibsequent to January 1, 2006, based on thedgie fair value estimated in
accordance with the provisions of FAS 123R. ComaBos cost is recognized on a straight-line basis of estimated forfeitures, over the
requisite service period of each award. Resultpffiar periods have not been restated.

As a result of adoption FAS 123R, stock-basmtpensation charged against income was $0.9 miltiothe year ended December 31,
2006. As of December 31, 2006, there was $1.1anillif total unrecognized compensation costs rel@echvested stock options, which is
expected to be recognized over a weighted averagedoof approximately 0.9 years. Prior to the dawpof FAS 123R, the Company recort
stock-based compensation expense of $16,000 andGkLié the years ended December 31, 2005 and 288dectively, in connection with
stock options to purchase an aggregate of 21,08@slissued to non-employees.

As of December 31, 2006, the Company hadaheving share-based compensation plans:
PFSweb Plan Option

The Company has an Employee Stock and Ineef/ian and an Outside Director Stock Option an@iRet Plan under which an aggregate
of 8,500,000 shares of common stock were origirelithorized for issuance (the “Stock Options Plaagt an outstanding stock option
agreement under which 35,000 shares were originalligorized for issuance. The Stock Option Plansige for the granting of incentive
awards in the form of stock options to directosgaitive management, key employees, and outsidguttants of the Company. The rights to
purchase shares under the employee stock optieemgnts typically vest over a three-year perioé;trelfth each quarter. Stock options
must be exercised within 10 years from the daigraft. Stock options are generally issued suchttigaéxercise price is equal to the fair
market value of the Company’s common stock at #ite df grant.

As of December 31, 2006, there were 2,398st@ires available for future options under the S@pton Plans.

The following table summarizes stock optiotivty under the Stock Option Plans:

Weighted
Weighted Average
Average Remaining Aggregate
Exercise Contractual Intrinsic
Shares Price Per Share Price Life Value
Outstanding, December 31, 2C 4,947,95! $0.3¢—%$16.0C $ 1.3C 6.8
Grantec 869,50( $0.7:—$ 1.4¢€ $ 1.4C
Exercisec (24,75) $0.3¢—$ 0.84 $ 0.4z
Cancelec (325,25() $0.3¢—$ 2.57 $ 1.7t
Outstanding, December 31, 2C 5,467,44i $0.3¢—%$16.0C $ 1.3C
Exercisable, December 31, 20 4,588,49 $0.3¢—$16.0( $ 1.21 5.7 $919,30:
Exercisable and expected to vest, December 31, 5,349,37. $0.3¢—$16.0( $ 1.2¢ 5.1 $926,15¢
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The weighted average fair value per shargtibos granted during the years ended Decembe2®5, 2005 and 2004 was $1.13, $2.07
$1.40, respectively. The total intrinsic value pfions exercised under the Stock Option Plans Wa2million, $0.2 million and $0.3 million
during the years ended December 31, 2006, 2002@04, respectively.

PFSweb No-plan Options

Prior to the Company'’s initial public offeringertain of the Company’s employees were holdestazk options of the Company’s former
parent company, Daisytek International Corporafi@aisytek”), issued under Daisytek’s stock optgans.

In connection with the completion of the Comya spin-off from Daisytek on July 6, 2000 (thepiB-off”), all outstanding Daisytek stock
options were replaced with substitute stock optiasytek options held by PFSweb employees weakaced (at the option holder’s election
made prior to the Spioff) with either options to acquire shares of PFBwemmon stock or options to acquire shares of Datisytek comma
stock and PFSweb common stock (which may be exetceparately) (the “Unstapled Options”). Optioekllby Daisytek employees were
replaced (at the option holder’s election madergndhe Spineff) with either options to acquire shares of D&&ycommon stock or Unstapl
Options.

As a result of the stock option replacementpss described above, in conjunction with the -BffinrPFSweb stock options (the “Non-plan
Options”) were issued to PFSweb and Daisytek afficdirectors and employees. These options wenedsas one-time grants and were not
issued under the Stock Option Plans. The termgemdsions of the Non-plan Options are substantidle same as options issued under the
Stock Option Plans.

The following table summarizes stock optiotivdty under the Non-plan Options:

Weighted
Average Aggregate
Weighted Average Remaining Intrinsic
Shares Price Per Share Exercise Price Contractual Life Value
Outstanding, December 31, 2C 439,23  $0.91—%$10.5¢ $ 0.9t
Grantec — 3 — 3 —
Exercisec (5455 % 091 $ 0.91
Cancelec (7500 $ 091 $ 0.91
Outstanding, December 31, 2C 433,03(  $0.91—%$10.5¢ $ 0.9t 4.8 $81,85:
Exercisable, December 31, 20 433,03( $0.91—%$10.5¢ % 0.9t 4.¢ $81,85:
Fair Value

The fair value of each option grant is estedadn the date of grant using the Black-Schole®oiricing model with the following
assumptions used for grants of options under thekSDption Plans:

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, 2006 December 31, 2005 December 31, 2004
Expected dividend yiel — — —
Expected stock price volatilit 91%- 103% 104%- 105% 107%- 11&%
Risk-free interest rat 4.5%-5.2% 3.6%- 4.6% 3.9%- 4.8%
Expected life of options (year 0.5-6 5-6 5

The fair value of each share of common stock grhateler the Stock Purchase Plan is estimated odateeof grant using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model with the following assumptions
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Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, 200! December 31, 200.

Expected dividend yiel — —
Expected stock price volatilit 102%- 107% 107%- 115%
Risk-free interest rat 2.3%- 4.C% 0.9%- 2.2%

Expected life of options (month 3 3

The weighted average fair value per shareofraon stock granted under the Stock Purchase Péantegl during the years ended
December 31, 2005 and 2004 was $0.98 and $0. 7 ateeely.

The Black-Scholes option valuation model reggithe input of highly subjective assumptionsiuding the expected life of the stock-based
award and stock-price volatility. The assumptidstet above represent management’s best estinmatiethese estimates involve inherent
uncertainties and the application of managemergmeht. As a result, if other assumptions had besed,uhe Company’s recorded and pro
forma stock-based compensation expense could reere different. In addition, the Company is requiteeéstimate the expected forfeiture rate
and only recognize expense for those shares exptrtest. If the Company’s actual forfeiture rstenaterially different from its estimate, the
share-based compensation expense could be matelifidirent. The expected life of options has beemputed using the simplified method as
prescribed by Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107.

6. Master Distributor Agreements

Supplies Distributors, PFSweb and IBM havesed into master distributor agreements wherebyBgpDistributors acts as a master
distributor of various IBM products and PFSweb [pdeg¢ transaction management and fulfillment ses/iioeSupplies Distributors. The master
distributor agreements expire in June 2007 and M2608 and can be extended for additional one4gears upon mutual agreement by all
parties. Under the master distributor agreemeBid, $ells product to Supplies Distributors and reimges Supplies Distributors for certain
freight costs, direct costs incurred in passingioy price decreases offered by IBM to Suppliesribistors or its customers to cover price
protection and certain special bids, the cost ofipcts provided to replace defective product retdroy customers and other certain expenses
as defined. Supplies Distributors can return to Ipfdduct rendered obsolete by IBM engineering charafter customer demand ends. IBM
determines when a product is obsolete. IBM and Begppistributors also have verbal agreements undhéch IBM reimburses or collects
from Supplies Distributors amounts calculated irtaia inventory cost adjustments.

Supplies Distributors passes through to custermarketing programs specified by IBM and adnténgs along with a party performing
product demand generation for the IBM productshquograms according to IBM guidelines.

7. Supplies Distributors

Pursuant to an operating agreement, Suppiisitiutors is restricted from making any distriloais to PFSweb if, after giving affect there
Supplies Distributors’ net worth would be less ti$4m0 million. At December 31, 2006, Supplies Disitors’ net worth was $9.0 million.
Under the terms of its amended credit agreementyples Distributors is currently restricted fromyjing annual cash dividends without the
prior approval of its lenders (see Notes 3 anddpplies Distributors has paid dividends to PFSwefeh3.9 million, $1.0 million and
$0.8 million in the years ended December 31, 2@065 and 2004, respectively.

8. Income Taxes

A reconciliation of the difference between thgpected income tax expense at the U.S. fedexaitsty corporate tax rate of 34%, and the
Company'’s effective tax rate is as follows (in thands):
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Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31 December 31 December 31
2006 2005 2004
Income tax provision (benefit) computed at statytate $ (4,549 $ 86 $ 32€
Impact of foreign taxatio a7 (16) (9)
Foreign dividends receive 85C — —
Items not deductible for tax purpos 1,704 337 60
Change in valuation reser 3,28t 70€ 47¢
Other (120 (112) (127)
Provision for income taxe $ 1,154 $ 1,001 $ 734
The consolidated income (loss) before incoaxed, by domestic and foreign entities, is as ¥adl¢in thousands):
Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31 December 31 December 31
2006 2005 2004
Domestic $ (15,03Y $ (1,21 $ (549
Foreign 1,65¢ 1,46¢ 1,50¢
Total $ (13,379 $ 254 $ 96C
Current and deferred income tax expense (bdgseesummarized as follows (in thousands):
Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31 December 31 December 31
2006 2005 2004
Current
Domestic $ 10E $ 151 $ 74
State 41¢ 8C 49
Foreign 77€ 77€ 692
Total current 1,302 1,00¢ 81t
Deferred
Domestic — — —
State (59) — —
Foreign (89) (8) (82)
Total deferrec (148) (8) (81)
Total $ 1,15¢ $ 1,001 $ 734

The components of the deferred tax assetiltigbare as follows (in thousands):

Deferred tax asse
Allowance for doubtful accoun
Inventory reservi
Property and equipme
Net operating loss carryforwar
Other

Less— Valuation reservi
Total deferred tax ass
Deferred tax liability:
Intangible assel
Other

Total deferred tax liabilit
Deferred tax asset, n

Management believes that PFSweb has not edtallla sufficient history of earnings, on a statahe basis, to support the more likely than

December 31

December 31

2006 2005
$ 826 $ 164
1,147 641
1,80 1,14
19,70« 10,12¢
1,28z 67C
24,75t 12,74
21,95( 12,42;
2,80¢ 327
(2,25 —
(160) (108)
(2,419 (109)
$ 391 $ 214

not realization of certain deferred tax assetsuess of existing taxable temporary differencesalvation allowance has been provided for
these net deferred income tax assets as of Decetp2006 and 2005. At December 31, 2006, net tipgrioss carryforwards relate to
taxable losses of PFSweb’s Europe subsidiary tgapproximately $10.8 million, PFSweb’s Canadesaliary totaling approximately

$4.3 million and PFSweb’s U.S. subsidiaries totalin
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approximately $42.6 million that expire at varialates through 2021. The U.S. NOL carryforward ideki$4.6 million relating to tax benefits
of stock option exercises and, if utilized, will tecorded against additional paid-in-capital uptlization rather than as an adjustment to
income tax expense from continuing operations. Ut& NOL also includes approximately $21.0 millmhNOL acquired through the
acquisition of eCOST in February 2006. This acquik©L carryforward is subject to annual limits untRRS Section 382.

9. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company leases facilities, warehouseg®ffiransportation and other equipment under opgrigases expiring in various years thro
December 31, 2012. In most cases, management sxpattin the normal course of business, leaskbavienewed or replaced by other
leases. The Company also subleases, to a thirgl part of its distribution facilities in MemphisNTthrough April 2007. Minimum future
annual rental payments and sublease receipts noderancelable operating leases having original temexcess of one year are as follows
thousands):

Operating
Lease Sub-Lease

Payments Income
Fiscal year ended December
2007 $ 8,541 $ 191
2008 6,414 —
2009 4,97( —
2010 3,557 —
2011 2,42: —
Thereaftel 675 —
Total $ 26,58¢ $ 191

During the year ended December 31, 2005, tirag2iny relocated certain of its operations andredtsto sublease agreements on the
former facilities, which resulted in a charge of4séillion, which is included in selling, generalcaadministrative expense.

Minimum rental payments under operating leasegecognized on a straight-line basis overaha of the lease including any periods of
free rent. Total rental expense under operatingeleapproximated $8.7 million, $7.3 million and4iillion for the years ended December
2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Certain landlecuiired deposits are secured by letters of c(edé Note 2).

The Company receives municipal tax abateniargsrtain locations. During 2004 the Company reeeinotice from a municipal authority
that it did not satisfy certain criteria necesdarynaintain the abatements. In December 2006 tmep@ay received notice that the municipal
authority planned to make an adjustment to cettairabatements. The Company plans to dispute flastatent, but if the dispute is not
resolved favorably, the Company could be assesdgitianal taxes from January 1, 2004. The Compag/rtot accrued for the additional
taxes, which through December 31, 2006 could becegpately $1.5 million, as the Company does ndielve that it is probable that an
additional assessment will be incurred.

On May 9, 2005, a lawsuit was filed in thetbgt Court of Collin County, Texas, by J. Gregdtéhard, as Trustee of the D.I.C. Creditors
Trust, naming the former directors of Daisytek tntgional Corporation and the Company as defendBatisytek filed for bankruptcy in
May 2003 and the Trust was created pursuant toyki's Plan of Liquidation. The complaint allegasjong other things, that the spin-off of
the Company from Daisytek in December 1999 wasuadinlent conveyance and that Daisytek was damé&geelly in the amount of at least
$38 million. The Company believes the claim hasnagit and intends to vigorously defend the actihmough December 31, 2006, the
Company has incurred outstanding legal costs & 80llion that have not been paid as the Compamgets such costs to be covered by
insurance.

On August 24, 2006, a lawsuit was filed in @eancery Court of Davidson County, Tennessee,ligntCogic Corp. alleging, among other
things, that the Company breached its obligatiordeua
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Confidentiality and Nondisclosure Agreement. Thenptaint sought injunctive relief and damages iruaspecified amount. In January 2007
the lawsuit was voluntarily dismissed without pige.

On July 12, 2004, eCOST received corresporal&éom MercExchange LLC alleging infringement of idiExchange’s U.S. patents relating
to e-commerce and offering to license its patemtf@iio to eCOST. On July 15, 2004, eCOST receiaddllow-up letter from MercExchange
specifying which of its technologies MercExchangdidved infringed certain of its patents, alonénotombination with technologies provided
by third parties. Some of those patents are cuyréeing litigated by third parties, and eCOST @ mvolved in those proceedings. In additi
three of the four patents identified by MercExchaage under reexamination at the U.S. Patent aadefmark Office, which may or may not
result in the modification of those claims. In thdy 15 letter, MercExchange also advised eCOSTithas a number of applications pending
for additional patents. MercExchange has filed latgsalleging infringement of some or all of itstgats against third parties, resulting in
settlements or verdicts in favor of MercExchangeleast one such verdict was appealed to the UStatks Court of Appeals for the Federal
Circuit and was affirmed in part. Based on eCOSvestigation of this matter to date, eCOST belgetiat its current operations do not
infringe any valid claims of the patents identifiegl MercExchange in these letters. There can kesearance, however, that such claims will
not be material or adversely affect eCOST’s businfsancial position, results of operations orclsws.

10. Segment and Geographic Information

The Company is organized into three operaemgments: PFSweb is an international providertebimted business process outsourcing
solutions and operates as a service fee busineppli€s Distributors is a master distributor ofhparily IBM products; and eCOST is a multi-
category online discount retailer of new, “closé*@nd recertified brand-name merchandise.

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31 December 31 December 31
2006 2005 2004
Revenues (in thousand:
PFSwelk $ 98,94¢ $ 87,88¢ $ 62,62
Supplies Distributor 244.97¢ 252,90: 267,47(
eCOST 88,33: — —
Eliminations (9,009 (9,12¢) (8,426)

$ 423,25 $ 331,65 $ 321,66!

Income (loss) from operations (in thousan:

PFSwek $ (2,730 $ (5,299 $ (3,499
Supplies Distributor: 7,614 7,27¢ 5,90¢
eCOST (16,149 — —
Eliminations — — 7

$ (11269 $ 198  $ 24X

Depreciation and amortization (in thousant

PFSwek $ 6,42( $ 6,112 $ 4,63¢€
Supplies Distributor: 11 — 14
eCOST 1,04t — —
Eliminations — — (7

$ 7,47¢ $ 6,112 $ 4,64

Capital expenditures (in thousanc

PFSwelk $ 3,90 $ 3,91¢ $ 7,69¢
Supplies Distributor 49 _ _
eCOST 29 — _
Eliminations — _ _

$  3,97¢ $ 3,91¢ $  7,69¢
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December 31

December 31

2006 2005

Assets (in thousands
PFSwek $ 100,22¢ $ 60,33%
Supplies Distributor 85,24¢ 87,54
eCOST 33,147 —
Eliminations (54,477 (16,159
$ 164,15. $ 131,72¢

Geographic areas in which the Company opematésde the United States, Europe (primarily Beig), and Canada. The following is

geographic information by area. Revenues are ati&ibbased on the Company’s domicile.

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31 December 31 December 31
2006 2005 2004
Revenues (in thousand:
United State: $ 334,11¢ $ 249,46: $ 225,30(
Europe 88,65¢ 89,60: 99,97¢
Canade 6,937 8,09( 9,83¢
Inter-segment elimination (6,45¢) (15,49) (13,449
$ 423,250 $ 331,65 $ 321,66!
December 31 December 31
2006 2005
Long-lived assets (in thousand:
United State: $ 34,04 $ 12,32
Europe 1,64: 2,28(
Canade 57 76
$ 35,74 $ 14,67

11. Employee Savings Plan

The Company has a defined contribution emm@mavings plan under Section 401(k) of the InteRetenue Code. Substantially all full-

time and part-time U.S. employees are eligibleddipipate in the plan. The Company, at its disoretmay match employee contributions to
the plan and also make an additional matching dartton in the form of profit sharing in recogniti@f the Company’s performance. During
the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2@9&dmpany contributed approximately $0.1 milliamidg each period to match 20% of
employee contributions.

12. Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)

Unaudited quarterly results of operationsyfears ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 were as/fo{amounts in thousands except per

share data):

Year Ended December 31, 2006

1stQtr. 2nd Qtr. 31 Qtr. 41 Qtr.
Total revenue $110,66¢ $109,30:¢ $94,28: $108,99°
Total cost of revenue 100,24° 99,29’ 84,87 99,16:
Gross profil 10,42 10,00 9,41: 9,83t
Operating expenst 11,36! 12,53! 11,94« 15,10¢
Loss from operation (940 (2,524 (2,53)) (5,269
Net loss (1,587) (3,189 (3,309 (6,450
Basic and diluted net loss per sh (0.0%) (0.07) (0.07) (0.19

Year Ended December 31, 2005

1stQtr. 2nd Qtr. 31 Qtr. 41 Qtr.
Total revenue $81,86¢ $84,87( $81,49: $83,43(
Total cost of revenue 74,55¢ 76,84¢ 72,70¢ 75,04:
Gross profi 7,31( 8,021 8,78¢ 8,38¢
Operating expenst 6,96¢ 7,952 8,441 7,16z
Income from operation 344 69 343 1,227
Net income (loss (214 (54€) (453) 46€
Basic and diluted net income (loss) per st (0.03) (0.02) (0.02) 0.0z
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The seasonality of the Company’s businesgjigddent upon the seasonality of its clients’ laggrand their sale of products. Management
believes that with the Company’s current client mird their clients’ business volumes, the Compasgisice fee revenue business activity is
expected to be at its lowest in the quarter endattM31. Supplies Distributors’ product revenueimess activity is expected to be at its
highest in the quarter ended December 31. eCO3Bméss is moderately seasonal, reflecting thergepattern of peak sales for the retail
industry during the holiday shopping season. Tylpica larger portion of eCOST’s revenues occulimythe first and fourth quarters.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountason Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Remediation of Material Weakness in Internal Coln

As reported in the Company’s 2006 June QuigrReport, management identified the following nmeteweakness related to fraudulent
credit card activity in the Company’s internal aohbver financial reporting as of June 30, 2006jcl continued to exist as of July 1, 2006. A
material weakness is a control deficiency, or coratibn of control deficiencies, that results in mmtran a remote likelihood that a material
misstatement of the annual or interim financiatesteents will not be prevented or detected.

The Company acquired eCOST.com, Inc. (eCO&Wholly owned subsidiary, on February 1, 200&hmJune 2006 quarter, problems \
eCOST'’s credit card systems controls resulteddreimsed fraudulent credit card activity. Furthepems with eCOST's credit card systems
controls arose during the course of a systems esiovein late June 2006 resulting in even highaudiulent credit card activity. These system
control issues were identified and the issues hedrtaterial control weakness were resolved in 2006.

As of June 30, 2006, the Company'’s policies procedures did not provide for an effective revad fraudulent credit card activity. During
the quarter ending September 30, 2006, the Comipatijuted controls to remediate the control deficy. These controls include procedures
to ensure that additional substantiating documiemtatnd support related to the validity of creditctactivity is obtained prior to order release.
The Company believes this remediation initiativeugficient to eliminate the material weaknesieinal controls over financial reporting
discussed above.

The term “disclosure controls and proceduigsiefined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) ofSbeurities Exchange Act of 1934, or the
Exchange Act. This term refers to the controls pratedures of a company that are designed to peoei@sonable assurance that information
required to be disclosed by a company in the regbet it files or submits under the Exchange Acgticorded, processed, summarized and
reported within the time periods specified by tleeBities and Exchange Commission. The Companyisagement, including the Company’s
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officdias evaluated the effectiveness of the Compatig&dosure controls and procedures as of
the end of the period covered by this annual ref@ated upon that evaluation, the Company’s Chxetchtive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer have concluded that the Company’s disclesumtrols and procedures were effective in allemaltrespects as of the end of the period
covered by this annual report.

There were no changes to the Company’s inteorarol over financial reporting during the Compés last fiscal quarter that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaff, the Company’s internal control over financegorting.

PART llI
Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

Reference is made to the information to bdét in the section entitled “Board of Directoraiid “Committees of the Board” in the
definitive proxy statement in connection with ounrual Meeting of Stockholders (the “Proxy Staterfjenthich section is incorporated her
by reference. Our Proxy Statement will be filedhthe Securities and Exchange Commission not fhger 120 days after the last day of our
fiscal year ended December 31, 2006.

Item 11. Executive Compensation
Information required by Part 111, Item 11, idle included in the section entitled “Executiven@ensation” of our Proxy Statement relating
to our annual meeting of stockholders and is inoaed herein by reference.
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Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners ahnagement and Related Stockholder Matters

Information required by Part Ill, ltem 12, idle included in the Sections entitled “ElectionDifectors” and Security Ownership of Certa

Beneficial Owners and Management” of our Proxy &tent relating to our annual meeting of stockhaderd is incorporated herein by
reference.

The following table summarizes informationhwespect to equity compensation plans under widglity securities of the registrant are
authorized for issuance as of December 31, 2006:

Number of securities Weighted-average Number of

to be issued upor exercise price of securities
exercise of outstanding remaining
outstanding options options and available for
Plan category (1) and warrants warrants future issuance
Equity compensation plans approved by securitydrs| 5,467,44; $ 1.3C 2,398,19
Equity compensation plans not approved by sechotglers 433,03( $ 0.9t —
Total 5,900,47! 2,398,19

(1) See Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statenfentaore detailed information regarding the regis’s equity compensation plar

Item 13. Certain Relationship and Related Transactions

Information regarding certain of our relatibips and related transactions will be includechim $ection entitled “Certain Relationship and
Related Transactions” of our Proxy Statement medptd our annual meeting of stockholders and isriparated herein by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accountant and Fees and Services

Information required by Part I, Item 14, idle included in the section entitled “RatificatiohAppointment of Independent Auditors” of
our Proxy Statement relating to our annual meeatingtockholders and is incorporated herein by esfee.

PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
(@) The following documents are filed as part of thepart:
1. Financial Statementi
PFSweb, Inc. and Subsidiari

Report of Independent Registered Public Aatiog Firm

Consolidated Balance Sheets

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ EquityGoaprehensive Income (Loss)
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme

Financial Statement Schedu
Schedule | — Condensed Financial InformatibRegistrant
Schedule I~ Valuation and Qualifying Accoun
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All other schedules are omitted because the redjiifermation is not present in amounts sufficientequire submission of t
schedule or because the information required isidteal in the financial statements or notes the

2. Exhibits
Exhibit
Number Description of Exhibits
2.1(19) Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of Nover2®e2005, by and among PFSweb, Inc., Red Dog AttguisCorp anc
eCOST.com, Inc
3.1(2) Amended and Restated Certificate of IncorporatioRFESweb, Inc
3.1.1 (20) Certificate of Amendment to Amended and Restatetifi@ate of Incorporation of PFSweb, Ir
3.2 (1) Amended and Restated Byla
4.1 (22) Purchase Agreement dated as of June 1, 2006 befe®meb, Inc. and the Purchasers named the
4.2 (22) Registration Rights Agreement dated as of Jun®6 Detween PFSweb, Inc. and the Investors naneedith
10.1 (17) PFSweb, Inc. 2005 Employee Stock and Incentive.l
10.1.1 (25; PFSweb, Inc. 2007 Management Bonus F
10.2 (17) PFSweb, Inc. 2005 Employee Stock Purchase |
10.3 (18) Amendment 3 to Loan and Security Agreem
10.4 (18) Amendment 6 to Agreement for Inventory Financi
10.5 (18) Amendment 1 to First Amended and Restated LoarSaedrity Agreemen
10.6 (16) Amendment 5 to Amended and Restated Platinum Piaaefent
10.7 (16) Agreement for IBM Global Financing Platinum Plawdite Discounting Schedul
10.8 (16) Amendment No. 5 to Agreement for Inventory Finagc
10.9 (2) Industrial Lease Agreement between Shelby Drivgp@a@tion and Priority Fulfillment Services, Ir
10.10 (1) Lease Contract between Transports Weerts and fyriaulfillment Services Europe B.)
10.11 (2) Form of Change of Control Agreement between the @omg and each of its executive offic
10.12 (4) Ninth Amendment to Lease Agreement by and betweBBRI ATRIUM. L.P., and Priority Fulfillment Servieg Inc.
10.13 (5) Agreement for Inventory Financing by and among Bess Supplies Distributors Holdings, LLC, Suppléstributors, Inc.
Priority Fulfillment Services, Inc., PFSweb, Inlyentory Financing Partners, LLC and IBM Creditr@aration
10.14 (5) Amended and Restated Collateralized Guaranty bybahsleen Priority Fulfillment Services, Inc. andMECredit
Corporation
10.15 (5) Amended and Restated Guaranty to IBM Credit Cotmmdy PFSweb, Inc
10.16 (5) Amended and Restated Notes Payable SubordinatiogeAwent by and between Priority Fulfillment Sersidac., Supplie:
Distributors, Inc. and IBM Credit Corporatic
10.17 (5) Amended and Restated Platinum Plan Agreement (mitbice Discounting) by and among Supplies Distidos, S.A.,
Business Supplies Distributors Europe B.V., PFS®ah, and IBM Belgium Financial Services S.
10.18 (5) Amended and Restated Collateralized Guaranty betWweierity Fulfilment Services, Inc. and IBM Belgn Financia
Services S.A
10.19 (5) Amended and Restated Guaranty to IBM Belgium Fir@rgervices S.A. by PFSweb, Ir

10.20 (5)

Subordinated Demand Note by and between Suppl&silitors, Inc. and Priority Fulfillment Servicéac.
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Exhibit
Number Description of Exhibits

10.21 (5) Notes Payable Subordination Agreement between @ggedfinancial Corporation (Southwest) and Pridtitfillment
Services, Inc

10.22 (5) Guarantee in favor of Congress Financial Corponaf@outhwest) by Business Supplies Distributorsdithgls, LLC, Priority
Fulfillment Services, Inc. and PFSweb, |

10.23 (5) General Security Agreement by Priority Fulfillmegrvices, Inc. in favor of Congress Financial Coagion (Southwest’

10.24 (5) Inducement Letter by Priority Fulfillment Servicdés¢. and PFSweb, Inc. in favor of Congress FiranCorporatior
(Southwest)

10.25 (6) Form of Executive Severance Agreement between timepgany and each of its executive office

10.26 (7) Amendment to Agreement for Inventory Financing hg among Business Supplies Distributors Holdind<; L Supplies
Distributors, Inc., Priority Fulfillment Serviceb)c., PFSweb, Inc., Inventory Financing PartnetsCland IBM Credit
Corporation

10.27 (7) Amendment to Amended and Restated Platinum Plaeekgent (with Invoice Discounting) by and among Jieg|
Distributors, S.A., Business Supplies DistributBrtgope B.V., PFSweb B.V., and IBM Belgium Finan@arvices S.A

10.28 (7) Amended and Restated Notes Payable SubordinatiogeAwent by and between Priority Fulfillment Sersidac., Supplie:
Distributors, Inc. and IBM Credit Corporatit

10.29 (7) Amendment to Factoring agreement dated March 282 P@tween Supplies Distributors S.A. and Forti;m@ercial
Finance N.V.

10.30 (8) Loan and Security Agreement by and between Com8ack — California (“Bank”) and Priority FulfillmerServices, Inc.
(“Priority”) and Priority Fulfilment Services of Canada, Ir*Priority Canad”)

10.31 (8) Unconditional Guaranty of PFSweb, Inc. to ComeBeak- California

10.32 (8) Security Agreement of PFSweb, Inc. to Comerica E- California

10.33 (8) Intellectual Property Security Agreement betweanrRy Fulfillment Services, Inc. and Comerica Be- California

10.34 (8) Amendment 2 to Amended and Restated Platinum Pgaaeinent (with Invoice Discounting) by and amongSies
Distributors, S.A., Business Supplies DistributBr¥., PFSweb B.V., and IBM Belgium Financial SeescS.A.

10.35 (8) Amendment to Agreement for Inventory Financing hg among Business Supplies Distributors Holdind<; L Supplies
Distributors, Inc., Priority Fulfillment Serviceb)c., PFSweb, Inc., and IBM Credit LL

10.36 (9) Amendment to factoring agreement dated April 3@3Between Supplies Distributors S.A. and Fortimm@ercial Financi
N.V.

10.37 (9) Loan and Security Agreement by and between Condgiessicial Corporation (Southwest), as Lender amgpfies
Distributors, Inc., as Borrower dated March 29, 2(

10.38 (9) General Security Agreeme- Business Supplies Distributors Holdings, LLC indawf Congress Financial Corporati
(Southwest

10.39 (9) Stock Pledge Agreement between Supplies Distrisutac. and Congress Financial Corporation (Sousty

10.40 (9) First Amendment to General Security Agreement bgrRy Fulfillment Services, Inc. in favor of Conggs Financie
Corporation (Southwes

10.41 (10) First Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement nesdef September 11, 2003 by and between Priouiffilment
Services, Inc., Priority Fulfillment Services ofi@ala, Inc. and Comerica Bat

10.42 (11) Securities Purchase Agreement dated as of Novemita803 between PFSweb, Inc. and the Purchasermschtmarein
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Exhibit
Number Description of Exhibits

10.43 (11) Form of Four Year Warrant dated as of Novembel0D32ssued to each of the Purchasers pursuang t8aburitie:
Purchase Agreemer

10.44 (12) Industrial Lease Agreement between New York Lifeurance Company and Daisytek, |

10.45 (12) First Amendment to Industrial Lease Agreement betwdew York Life Insurance Company, Daisytek, laed Priority
Fulfillment Services, Inc

10.46 (12) Second Amendment to Industrial Lease AgreementdmtviProLogis North Carolina Limited Partnership Bnidrity
Fulfillment Services, Inc

10.47 (12) Modification, Ratification and Extension of LeasstWween Shelby Drive Corporation and Priority Futiint Services, Inc

10.48 (13) Amendment to Agreement for Inventory Financing hg among Business Supplies Distributors Holdind<; L Supplies
Distributors, Inc., Priority Fulfillment Serviceb)c., PFSweb, Inc., and IBM Credit LL

10.49 (13) Amendment 4 to Amended and Restated Platinum Pgaaeinent (with Invoice Discounting) by and amongSies
Distributors, S.A., Business Supplies DistributBr¥., PFSweb B.V., and IBM Belgium Financial SeescS.A.

10.50 (13) Third Amended and Restated Notes Payable Suboimmagreement by and between Priority Fulfillmertr3ces, Inc.
Supplies Distributors, Inc. and IBM Credit Corpavat

10.51 (13) First Amendment to Loan and Security Agreementiy lzetween Congress Financial Corporation (Southwes Lende
and Supplies Distributors, Inc., as Borrow

10.52 (13) Form of Modification to Executive Severance Agream

10.53 (14) Industrial Lease Agreement by and between Indu$deaelopments International, Inc. and Priority fituhent Services, Inc

10.54 (14) Guaranty by PFSweb, Inc. in favor of Industrial Bl®pments International, In

10.55 (14) Lease between Fleet National Bank and Priorityilfaknt Services, Inc

10.56 (14) Guaranty by PFSweb, Inc. in favor of Fleet NatiodBahk

10.57 (14) Amendment No. 3 to Lease dated as of March 3, b@®®een Fleet National Bank and Priority Fulfillm&ervices, Inc

10.58 (15) Loan Agreement between Mississippi Business Fin&uarporation and Priority Fulfillment Services, Inated as of
November 1, 200

10.59 (15) Placement Agreement between Priority Fulfilmentv&es, Inc., Comerica Securities and MississipgsiBess Finance
Corporation

10.60 (15) Reimbursement Agreement between Priority Fulfillingarvices, Inc. and Comerica Be

10.61 (15) First Amended and Restated Loan and Security Ageeely and between Comerica Bank and Priority Fuléint Services,
Inc.

10.62 (15) Remarketing Agreement between Priority Fulfillm&etrvices, Inc. and Comerica Securi

10.63 (20) Amendment to factoring agreement dated Decembe20d) between Supplies Distributors S.A. and F@tsmercia
Finance N.V.

10.64 (21) Fourth Amended and Restated Notes Payable Subtiotinrdgreement by and between Priority Fulfillm&wsrvices, Inc.
Supplies Distributors, Inc. and IBM Credit Corpaoat

10.65 (21) Amendment 7 to Agreement for Inventory Financi

10.66 (21) Amendment 6 to Amended and Restated Platinum Piaaefnent

10.67 (21) Agreement for IBM Global Financing Platinum Plawdite Discounting Schedul
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Exhibit
Number Description of Exhibits

10.68 (21) Second Amendment to Loan and Security Agreemeiinblybetween eCOST.com, Inc. and Wachovia Capitelricie
Corporation (Western

10.69 (21) Amendment 4 to Loan and Security Agreem

10.70 (21) Guaranty by PFSweb, Inc., in favor of Wachovia @apgtinance Corporation (Wester

10.71 (21) Second Amendment to First Amended and Restated &odrsecurity Agreement by and between Comerick Bad
Priority Fulfillment Services, Inc

10.72 (23) Tenth Amendment to Lease Agreement by and betwkssoRAtrium, LLC and Priority Fulfillment Servicebc.

10.73 (24) Third Amendment to the Loan and Security Agreenfigriind between eCOST.com, Inc. and Wachovia Cdgitalnce
Corporation (Western

10.74 (25) Fifth Amended and Restated Notes Payable SubomimAgreement by and between Priority Fulfillmertr8ces, Inc.,
Supplies Distributors, Inc. and IBM Credit Corpaoat

10.75 (25) Amendment 8 to Agreement for Inventory Financi

10.76 (25) Fourth Amendment to the Loan and Security Agreerbgrand between eCOST.com, Inc. and Wachovia Qdpitance
Corporation (Western

10.77 (25) Amendment 5 to Loan and Security Agreem

10.78 (25) Amendment 7 to Amended and Restated Platinum P¢aaeinent

10.79 (25) Agreement for IBM Global Financing Platinum Plawdice Discounting Schedul

21 (25) Subsidiary Listing

23.1 (25) Consent of KPMG LLP, Independent Registered Pulticounting Firm

31.1 (25) Certifications of Principal Executive Officer Puesu to 18 U.S.C. Section 13!

31.2 (25) Certifications of Principal Financial Officer Puesut to 18 U.S.C. Section 13!

32.1 (25) Certifications of Chief Executive Officer Pursuaotl8 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuanettié 906 of the

Sarbane-Oxley Act of 2002

(1)

Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc.

Regfisin Statement on Forn-1 (Commission File No. 3:-87657).

(2) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2(

(3) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-Q/A for the quarterly period ended September 30,L:
(4) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-K for the transition period ended December 31, Z
(5) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2

(6) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2

(7) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-K for the year ended December 31, 2

(8) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2

(9) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2

(20) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, :
(11) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. Repofform K filed on November 10, 20C

(12) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-K for the year ended December 31, 2

(13) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2
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(14)
(15)
(16)
7)
(18)
(19)
(20)
(21)
(22)
(23)
(24)
(25)

Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc.
Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc.
Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc.
Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc.
Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc.
Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc.
Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc.
Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc.
Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc.
Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc.
Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc.
Filed herewitt

For-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, :
For-K for the year ended December 31, 2C

For-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2(
Repoiftorm K filed on June 14, 200!

For-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2!
Curraqort on Form-K filed on November 30, 200!
For-K for the year ended December 31, 2C

For-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2(
Curraport on Form-K filed on June 2, 200¢

For-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2
Curraqort on Form-K filed on November 20, 2001
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PFSWEB, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT
BALANCE SHEETS — PARENT COMPANY ONLY
(In thousands)

December 31

SCHEDULE |

December 31

2006 2005
ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalel $ 281 $ —
Receivable from Priority Fulfillment Services, Ir 5,47¢ 6,84¢
Receivable from eCOST.com, Ir 4,70( —
Investment in subsidiarie 38,38: 23,08¢
Total asset $  48,84( $ 29,93«
LIABILITIES:
Total liabilities $ — $ —
SHAREHOLDERY EQUITY:
Preferred stoc — —
Common stocl 47 23
Additional paic-in capital 91,30: 58,73¢
Accumulated defici (44,359 (29,829
Accumulated other comprehensive inca 1,93( 1,08¢
Treasury stocl (85) (85)
Total shareholde’ equity 48,84( 29,93¢
Total liabilities and sharehold¢ equity $  48,84( $ 29,93«

The condensed financial statements should be reeshjunction with the consolidated financial staémts and notes.
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PFSWEB, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT
STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS — PARENT COMPANY ONLY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31
(In thousands)

2006 2005
EQUITY IN NET INCOME (LOSS) OF CONSOLIDATED SUBSIBRIES $(14,530) $_(747)
NET INCOME (LOSS) $(14,530 $(747)

The condensed financial statements should be reegnjunction with the consolidated financial stagsts and notes.
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SCHEDULE |
PFSWEB, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS — PARENT COMPANY ONLY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31
(In thousands)
2006 2005 2004

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net income (loss $(14,530) $ (747) $ 22€
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) lossebcash provided by operating
activities:

Equity in net (income) loss of consolidated sulzsiés 14,53( 747 (226)
Net cash provided by operating activit — — —

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payment for purchase of eCOST.com, Inc., net di eaguirec (1,299) — —
Net cash used in investing activiti (1,299 — —

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issuance of common st 4,912 2,07t 47¢
Increase in receivable from eCOST.com, (4,700 — —
Decrease/(increase) in receivable from Priorityfifiaent Services, Inc., ne 1,36¢ (2,079 (475
Net cash provided by financing activiti 1,58( — —
NET INCREASE IN CASI 281 — —
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, beginning of peric — — —
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, end of perio $ 281 $ — $ -

The condensed financial statements should be reeshjunction with the consolidated financial staémts and notes.
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SCHEDULE Il
PFSWEB, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31
(Amounts in thousands)
Additions
Charges Balance Balance
Balance a to Cost Charges Acquired at End
Beginning and to Other via of
of Period Expenses Accounts Acquisition Deductions Period
Year Ended December 31, 20!
Allowance for doubtful accoun $ 33¢ 28¢ — — (124 $ 504
Allowance for slow moving
inventory $ 1,314 1,204 — — (45) $ 2,47:
Income tax valuation allowant $ 11,40¢ 34¢€ 475 — — $12,22¢
Year Ended December 31, 20(
Allowance for doubtful accoun $ 504 40 — — (60) $ 484
Allowance for slow moving
inventory $ 2,47: (230) — — (704) $ 1,563¢
Income tax valuation allowant $12,22¢ 107 90 — — $12,42:
Year Ended December 31, 20!
Allowance for doubtful accoun $ 484 96C — 1,07: (164) $ 2,352
Allowance for slow moving
inventory $ 1,53¢ 1,49t — — (47) $ 2,981
Income tax valuation allowant $ 12,42 3,28t — 6,24: — $21,95(
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 185¢d) of the Securities Act of 1934, the Registtzat duly caused this report to be signed ¢
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authdrize

By: /sl THOMAS J. MADDEN

Thomas J. Maddel
Executive Vice President al
Chief Financial and Accounting Offic:

Pursuant to the requirements of the SecurtEf 1934, this report has been signed belowhieyfollowing persons on behalf of the
Registrant and in the capacities and on the datbsated.

Signature Title Date
/sl MARK C. LAYTON Chairman of the Board, President ¢ April 2, 2007
Mark C. Layton Chief Executive Officer (Principal
Executive Officer
/sl THOMAS J. MADDEN Executive Vice President and Ch April 2, 2007
Thomas J. Madde Financial and Accounting Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Office

/s/ DR. NEIL JACOBS Director April 2, 2007
Dr. Neil Jacob:
/s TIMOTHY M. MURRAY Director April 2, 2007

Timothy M. Murray

/s/ JAMES F. REILLY Director April 2, 2007
James F. Reill

/s/ DAVID |. BEATSON Director April 2, 2007
David |. Beatsot

100






EXHIBIT 10.1.1

PFSweb, Inc. 2007 Management Bonus Plan

WHEREAS, PFSweb, Inc. (the “Company”) adspted and authorized the PFSweb, Inc. 2005 Brepl8tock and Incentive Plan (the
“Plan;” terms defined in the Plan having the sanganing when used herein); and

WHEREAS, the Plan provides for the issugaof Performance-Based Cash Awards to be paid aplievement of such performance
goals as the Committee establishes, from timene,twith regard to such Awards; and

WHEREAS, the Committee has determinésliit the best interests of the Company to adapt2807 Management Bonus Plan (the
“Bonus Plan”) to set forth the performance goalstiie issuance of Performance-Based Cash Awardsr e Plan for fiscal year 2007,

NOW, THEREFORE, the Committee hereby &sicguthorizes and approves the following:
I.  Purpose and Terms of the Bonus Plan:

A.  The Bonus Plan has been estaddisly the Committee pursuant to the Plan to attragtivate, retain, and reward the Company’s
chief executive officer and other executive offgesfficers and senior management for assistin@tirapany in achieving its operational goals
through exceptional performance.

B. Under the terms of the Bonus PRerformance-Based Cash Awards, if any, will baraled to the Chief Executive Officer and
other executive officers, officers and senior mamagnt based on, and subject to, the achievemehé dbllowing performance goal. The
performance goal shall be for the Company to exceed quarterly basis, the corresponding projegtedterly net income contained in the
Company’s annual budget (or, in case of a budgettdbss, to reduce the net loss below the budgetetbss). As used herein, the amount by
which the Company’s quarterly net income exceedstiresponding projected quarterly net incomeainat in the Compang’annual budg:
(or, in case of a budgeted net loss, the amoumthigh the Company’s quarterly net loss is less th@budgeted net loss) is referred to as the
“Over Budget Amount.” The Over Budget Amount shmdldetermined by the Committee on a quarter-bytqubgsis.

1. Determination of Performance-Based Cash Awards:

A.  The total bonus amount (the “Bsfool Amount”) for each quarter shall be equahtosum of (i) an amount to be determined by
the Committee for such quarter, but not to excledasser of (x) $250,000 or (y) the Over Budgetodint and (i) if and to the extent the Over
Budget Amount exceeds $250,000, ten percent (10%)ah excess.

B. Following the end of each quartee Committee shall grant Performance-Based @asirds in an aggregate amount to be
determined by it, but not to exceed the Bonus RPaebunt for such immediately preceding quarter, sinall allocate and award such
Performance-




Based Cash Awards to the Chief Executive Officer atfier executive officers, officers and senior aggment based on the Committee’s
determination of the relative contribution of eatkth person. The Committee shall have sole distré@ti determining the individuals to whom
Performance-Based Cash Awards are to be grantetharamounts thereof. The Chief Executive Offidellsnot be present for the
Committee’s deliberations concerning any PerforrealBased Cash Award to be awarded to him, but heleharesent and shall advise the
Committee regarding the Performance-Based Cashdsaarbe awarded to the other executive officefgsers and senior management.

C. Performance-Based Cash Awardb Bbgaid as soon as practicable following the @uttee’s determination and designation
thereof. Each recipient of a Performance-Based @asird shall be responsible for the payment ofederal and state income taxes arising
upon his or her receipt thereof.

C. The Committee reserve the righnbdify this Bonus Plan and performance goal gtteme, and the adoption of this Bonus Plan
does not limit the ability of the Committee to adiather Awards under the Plan nor does it redtnigtability of the Company to pay or prov
for the payment of any compensation to any person.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned, beiit the members of the Committee, have adoptddaathorized the foregoing as of the
28th day of March, 2007.

James Reilly

Timothy Murray






EXHIBIT 10.74

IBM Credit LLC

FIFTH AMENDED AND RESTATED
NOTES PAYABLE SUBORDINATION AGREEMENT

IBM CREDIT LLC
North Castle Drive
Armonk, NY 10504

Ladies and/or Gentlemen:

This Fifth Amended and Restated Notes Payablordination Agreement amends and restates émiiety the Amended and Restated
Notes Payable Subordination Agreement dated Novea®)e2002 executed by Priority Fulfillment Sendcénc. “PFS”). Supplies
Distributors, Inc., with its principal place of bngess at 500 North Central Expressway, Plano, T)745“SDI"), is/may become further
indebted to PFS. PFS represents that no partdirsdébtedness has been assigned to or subordindiebr of any other person, firm or
corporation, other than pursuant to the Notes Hay@ibbordination Agreement, dated as of March 2922y and between PFS and Wachovia
Bank, National Association (formerly known as Cagy Financial Corporation (Southwest)) (“Wachov{gNotes Payable Subordination
Agreement”) and that PFS does not hold any sectivitiefor. Capitalized terms used herein withotiihiteon shall have the meaning ascribed
thereto in the Financing Agreement referred towelo

To induce IBM Credit LLC (“IBM Credit”) to cdimue financing SDI under the terms of the Agreenieninventory Financing dated
March 29, 2002 with SDI (as amended, modified, sungpblemented from time to time, the “Financing Agmnent”) and in consideration of any
loans, advances, payments, extensions or creditiiimg the extension or renewal, in whole or intpaf any antecedent or other debt), ben
or financial accommodations heretofore or hereaftade, granted or extended by IBM Credit or whisMICredit has or will become
obligated to make, grant or extend to or for theoaat of SDI whether under the Financing Agreenertherwise, and in consideration of
obligations heretofore or hereafter incurred by 8DIBM Credit, whether under the Financing Agreeimar otherwise, PFS agrees to make
payment of the indebtedness referred to in thégimsagraph hereof and any and all other presefutwre indebtedness of SDI to PFS together
with any and all interest accrued thereon (colexyi the “Secondary Obligations”) subject and sdlbtate to the prior indefeasible payment in
full of any and all debts, obligations and lialiég of SDI to IBM Credit, whether absolute or caggnt, due or to become due, now existing or
hereafter arising and whether direct or acquiretBd Credit by transfer, assignment or otherwisallgctively the “Primary Obligations”) and
that SDI shall make no payments to PFS until thedéhy Obligations have been indefeasibly paid ihds acknowledged in writing by IBM
Credit. Notwithstanding the foregoing, SDI may makgments in respect of the Secondary Obligatioagigeed that (i) no Default or Event of
Default exists immediately prior to the paymenth# Secondary Obligations and that no Default ariEwf Default will occur after any
payment in respect of the Secondary Obligations(y such payment shall not cause the total amafuthie Secondary Obligations to be less
than Six Million Dollars ($6,000,000), and (iii) &u payment would be permitted under the Notes Ray&ibordination Agreement. Except as
provided above, PFS agrees not to ask, demandopisueke or receive payment or security for albay part of the Secondary Obligations L
and unless all of the Primary Obligations shalldhbeen fully paid and discharged.

Upon any distribution of any assets of SDI thlee by reason of sale, reorganization, liquidatiiesolution, arrangement, bankruptcy,
receivership, assignment for the benefit of credijtéoreclosure or otherwise, IBM Credit shall In¢itded to receive payment in full of the
Primary Obligations prior to the payment of anytfdithe Secondary Obligations. To enable IBM Créalienforce its rights hereunder in any
such proceeding or upon the happening of any suehtelBM Credit or any person whom IBM Credit nfagm time to time designate is
hereby irrevocably appointed attorney-in-fact f&iSRwith full power to act in the place and stea®B8 including the right to make, present,
file and vote proofs of claim against SDI on acdoefrall or any part of said Secondary ObligatiasdBM Credit may deem
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advisable and to receive and collect any and gifrgants made thereon and to apply the same on acebtive Primary Obligations. PFS will
execute and deliver to such instruments as IBM iCrady require to enforce each of the Secondarygatibns, to effectuate said power of
attorney and to effect collection of any and allidénds or other payments which may be made atiar®yon account thereof.

While this instrument remains in effect, PF8 mot assign to or subordinate in favor of anletperson, firm or corporation, (except for
Wachovia subject to terms of the Intercreditor Asgnent dated the date hereof between Wachovia aviddidit) any right, claim or interest
in or to the Secondary Obligations or commenc®ior\vith any other creditor in commencing any batcy, reorganization or insolvency
proceeding against SDI. IBM Credit may at any tiimdts discretion, renew or extend the time of payt of all or any portion of the Primary
Obligations or waive or release any collateral Wwhitay be held therefor and IBM Credit may enteo such agreements with SDI as IBM
Credit may deem desirable without notice to ortfartassent from PFS and without adversely affedBid Credit’s rights hereunder in any
manner whatsoever.

In furtherance of the foregoing and as cotkdtsecurity for the payment and discharge indéihny and all of the Primary Obligations, PFS
hereby transfers and assigns to IBM Credit the Seaxy Obligations and all collateral security tHer¢o which PFS now is or may at any ti
be entitled and all rights under all guaranteeseitifeand agrees to deliver to IBM Credit endorsedlank all notes or other instruments now or
hereafter evidencing said Secondary Obligations! {(Bredit may file one or more financing statemestscerning any security interest hereby
created without the signature of PFS appearingtrer

The within instrument is and shall be deenueblet a continuing subordination and shall be anthne in full force and effect until all
Primary Obligations have been performed and pafdlirand IBM Credit's commitment, if any, underettrinancing Agreement has been
terminated.

Dated March __, 2007.

PRIORITY FULFILLMENT SERVICES, INC.

By:
Name: Thomas J. Maddel
Title: CFO

500 North Central Expressway
Plano, TX 75074
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To: IBM Credit LLC

SDI hereby acknowledge notice of tlithiw and foregoing subordination and agree to danbl by all the terms, provisions and
conditions thereof. SDI further agrees not to reglagr any part of the Secondary Obligations,missue any note or other instrument
evidencing the same or to grant any collateral sgctinerefor without IBM Credit’s prior written etsent.

SUPPLIES DISTRIBUTORS, INC.
By:

Name: Joseph Farrel
Title:  President/ CEC

ACCEPTED:
IBM CREDIT LLC
By:

Name Stanton Clarl
Title: Manager, Credi

ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF SUBORDINATION

)SE )
)
On the __ day of March, 2007, appe:éwefore me to me known to be the individual described in arfbw

executed the foregoing instrument, and who ackndgéd to me that the same was executed as his fneleesind voluntary act for the uses and
purposes therein set forth.

(Notary Public)
My Commission Expires
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EXHIBIT 10.7¢

AMENDMENT NO. 8
TO
AGREEMENT FOR INVENTORY FINANCING

This Amendment No. 8 (“Amendment”) to thgreement for Inventory Financing is made as ofdia__, 2007 by and amon@M
Credit LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“IBM Credit"Business Supplies Distributors Holdings, LLCa limited liability
company duly organized under the laws of the sthfgelaware (“Holdings”) Supplies Distributors, Inc. (formerly known as BSD
Acquisition Corp.), a corporation duly organizedlanthe laws of the state of Delaware (“BorrowePYiority Fulfillment Services, Inc., a
corporation duly organized under the laws of tlaesbf Delaware (“PFS”) an@FSweb, Inc., a corporation duly organized under the laws of
the state of Delaware (“PFSweb”) (Borrower, HoldinBFS, PFSweb, and any other entity that exethisedgreement or any Other
Document, including without limitation all Guarantpare each individually referred to as a “Loanty?and collectively referred to as “Loan
Parties”).

RECITALS:

A. Each Loan Party and IBM Credit have entered in& tiertain Agreement for Inventory Financing daaedf March 29, 2002 (as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified frame to time, the “Agreement”); and

B. The parties have agreed to modify the Agreememasg specifically set forth below, upon and subjedhe terms and conditions
forth herein.

AGREEMENT
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and other goodvahgable consideration, the receipt and sufficyeofcwhich is
hereby acknowledged, Borrower, the other Loan &agnd IBM Credit hereby agree as follows:
Section 1. Definitions All capitalized terms not otherwise defined hergiall have the respective meanings set forth irtireement.
Section 2. Amendment.
Subject to the satisfaction of the cdodi precedents set forth in Section 3 hereof Ai@ement is hereby amended as follows:

A. Section 1 of the Agreement is hereby amended byding the definition of “Amended and Restated N&agable Subordination
Agreement” to read in its entirety as follows:

“*Amended and Restated Notes Payable&libation Agreement’: the Fifth Amended and Restdiotes Payable Subordination
Agreement dated March , 2007 executed by PFS in favor of IBM Credit.”

B. Section 1 of the Agreement is hereby amended byhdme the definition of “Termination Date” to readits entirety as follows:

“Termination Date’: shall mean March 2008 or such other date as IBM Credit and the ®oer may agree to from time to time in
writing.”

C. Section 8.6 of the Agreement is hereby amendedignding this Section to read in its entirety atofes:
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“8.6. Restricted PaymentsBorrower will not, directly or indirectly make amf the following payments (“Restricted Paymentsijhaut prior
written consent from IBM Credit, which shall not bereasonably delayed or denied: (i) declare orgmgydividend (other than dividends
payable solely in common stock of Borrower) ongrake any payment on account of, or set apart afsedssinking or other analogous fund
for, the purchase, redemption, defeasance, retiteareother acquisition of, any shares of any ct#ssapital stock of Borrower or any
warrants, options or rights to purchase any supitalastock or Equity Interests, whether now ordadter outstanding, or make any other
distribution in respect thereof, either directlyimdirectly, whether in cash or property or in gliions of Borrower; or (ii) make any optional
payment or prepayment on or redemption (includimithout limitation, by making payments to a sinkioiganalogous fund) or repurchase of
any Indebtedness (other than the Obligations),igesizhowever, that Borrower (a) may in the ordinary ceuof administration thereof make
payments on the revolving loans made by WachovigkBEational Association (formerly known as Congréfmancial Corporation
(Southwest)) (“Wachovia”) pursuant to the Congr@ssdit Agreement, except as permitted by the Ameéradel Restated Notes Payable
Subordination Agreement; (b) may in fiscal year2@@y cash dividends not to exceed the aggregdittyopercent (50%) of Holdings Net
Income according to GAAP and (c) may permit Sugpléstributors of Canada, Inc. to make a one-timygnpent in an amount not to exceed
$800,000.00 to Holdings.”

Section 3. Conditions of Effectiveness of Amendmernthis Amendment shall become effective upon theiptdy IBM Credit of: (i) this
Amendment which shall have been authorized, exdaute delivered by each of the parties hereto BMiCredit shall have received a copy
of a fully executed Amendment, (ii) the Fifth Amenbtland Restated Notes Payable Subordination Agrgesmecuted by PFS, (iii) a
subordinated demand note issued in favor of IBMd@rend Wachovia, in form and substance satisfgdmiBM Credit, in the amount of Six
Million Dollars ($6,000,000) and (iv) in the evethat products currently supplied by IBM PrintingsByms Division (“Infoprint Products”)
cease to be sold to Loan Parties by an entityishaholly owned by IBM, on the date of such cesgagany Infoprint Products then forming
of the Collateral shall continue to be Collatenay énfoprint Products supplied by any other leg#itg thereafter shall only form part of the
Collateral from the date on which IBM Credit hatabtished arrangements and entered into agreeraecgptable to IBM Credit with such
supplier and Loan Parties for the continued finaga@f Infoprint Products.

Section 4. Representations and Warrantie€ach Loan Party makes to IBM Credit the followimgresentations and warranties all of which
are material and are made to induce IBM Credintereinto this Amendment.

Section 4.1 Accuracy and Completeness of Warrantiesmd RepresentationsAll representations made by the Loan Party in tgeedment
were true and accurate and complete in every reggenf the date made, and, as amended by this dmmemt, all representations made by the
Loan Party in the Agreement are true, accuratecantblete in every material respect as of the datedf, and do not fail to disclose any
material fact necessary to make representationsisi¢ading.

Section 4.2 Violation of Other Agreements and Consé The execution and delivery of this Amendment amdgérformance and observatr
of the covenants to be performed and observed hdeza) do not violate or cause any Loan Partyt;mbe in compliance with the terms of
any agreement to which such Loan Party is a partg,(b) require the consent of any Person.

Section 4.3 Litigation.Except as has been disclosed by the Loan ParBMoGredit in writing, there is no litigation, proeding, investigation
or labor dispute pending or threatened againstaay Party, which, if adversely determined, woulatenially adversely affect the Loan
Party’s ability to perform such Loan Party’s obtigas under the Agreement and the other documestsuments and agreements executed in
connection therewith or pursuant hereto.

Section 4.4 Enforceability of AmendmentThis Amendment has been duly authorized, executddialivered by each Loan Party and is
enforceable against each Loan Party in accordaitbata/terms.
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Section 5. Ratification of AgreementExcept as specifically amended hereby, all of tlewigions of the Agreement shall remain unamended
and in full force and effect. Each Loan Party hgrediifies, confirms and agrees that the Agreemesiamended hereby, represents a valid and
enforceable obligation of such Loan Party, andoissubject to any claims, offsets or defenses.

Section 6. Ratification of Guaranty and Notes Paydb Subordination Agreement.Each of Holdings, PFSweb and PFS hereby ratify and
confirm their respective guaranties in favor of IEMedit and agree that such guaranties remainlifofice and effect and that the term
“Liabilities”, as used therein include, without litation the indebtedness liabilities and obligasiaf the Borrower under the Agreement as
amended hereby.

Section 7. Governing Law.This Amendment shall be governed by and interpretedcordance with the laws which govern the Agrest.

Section 8. Counterparts.This Amendment may be executed in any number ofitesparts, each of which shall be an original dhdfavhich
shall constitute one agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF , each Loan Party has read this entire Amendmadthas caused its authorized representatives tutxe
this Amendment and has caused its corporate $eaily,jto be affixed hereto as of the date firsttem above.

IBM Credit LLC Supplies Distributors, Inc.
By: By:
Print Name Print Name
Title: Title:
Business Supplies Distributors Holdings, LLC Priority Fulfillment Services, Inc.
By: as Managing Membg
By: By:
Print Name Print Name
Title: Title:
PFSweb, Inc.
By:
Print Name
Title:
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EXHIBIT 10.7€

FOURTH AMENDMENT TO LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT

THIS FOURTH AMENDMENT TO LOAN AND SECURITY AGEEMENT (this “ Amendment), dated as of March 28, 2007, is entered
into by and between WACHOVIA BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIRON, as successor to Wachovia Capital Finance @atpn (Western) (“
Lender”), and ECOST.COM, INC., a Delaware corporationBfrrower”).

RECITALS

A. Borrower and Lender are parties to thatatel.oan and Security Agreement dated August 8428s amended by that certain First
Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, thatge@econd Amendment to Loan and Security Agreemeththat certain Third
Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, and atifrad by that certain letter agreement dated Ndwen29, 2005 (such letter agreement,
the “ Consent) (as amended, restated, supplemented or othemaskfied at any time or from time to time, the 6dn Agreement), pursuant
to which Lender has made certain loans and finhacommodations available to Borrower.

B. Lender and Borrower now wish to amend tbar Agreement on the terms and conditions set fathin.

C. Each of Borrower and Lender is entering thiis Amendment with the understanding and agreethat, except as specifically provided
herein, none of Lender’s rights or remedies aswstt in the Loan Agreement is being waived or nfiedi by the terms of this Amendment.

AGREEMENT

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foriegoand the mutual covenants herein containedf@nother good and valuable
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of whach hereby acknowledged, the parties hereby agréalows:

1. Defined TermsUnless otherwise defined in this Amendment, anijaily capitalized terms used in this Amendmemilshave the
respective meanings ascribed thereto in the Loaedkgent.

2. Amendments to Loan Agreement

(a) Accounts Advance Rat€lause (a) of the definition of “Borrowing Base”Section 1.7 of the Loan Agreement is hereby atadn
and restated to read in its entirety as follows:

“(a) eighty percent (80%) of Eligible Ammts; plus”

(b)_Inventory AppraisalClause (d) of Section 7.3 of the Loan Agreemeiisreby amended and restated to read in its gngise
follows:




“(d) upon Lender’s request, Borrower shall, aeitpense, no more than two (2) times in any twel# (honth period, but at any time or
times as Lender may request on and after an Evddefault, deliver or cause to be delivered to Lemd\cceptable Appraisals as to the
Inventory;”

(c) Section 9.17 of the Loan Agreementaseby amended and restated to read in its entiefgllows:

“9.17 Adjusted Tangible Net WorthBorrower shall maintain a sum of Adjusted TangiNlet Worth plus the amount of any Indebtedness
on account of any loan by PFSweb or its Affiliate8orrower of not less than Zero Dollars ($0) &the last day of each fiscal quartel
being understood that no rent reserve for the Begrts leased premises in Memphis, Tennessee willdgeicted in calculating Adjusted
Tangible Net Worth).”

(d) The first sentence of Section 12.1¢ahe Loan Agreement is hereby amended and restatexad in its entirety as follows:

“This Agreement and the other Financing Agreemshtdl become effective as of the date set forttherfirst page hereof and shall
continue in full force and effect for a term endmgMay 31, 2009 (the_ ' Renewal Dd}eand from year to year thereafter, unless sooner
terminated pursuant to the terms hereof.”

(e) _Early Termination Fe& he first sentence of Section 12.1(c) of the LAgneement is hereby amended and restated to meiesd i
entirety as follows:

“If for any reason this Agreement is terminatedptd the end of the then current term or reneemtof this Agreement, in view of the
impracticality and extreme difficulty of ascertaigiactual damages and by mutual agreement of ttiegpas to a reasonable calculation
of Lender’s lost profits as a result thereof, Bareo agrees to pay to Lender, upon the effective dasuch termination, an early
termination fee in the amount of one percent (1.6%he Revolving Loan Limit if such terminatione$fective on or before May 31,
2008, and one-half of one percent (0.5%) of thedRewg Loan Limit if such termination is effectiadter May 31, 2008.”

3. _Amendment FeeBorrower shall pay Lender an amendment fee iratheunt of $15,000, which shall be due and payaié fully
earned by Lender, on the date of this Amendment.

4. Effectiveness of this Amendmerithe following shall have occurred before this Ardment is effective:

(a) AmendmentLender shall have received this Amendment duBceied by Borrower, together with the following Ackvledgment by
Guarantor duly executed by PFSweb, in a suffiarembber of counterparts for distribution to all jpest




(b)_ Representations and Warranti€ke representations and warranties set forthrharel in each Financing Agreement (after giving
effect to this Amendment) shall be true and corfettter than any such representations or warratitasby their terms, are specifically made
as of a date other than the date hereof).

(c) Other Required Documentatiéi.other documents and legal matters in conneatiith the transactions contemplated by this
Amendment shall have been delivered or executedomrded, as applicable, and shall be in form amhdtance satisfactory to Lender in all
respects.

5. Representations and WarrantiBsrrower represents and warrants to Lender &zl

(a) Authority and Due ExecutioBorrower has all requisite corporate power artti@rity to execute and deliver this Amendment, &r
perform its obligations hereunder and under thafding Agreements (as amended or modified her&lng execution, delivery and
performance by Borrower of this Amendment (i) aithim the power of Borrower, (ii) have been dulpttaarized and approved by all necess
corporate action and no other corporate proceedirggecessary to consummate such transactiongijiphdve received all necessary
governmental approvals, if any, and do not contmaveny law or any contractual obligations or resitns binding on Borrower.

(b)_Enforceability This Amendment has been duly executed and deliMey Borrower. This Amendment and each FinanciggeAmen
(as amended or modified hereby) is the legal, \etid binding obligation of Borrower, enforceablaiagt Borrower in accordance with its
terms, and is in full force and effect.

(c) Representations and Warranti€he representations and warranties containeddh Einancing Agreement (other than any such
representations or warranties that, by their teans specifically made as of a date other thaml#te hereof) are true and correct on and as of
the date hereof as though made on and as of thehdetof.

(d)_No Default No event has occurred and is continuing thattitomess a Default or an Event of Default.

6. _Governing Law The validity, interpretation, construction andanement of this Amendment and the rights of theips hereunder,
shall be determined under, governed by and cortsiruaccordance with the internal laws of the Steit€alifornia but excluding any principl
of conflicts of law or other rule of law that woutduse the application of the law of any jurisdictother than the laws of the State of
California.

7. CounterpartsThis Amendment may be executed in any numbeoohterparts and by different parties and sepaaiaterparts, each of
which when so executed and delivered, shall be ddean original, and all of which, when taken togetishall constitute one and the same
instrument. Delivery of an executed counterpa@ sfgnature page to this Amendment by telefacsisfitel be effective as delivery of a
manually executed counterpart of this Amendment; party delivering an executed counterpart of Ansendment by




telefacsimile shall also deliver an original execltounterpart, but the failure to do so shallaffeict the validity, enforceability or binding
effect of this Amendment.

8. Reference to and Effect on the Financigge&ments

(a) Upon and after the effectiveneshif Amendment, each reference in the Loan Agreemoetthis Agreement”, “hereunder”,

“hereof” or words of like import referring to theoan Agreement, and each reference in the othen€&iimg Agreements to “the Loan

Agreement”, “thereunder”, “thereof” or words of éilkmport referring to the Loan Agreement, shall maad be a reference to the Loan
Agreement as modified and amended hereby.

(b) Except as specifically amended abtwe | oan Agreement and all other Financing Agragsjeare and shall continue to be in full
force and effect and are hereby in all respectime®d, ratified, approved and confirmed and skalhstitute the legal, valid, binding and
enforceable obligations of Borrower to Lender.

(c) The execution, delivery and effeatigss of this Amendment shall not, except as exigrpssvided herein, operate as a waiver of any
right, power or remedy of Lender under any of theakcing Agreements, nor constitute a waiver of provision of any of the Financing
Agreements.

(d) To the extent that any terms and @@ in any of the Financing Agreements shalltcadict or be in conflict with any terms or
conditions of the Loan Agreement, after giving effo this Amendment, such terms and conditionareby deemed modified or amended
accordingly to reflect the terms and conditionshef Loan Agreement as modified or amended hereby.

9. Estoppel To induce Lender to enter into this Amendment tancontinue to make advances to Borrower undet tan Agreement, and
without limiting Borrower’s rights to contest Lentiemonthly statements in accordance with Secti@of the Loan Agreement, Borrower
hereby acknowledges and agrees that, as of thédegef, there exists no right of offset, defermseinterclaim or objection in favor of
Borrower as against Lender with respect to thedalilbns.

10. No Waiver The execution of this Amendment and acceptanesmpfother documents related hereto shall not bendd to be a waiver
of any Event of Default under the Loan Agreemerdary breach, default or event of default underather Financing Agreement, whether or
not known to Lender and whether or not existingtendate of this Amendment.

11. Successors and Assigifhis Amendment shall be binding upon and inurthéobenefit of each of Borrower and Lender and the
respective successors and assigns.

12. Captions and HeadingShe captions or section headings at various placthis Amendment are intended for conveniendg and do
not constitute and shall not be interpreted asgfatiis Amendment.




13. _Integration This Amendment, together with the other Finandiggeements, incorporates all negotiations of thetigs hereto with
respect to the subject matter hereof and is the érpression and agreement of the parties herighar@spect to the subject matter hereof.

14. Severability In case any provision in this Amendment shaliryalid, illegal or unenforceable, such provisidrak be severable from
the remainder of this Amendment and the validiggdlity and enforceability of the remaining prowiss shall not in any way be affected or
impaired thereby.

15. No Strict ConstructiariThe parties hereto have participated jointlyhi@ hegotiation and drafting of this Amendment.Ha évent an
ambiguity or question of intent or interpretatiaisas, this Amendment shall be construed as iftedgbintly by the parties hereto and no
presumption or burden of proof shall arise favomglisfavoring any party by virtue of the authapsbf any provisions of this Amendment.

16. No Other Changeg&xcept as explicitly amended or modified by thimendment, all of the terms and conditions of tloan
Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto havwesed their duly authorized officers to execute deliver this Amendment as of the date
first above written.

ECOST.COM, INC., a Delaware corporati

By:
Name
Title:

WACHOVIA BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

By:
Name
Title:




ACKNOWLEDGEMENT BY GUARANTOR

Dated as of March 28, 2007

The undersigned (* Guarantywith respect to its Guaranty made in favor ohtder (as amended, modified or supplemented, * Gyafa,
hereby acknowledges and agrees to the foregoingh-Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement (t@erfendment’) and confirms and
agrees that its Guaranty is and shall continuestarbfull force and effect and is hereby ratifeeatd confirmed in all respects except that, upon
the effectiveness of, and on and after the dateeoAmendment, each reference in such Guaranhetbdan Agreement (as defined in the
Amendment), “thereunder”, “thereof” or words ofdikmport referring to the “Loan Agreement”, shakam and be a reference to the Loan
Agreement as amended or modified by the Amendnddiitough Lender has informed Guarantor of the miatset forth above, and Guarantor
has acknowledged the same, Guarantor understaddmaees that Lender has no duty under the Loaaehgent, the Guaranty or any other
agreement with Guarantor to so notify Guarantdoaeek such an acknowledgement, and nothing catdierein is intended to or shall cr

such a duty as to any advances or transaction fterea
PFSWEB, INC., a Delaware corporati
By:

Name
Title:







EXHIBIT 10.77

FIFTH AMENDMENT TO LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT

THIS FIFTH AMENDMENT TO LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT  (this “ Amendment) is dated as of March 28, 2007 (the “
Amendment Daté), by and betweeVACHOVIA BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION (formerly known as Congress Financial
Corporation (Southwest), a Texas corporation) (tidex”), and SUPPLIES DISTRIBUTORS, INC. , a Delaware corporation (* Borrow®

RECITALS

WHEREAS, Borrower and Lender are parties & tiertain Loan and Security Agreement dated &daoth 29, 2002 as amended by that
certain First Amendment to Loan and Security Agreentlated as of April 20, 2004 and by that cerS8nond Amendment to Loan and
Security Agreement dated as of December 21, 20@#tbg that certain Third Amendment to Loan and SecAgreement dated as of June 24,
2005, and by that certain Fourth Amendment to thanLand Security Agreement dated as of April 1062@&s amended from time to time, the
“ Loan Agreement);

WHEREAS, Borrower and Lender desire to améed ban Agreement in the manner provided below;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the pressiferein contained and other good and valuabkEdenation, the receipt and
sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, theips hereto, do hereby amend the Loan Agreensefiailaws:

AGREEMENT

ARTICLE |
DEFINITIONS

1.01Capitalized terms used in this Amendment, to ther@not otherwise defined herein, shall have #mesmeaning as in the Loan
Agreement, as amended by this Amendment.

ARTICLE Il
AMENDMENTS TO THE LOAN AGREEMENT

Effective as of the date hereof, the Loan &grent is hereby amended and supplemented as follows

2.01 Amendment to Section 1.1; Addition of Definederms . The following new definitions shall be added to tRec1.10f the Loan
Agreement in their appropriate alphabetical order:

* Amendment Closing Datehall mean, March 28, 2007.
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* Capital Expenditure'sshall mean with respect to any Person for any detfte aggregate of all expenditures by such Patadng sucl
period that in accordance with GAAP are or showddnzluded in “property, plant and equipment” ogigimilar fixed asset account on its
balance sheet, whether such expenditures arepagsh or financed and including all liabilitiedasbligations in respect of Capital Leases
paid or payable during such period; providdawever, Capital Expenditures shall not include any exjiteinels made with proceeds of
condemnation or eminent domain proceedings affgetial property.

‘ Capital Leasesshall mean, as applied to any Person, any lebfm any agreement conveying the right to use) @operty (whether
real, personal or mixed) by such Person as leshé&din accordance with GAAP, is required to béeretbd as a liability on the balance
sheet of such Person.

‘ EBITDA '’ shall mean, at any date of determination, andtierapplicable period, without duplication, th&atf the following for
Borrower and its subsidiaries on a consolidatedshzdculated for such period: Net Income plugh®mextent deducted in determining Net
Income, interest expense, taxes, depreciation, tezation, other non-recurring loss or expenses,répation of intangibles and organization
costs, any non-cash losses or expenses and |ds#astable to foreign currency adjustments, mialison-cash items increasing Net
Income for such period and income attributableoteifyn currency adjustments for such period, akdeined in accordance with GAAP.

‘ Fixed Chargesshall mean, for any period, the sum, without degtion, of the amounts determined for any Peraging such period
equal to (i) total cash interest expense (includivaj portion attributable to Capital Leases thdteated as interest in accordance with G.
and capitalized interest), net of cash interestrime, of such Person with respect to all outstanttidgbtedness, (ii) scheduled payments of
principal on indebtedness of such Person, exclugaygnents of principal made hereunder, under thedwgent for Inventory Financing or
under any credit facility that replaces the Agreetrier Inventory Financing, (iii) the total unfineed portion of Capital Expenditures of
such Person and (iv) total distributions made taitgcholders of such Person actually paid in caghgr than any dividends or distributions
permitted pursuant to Section @%Ad_Section 9.1hereof).

‘ Net Incomé shall mean, for any period, the amount that stipoul accordance with GAAP, be reflected on Borrdwéncome stateme
as net income for that period.”

2.02_ Amendment to definition of* Eligible Borrower Accounts” . Clause (m)f the definition of “Eligible Borrower Accounts’ontained
in Section 1.1of the Loan Agreement shall be deleted in its etyiand the following new clause (ishall be substituted therefor:

“(m) such Accounts of a single account debtoits affiliates do not constitute more than thiive (35%) percent of all otherwise
Eligible Accounts (but the portion of the Accountst in excess of such percentage may be deemeithlElBorrower
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Accounts);”

2.03 Amendment to definition of' Interest Rate” . The definition of “Interest Rate” contained in Sentl1.10f the Loan Agreement shall
be deleted in its entirety and the following neviim&on shall be substituted therefor:

‘ Interest Rateshall mean,
(a) Subject to clause @)this definition below:

(i) as to Prime Rate Loansate per annum equal to the sum of the “Applicabim® Rate Margin” if the average
Excess Availability for the immediately precedirayf (4) fiscal quarters for the Borrower is at athin the amounts indicated for
such percentage (set forth below), plus the Primte R

(ii) as to Eurodollar Rate Lsaa rate per annum equal to the sum of the carneipg “Applicable Eurodollar Rate
Margin” if the Excess Availability is at or withithe amounts indicated from such percentage (st f@low), plus the Adjusted
Eurodollar Rate (in each case, based on the Elavd®hte applicable for the Interest Period setébieBorrower, as in effect three
(3) Business Days after the date of receipt by keemnd the request of Borrower for such EurodollatédRLoans in accordance with
the terms hereof, whether such rate is higherwetdhan any rate previously quoted to Borrower).

Applicable
Applicable Prime Eurodollar
Pricing Level Excess Availability Rate Margir Rate Margir
I $3,000,001 or mor 0% 1.75%
Il $1,000,000 t 0% 2.00%
$3,000,00¢(
Il less than $1,000,0( 0% 2.25%

Any increase or decrease in the Interest Ratetimegdtom a change in average Excess Availabilitythe immediately preceding four
(4) fiscal quarters shall become effective as effitst Business Day immediately following the esfda fiscal quarter of Borrower;
provided, however, that if average Excess Availability for the imnegdly preceding four (4) fiscal quarters cannotle&ermined,
Pricing Level Il shall apply as of the first Buss Day immediately following the end of a fiscahder of Borrower until such time as
average Excess Availability is determined. In ddditat all times (i) either (A) during the period and after the date of termination or
non-renewal hereof until such time as all Obligagiare
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indefeasibly paid and satisfied in full in immedigtavailable funds, or (B) during the period framd after the date of the occurrence of
any Event of Default, and for so long as such Evémefault is continuing as determined by Lendsd &i) when the Revolving Loans
are outstanding in excess of the amounts avaitatB®rrower under Section(®&hether or not such excess(es) arise or are mébew
without Lender’s knowledge or consent and whethadenbefore or after an Event of Default), Pricirgyé! |1l shall apply.

(b) Notwithstanding anything to the contraontained in clause (& this definition, the Interest Rate shall meaa thte of two
percent (2.00%) per annum in excess of the Printe &ato Prime Rate Loans and the rate of fouroaedquarter percent (4.25%) per
annum in excess of the Adjusted Eurodollar Rat® &urodollar Rate Loans, at Lender’s option, withiaotice, (i) either (A) for the
period on and after the date of termination or remewal hereof until such time as all Obligatiores iadefeasibly paid and satisfied in
full in immediately available funds, or (B) for tiperiod from and after the date of the occurredf@ng Event of Default, and for so long
as such Event of Default is continuing as deterchimg Lender and (ii) on the Revolving Loans toat E#me outstanding in excess of the
amounts available to Borrower under SectigwBether or not such excess(es) arise or are maenwithout Lender’s knowledge or
consent and whether made before or after an E¥dnefault).”

2.04 Amendment to Section 3.3Section 3.3f the Loan Agreement shall be deleted in its entiend the following shall be substituted
therefor:

“ Servicing FeeBorrower shall pay to Lender quarterly, a sengciee in an amount equal to $2,000 in respeceofer’s services for
each fiscal quarter (or part thereof) while the mégreement remains in effect and for so long thitee as any of the Obligations are
outstanding, which fee shall be fully earned aaraf payable in advance on the first day of evesgaliquarter hereafter.”

2.05 Amendment to Section 3.4Section 3.4f the Loan Agreement shall be deleted in its entiend the following shall be substituted
therefor:

“ Unused Line FeeBorrower shall pay to Lender monthly an unused fee at a rate equal to one-quarter of one pe(@e&b%) per
annum calculated upon the amount by which $17,8@0¢Xceeds the average daily principal balanceebtitstanding Revolving Loans
during the immediately preceding month (or parte€ while this Agreement is in effect and forleng thereafter as any of the Obligations
are outstanding, which fee shall be payable otitsieday of each month in arrears.”

2.06 Amendment to Section 9.9The amount “$6,500,000” contained_in Section 9.8fghe Loan Agreement shall be deleted and the
amount “$5,500,000" shall be substituted
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therefor.

2.07 Amendment to Section 9.11(a)Subsection (a) of Section 9.%hall be deleted in its entirety and the followimgyw subsection
(a) shall be substituted therefor:

“(a) Excess Availability shall be notdethan $1,000,000,".

2.08 Amendment to Section 9.11(c)Subsection (c) of Section 9.%hall be deleted in its entirety and the followirey subsection
(c) shall be substituted therefor:

“(c) the aggregate amount of all suchidéimds does not exceed (i) $1,400,000 per yeas, (B)uan amount equal to any cash dividends
received by Borrower from Business Supplies Disitidios Europe BV, plus (iii) an amount equal to aagh dividends received by Borrower
from Supplies Distributors SA, plus (iv) an amoequal to any cash dividends, up to $800,000 inyaay, received by Borrower from Supp
Canada.”

2.09 Amendment to Section 9.14Section 9.14hall be deleted in its entirety and the followsiwll be substituted therefor:

Section 9.14Minimum Fixed Charge Coverage Ratids of the last day of each quarter, beginningwtite quarter ending on
March 31, 2007, the ratio of (i) EBITDA for the inedliately preceding twelve (12) calendar months sithie unfinanced portion of Capital
Expenditures made by Borrower during such perio@@)é-ixed Charges of Borrower for such periodlshat be less than 1.0 to 1.0.

2.10 Amendment to Section 12.1The following subsections of Section 1®fithe Loan Agreement are hereby amended as fallows

The first sentence of Section 12.1¢a)he Loan Agreement shall be deleted in its ettiand the following new sentence shall be sulisti
therefor:

“(a): This Agreement and the other Financirggeéements shall become effective as of the CldSig and shall continue in full force
and effect for a term ending on the earlier to oafyi) March 29, 2009, or (ii) the date on whitte parties to the IBM Master Distributor
Agreement (or any similar agreement reached withpitint Solutions Company LLC (“Infoprint”)) shatio longer operate under the terms
of such agreement and/or IBM or Infoprint, as agaidie, no longer supplies products pursuant to ageeement to Borrower (the “Renewal
Date”), and from year to year thereafter, unlesssoterminated pursuant to the terms hereof;”

Subsection (c) of Section 1zhall be deleted in its entirety and the followimeyw subsection shall be substituted therefor:

“(c) If for any reason this Agreementasminated prior to the end of the then curremter renewal term of this Agreement, in view of
the impracticality and extreme difficulty of as@@rning actual damages and by mutual agreemeneqfdtties as to a
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reasonable calculation of Lender’s lost profit@aesult thereof, Borrower agrees to pay to Lenaglgon the effective date of such
termination, an early termination fee in the amaseitforth below if such termination is effectivethe period indicated:

Amount Period
1) 0.50% of Maximum Credi From the Amendment Date, to and including March22@)8
(2) 0.25% of Maximum Cred From March 30, 2008 and thereal

Such early termination fee shall be presumed tthhé@amount of damages sustained by Lender as lh oésuch early termination and

Borrower agrees that it is reasonable under tlraigistances currently existing. In addition, Lerstell be entitled to such early termination
fee upon the occurrence of any Event of Defaultdlesd in Sections 10.1(gnd 10.1(hpf the Loan Agreement, even if Lender does not
exercise its right to terminate this Agreement, ddatts, at its option, to provide financing to Bover or permit the use of cash collateral under
the United States Bankruptcy Code. The early teation fee provided for in this Section 12Hall be deemed included in the Obligations.
Notwithstanding anything contained herein to thetary, the early termination fee shall not applyahy early termination as the result ¢
complete refinancing of the Loans by Wachovia Bahl4.”

ARTICLE 111,
NO WAIVER

3.01 No Waiver. Nothing contained in this Amendment shall be carestras a waiver by Lender of any covenant or piavief the Loan
Agreement, the other documents and agreementselareto or thereto (hereinafter individuallyae&d to as a “ Loan Documeénand
collectively referred to as the “ Loan Documefhighis Amendment, or of any other contract ottinment between Borrower and Lender, and
the failure of Lender at any time or times hereafterequire strict performance by Borrower of gmgvision thereof shall not waive, affect or
diminish any right of Lender to thereafter dematnitscompliance therewith. Lender hereby resealegghts granted under the Loan
Agreement, the other Loan Documents, this Amendraedtany other contract or instrument between Begrand Lender.

ARTICLE IV.
CONDITIONS PRECEDENT

4.01 Conditions to EffectivenessThe effectiveness of this Amendment is subjecheodatisfaction of the following conditions preceile
in a manner satisfactory to Lender, unless spedifievaived in writing by Lender:

(a) Lender shall have received a closgggthe amount of $25,000, which shall be fullynegirand payable on the Amendment Date.

(b) Lender shall have received, in formd aubstance satisfactory to Lender
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in its sole discretion, (i) this Amendment, dulyeexted by Borrower and each of the attached ConRatification and Releases duly
executed by the Guarantors, and (ii) such additidoeuments, instruments and information as Lewndéis legal counsel may request;

(c) The representations and warranties coethlirerein, in the Loan Agreement, as amended heagloyor in the other Loan Documents
shall be true and correct as of the date hereiffraade on the date hereof;

(d) No default shall have occurred under tbar Agreement and be continuing and no default sRkadt under the Loan Agreement
unless such default has been specifically waiveslriting by Lender; and

(e) All corporate proceedings taken in conioectvith the transactions contemplated by this Admant and all documents, instruments
and other legal matters incident thereto shallatisfactory to Lender and its legal counsel, PaBoggs LLP.

ARTICLE V.
RATIFICATIONS, REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

5.01 Ratifications. The terms and provisions set forth in this Ameadbshall modify and supersede all inconsistemysesind provisions
set forth in the Loan Agreement and except as esprenodified and superseded by this Amendmenttieitmes and provisions of the Loan
Agreement are ratified and confirmed and shalliooet in full force and effect. The Borrower and denagree that the Loan Agreement, as
amended hereby, shall continue to be legal, vhalitjing, and enforceable in accordance with trespective terms.

5.02 Representations and Warranties Borrower hereby represents and warrants to Letm@er(i) the execution, delivery and performa
of this Amendment and any and all other Loan Doaumiexecuted and/or delivered in connection hetelawve been authorized by all
requisite corporate action on the part of Borroauaad will not violate the Articles of Incorporatian Bylaws of Borrower, (ii) the
representations and warranties contained in the ll@geement, as amended hereby, and any other Roanment are true and correct on and
as of the date hereof as though made on and &e ofate hereof (except to the extent any suchseptation or warranty is by its terms
expressly limited to a certain date or dates, ifictvicase it remains true, accurate and correct sisal date or dates and except as otherwise
disclosed to Lender pursuant to the Loan Documgnits to the date hereof), (iii) Borrower is in fgbmpliance with all covenants and
agreements contained in the Loan Agreement, asdeddmereby, and (iv) Borrower has not amended itislds of Incorporation or Bylaws
since the Closing Date of the Loan Agreement.

ARTICLE VI
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

6.01 Survival of Representations and Warranties All representations and warranties made in the Logreement or any other documi
or documents relating thereto, including, withauotifation, any Loan Document furnished in connettidgth this
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Amendment, shall survive the execution and deliw#rthis Amendment and the other Loan Documentd,raminvestigation by Lender or any
closing shall affect the representations and wéigamr the right of Lender to rely upon them.

6.02 Reference to Loan AgreementEach of the Loan Documents, including the Loan Agrent and any and all other agreements,
documents or instruments now or hereafter exeanddlelivered pursuant to the terms hereof or puntsio the terms of the Loan Agreement
as amended hereby, are hereby amended so thatfangnce in such Loan Documents to the Loan Agreesfall mean a reference to the
Loan Agreement as amended hereby.

6.03_ Expenses of LenderAs provided in the Loan Agreement, Borrower agtegsay on demand all reasonable costs and expenses
incurred by Lender in connection with the prepamtinegotiation and execution of this Amendmentthiedother Loan Documents executed
pursuant hereto and any and all amendments, matidits, and supplements thereto, including withiitation the reasonable costs and fees
of Lender’s legal counsel, and all reasonable castisexpenses incurred by Lender in connection tlvérenforcement or preservation of any
rights under the Loan Agreement, as amended heoelayy other Loan Document, including without kiation the reasonable costs and fee
Lender’s legal counsel.

6.04 _Severability. Any provision of this Amendment held by a couricompetent jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceathall not
impair or invalidate the remainder of this Amendinand the effect thereof shall be confined to tfe/sion so held to be invalid or
unenforceable. Furthermore, in lieu of each sueghlid or unenforceable provision there shall beeatautomatically as a part of this
Amendment a valid and enforceable provision thate® closest to expressing the intention of suchlidwr unenforceable provision.

6.05 APPLICABLE LAW . THIS AMENDMENT AND ALL OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS EXECU TED PURSUANT HERETO
SHALL BE DEEMED TO HAVE BEEN MADE AND TO BE PERFORM ABLE IN DALLAS, TEXAS AND SHALL BE GOVERNED
BY AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF TEXAS.

6.06_Successors and Assign3his Amendment is binding upon and shall inureh®thenefit of Lender and Borrower and their respect
successors and assigns, except Borrower may righasstransfer any of its rights or obligationgédwender without the prior written consent of
Lender.

6.07_Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in one or more eopatts, each of which when so executed shall bedd to be
an original, but all of which when taken togethealsconstitute one and the same instrument.

6.08 Effect of Waiver. No consent or waiver, express or implied, by Lertdesr for any breach of or deviation from any coaet or
condition of the Loan Agreement shall be deemedrsent or waiver to or of any other breach of e or any other covenant, condition or
duty.
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6.09 Headings The headings, captions, and arrangements usediAmirendment are for convenience only and shalbiffect the
interpretation of this Amendment.

6.10 NO ORAL AGREEMENTS . THE LOAN AGREEMENT AND THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS R EPRESENT THE
FINAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE PARTIES AND MAY NOT BE CONTRADICTED BY EVIDENCE OF PRIOR,
CONTEMPORANEOUS OR SUBSEQUENT ORAL AGREEMENTS OF THE PARTIES. THERE ARE NO UNWRITTEN ORAL
AGREEMENTS BETWEEN THE PARTIES.

6.11 RELEASE. BORROWER HEREBY ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT HAS NO DEFENE, COUNTERCLAIM, OFFSET, CROSS-
COMPLAINT, CLAIM OR DEMAND OF ANY KIND OR NATURE WHATSOEVER THAT CAN BE ASSERTED TO REDUCE OR
ELIMINATE ALL OR ANY PART OF ITS LIABILITY TO REPAY THE “OBLIGATIONS” OR TO SEEK AFFIRMATIVE RELIEF OR
DAMAGES OF ANY KIND OR NATURE FROM LENDER. BORROWEREREBY VOLUNTARILY AND KNOWINGLY RELEASES
AND FOREVER DISCHARGES LENDER, ITS PREDECESSORS ENTS, EMPLOYEES, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS, FROM ALL
POSSIBLE CLAIMS, DEMANDS, ACTIONS, CAUSES OF ACTIOMAMAGES, COSTS, EXPENSES, AND LIABILITIES
WHATSOEVER, KNOWN OR UNKNOWN, ANTICIPATED OR UNANTTIPATED, SUSPECTED OR UNSUSPECTED, FIXED,
CONTINGENT, OR CONDITIONAL, AT LAW OR IN EQUITY, ORGINATING IN WHOLE OR IN PART ON OR BEFORE THE DATE
THIS AMENDMENT IS EXECUTED, WHICH THE BORROWER MAYWOW OR HEREAFTER HAVE AGAINST LENDER, ITS
PREDECESSORS, AGENTS, EMPLOYEES, SUCCESSORS ANDIGSS, IF ANY, AND IRRESPECTIVE OF WHETHER ANY SUCH
CLAIMS ARISE OUT OF CONTRACT, TORT, VIOLATION OF L& OR REGULATIONS, OR OTHERWISE, AND ARISING FROM
ANY “LOANS”, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY CON TRACTING FOR, CHARGING, TAKING, RESERVING,
COLLECTING OR RECEIVING INTEREST IN EXCESS OF THHGHEST LAWFUL RATE APPLICABLE, THE EXERCISE OF ANY
RIGHTS AND REMEDIES UNDER THE LOAN AGREEMENT OR OTER AGREEMENTS, AND NEGOTIATION FOR AND
EXECUTION OF THIS AMENDMENT.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank; Signatire Page Follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF , this Amendment has been duly executed by Borr@andrLender to be effective as of the date firsivab
written.

LENDER : BORROWER :

WACHOVIA BANK, NATIONAL SUPPLIES DISTRIBUTORS, INC
ASSOCIATION

By: By:

Name: Name

Title: Title:

Address: Chief Executive Office:

5001 LBJ Freeway, Suite 10! 500 North Central Expresswayt" Floor
Dallas Texas 7524 Plano. Texas 7507-
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CONSENT, RATIFICATION AND RELEASE

Each of the undersigned hereby consents ttethes of the within and foregoing Amendment, coné and ratifies the terms of that certain
Secured Guarantee dated March 29, 2002 and thatrc&@eneral Security Agreement dated March 2922€&4rh as amended from time to t
and as executed by the undersigned for the besfdfitnder (the “ Guaranty Documeri)s and acknowledges that the Guaranty Documerms ar
in full force and effect and ratifies the samet tha undersigned has no defense, counterclairofet any other claim to diminish the
undersigned’s liability under such documents, thatundersigned’s consent is not required to tfectfeness of the within and foregoing
Amendment, and that no consent by the undersignestjuired for the effectiveness of any future asineent, modification, forbearance or
other action with respect to the Obligations, tludlateral, or any of the other Loan DocumefitdE UNDERSIGNED HEREBY
VOLUNTARILY AND KNOWINGLY RELEASES AND FOREVER DISC HARGES LENDER, ITS PREDECESSORS, AGENTS,
EMPLOYEES, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS, FROM ALL POSSIBIE CLAIMS, DEMANDS, ACTIONS, CAUSES OF ACTION,
DAMAGES, COSTS, EXPENSES, AND LIABILITIES WHATSOEVE R, KNOWN OR UNKNOWN, ANTICIPATED OR
UNANTICIPATED, SUSPECTED OR UNSUSPECTED, FIXED, CONTINGENT, OR CONDITIONAL, AT LAW OR IN EQUITY,
ORIGINATING IN WHOLE OR IN PART ON OR BEFORE THE DA TE THIS AMENDMENT IS EXECUTED, WHICH THE
UNDERSIGNED MAY NOW OR HEREAFTER HAVE AGAINST LENDE R, ITS PREDECESSORS, AGENTS, EMPLOYEES,
SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS, IF ANY, AND IRRESPECTIVE OFWHETHER ANY SUCH CLAIMS ARISE OUT OF
CONTRACT, TORT, VIOLATION OF LAW OR REGULATIONS, OR OTHERWISE, AND ARISING FROM ANY “LOANS”,
INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY CONTRACTING FOR, CHARGING, TAKING, RESERVING, COLLECTING OR
RECEIVING INTEREST IN EXCESS OF THE HIGHEST LAWFUL RATE APPLICABLE, THE EXERCISE OF ANY RIGHTS
AND REMEDIES UNDER THE LOAN AGREEMENT OR OTHER AGRE EMENTS, AND NEGOTIATION FOR AND EXECUTION
OF THIS AMENDMENT.

PRIORITY FULFILLMENT SERVICES, INC

By:
Name
Title:

BUSINESS SUPPLIES DISTRIBUTORS HOLDINGS, LL

By:
Name
Title:
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CONSENT, RATIFICATION AND RELEASE

The undersigned hereby consents to the tefie avithin and foregoing Amendment, confirms aatifies the terms of that certain
Guarantee dated March 29, 2002 as amended frontaitirae and as executed by the undersigned fob¢nefit of Lender (the “ Guaranty
Documents), and acknowledges that the Guaranty Documemtsrafull force and effect and ratifies the sanmatthe undersigned has no
defense, counterclaim, set-off or any other clairditninish the undersigned’s liability under sudtdments, that the undersigned’s consent is
not required to the effectiveness of the within &mégoing Amendment, and that no consent by thikergigned is required for the effectiver
of any future amendment, modification, forbearamcether action with respect to the Obligationg, @ollateral, or any of the other Loan
DocumentsTHE UNDERSIGNED HEREBY VOLUNTARILY AND KNOWINGLY RE LEASES AND FOREVER DISCHARGES
LENDER, ITS PREDECESSORS, AGENTS, EMPLOYEES, SUCCESORS AND ASSIGNS, FROM ALL POSSIBLE CLAIMS,
DEMANDS, ACTIONS, CAUSES OF ACTION, DAMAGES, COSTS, EXPENSES, AND LIABILITIES WHATSOEVER, KNOWN
OR UNKNOWN, ANTICIPATED OR UNANTICIPATED, SUSPECTED OR UNSUSPECTED, FIXED, CONTINGENT, OR
CONDITIONAL, AT LAW OR IN EQUITY, ORIGINATING INWH  OLE OR IN PART ON OR BEFORE THE DATE THIS
AMENDMENT IS EXECUTED, WHICH THE UNDERSIGNED MAY NO W OR HEREAFTER HAVE AGAINST LENDER, ITS
PREDECESSORS, AGENTS, EMPLOYEES, SUCCESSORS AND A3SNS, IF ANY, AND IRRESPECTIVE OF WHETHER ANY
SUCH CLAIMS ARISE OUT OF CONTRACT, TORT, VIOLATION OF LAW OR REGULATIONS, OR OTHERWISE, AND
ARISING FROM ANY “LOANS”, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITA  TION, ANY CONTRACTING FOR, CHARGING, TAKING,
RESERVING, COLLECTING OR RECEIVING INTEREST IN EXCE SS OF THE HIGHEST LAWFUL RATE APPLICABLE, THE
EXERCISE OF ANY RIGHTS AND REMEDIES UNDER THE LOAN AGREEMENT OR OTHER AGREEMENTS, AND
NEGOTIATION FOR AND EXECUTION OF THIS AMENDMENT.

PFSWEB, INC.

By:
Name
Title:
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Exhibit 10.7¢

AMENDMENT 7
TO
AMENDED AND RESTATED PLATINUM PLAN AGREEMENT (WITH INVOICE DISCOUNTING)

This Amendment 7 (“Amendment”) dated March 2807 is made to theMENDED AND RESTATED PLATINUM PLAN
AGREEMENT (WITH INVOICE DISCOUNTING) by and amon¢gBM BELGIUM FINANCIAL SERVICES S.A ., with a registered
number of R.C. Brussels 451.673 with an addregssefiue du Bourget 42, BE- 1130 Brussels VAT BE 4057 (“IBM GF” or“us” ),
Suppliers Distributors S.A. with a registered number of RC Liege 208795 wittaddress of Rue Louis Blériot 5, B-4460 Grace-Hpile,
Belgium (“SDSA”), andBusiness Supplies Distributors Europe B\a Netherlands company registered in Maastricht wiletherlands trade
registration number of HR Maastricht 14062763 wveithaddress of Dalderhaag 13, 6136 KM Sittard, Tathé&Handg“BSDE") (SDSA and
BSDE collectively,'you” ), PFS Web B.V. SPRL a company registered in The Netherlands, havingtidigtory seat in Amsterdam under the
number 17109541, and having the administrationdargttion seat in Grace Hollogne, with a Belgiaad# registration number of R.C. Liege
204162, VAT BE 46668105¢PFS Web B.V. ") (SDSA, BSDE and PFS Web B.V. collectively, thean Parties ")

RECITALS:

A. The Loan Parties and IBM GF have entered intodbeteinAMENDED AND RESTATED PLATINUM PLAN AGREEMENT
(WITH INVOICE DISCOUNTING) dated as of March 29, 2002 (as amended and modifiedtime to time, the “Agreement”);

B. The Loan Parties have requested and IBM GF hagdgoeextend the Agreement for twelve months;

C.The Loan Parties agree to certain financial covenaavisions by IBM GF; and
D. The parties have agreed to modify the Agreemenmas specifically set forth below,
upon and subject to the terms and conditieh$osth herein.

AGREEMENT

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and other goodvahdhble consideration, the receipt and sufficjeoicwhich is
hereby acknowledged, IBM GF and the Loan Partieslyeagree as follows:

Section 1. Definitions All capitalized terms not otherwise defined hergiall have the respective meanings set forth irtireement.
Section 2. AmendmentSubject to Section 4 hereof, the Agreement is heaeiended as follows:

A. The Agreement is hereby amended as follows:

(a) Section 1.1 is hereby amended by addiadahowing definition:

“Termination Date ”: means March 31, 2008 or such other date as iohdBM GF and the Loan Parties may agree from time
time.

(b) Section 8.2.7 is hereby amended by dejétim its entirety and substituting, in lieu tkef, the following:
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" Financial Covenants

You agree to comply with the Financial Covenaritany, set out in the relevant supplements or tttee8ule. You also agree that you will not,
without our consent, make any of the following pa&ants (“Restricted Payments”) without our prior waniit consent (i) declare or pay any
dividend (other than dividends payable solely imomon stock of BSDE and/or SDSA and the aggregatauatrof such dividends under this
Agreement and the AlF does not cause you or Hosdiagiolate such Financial Covenants on, or malyepayment on account of, or set apart
assets for a sinking or other analogous fund Fer purchase, redemption, defeasance, retiremerher acquisition of, any shares of any class
of capital stock of BSDE and/or SDSA or any warsaoptions or rights to purchase any such capibeksor Equity Interests, whether now or
hereafter outstanding, or make any other distrilouitn respect thereof, either directly or indirgctvhether in cash or property or in obligations
of BSDE and/or SDSA ; or (i) make any optional pegnt or prepayment on or redemption (includinghwdit limitation, by making payments
to a sinking or analogous fund) or repurchase gfladebtedness (other than the Obligations)), exasermitted by the Amended and
Restated Notes Payable Subordination AgreementeMeryas long as you are not in violation with angh Financial Covenants prior to or
subsequent to the following transactions, (i) BD&y pay cash dividends to Supplies Distributors, Up to an amount not to exceed BSDE'’s
liguidation value, and (ii) SDSA may pay cash darnds in an amount not to exceed 407,000 eurosgpli®s Distributors, Inc. in fiscal year
2007."

(c) Section 10.1 is hereby amended by deletingiisi entirety and substituting, in lieu therebk following:

“This Agreement will remain in force until the Teimation Date. However following the occurrence oftavent of Default that we
have not waived in writing we may by notice withnradiate effect terminate this Agreement. Upon anmination of this Agreement
we shall have all the rights and remedies setro@ause 9.2 until the complete discharge of @lltban Partiesdbligations to us. Ar
such termination shall not affect any right we hawveelation to the IBM Reimbursables and IBM Reediles or the Receivables
Rights and the Supplier Obligations and the Pro&ghts.

B. The Schedule to the Agreement is hereby amendeileying such Schedule in its entirety and suligtguin lieu thereof, the Schedule
attached hereto. Such new Schedule shall be eféeati of the date specified in the new Schedule.chianges contained in the new Schedule
include, without limitation, the following:

Credit Line : €12,500,000

VAT Receivables: Deleted from Collateral Valuation

Prepayment Percentage: (i) 80% of Eligible IBM Reimbursables @nd (ii) 80% of Eligible
IBM Receivables
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Collateral Value of Stock-in-Trade: (A) 100% of paid for IBM Printing Systems Divisiam InfoPrint Solution Company inventory (other t
(a) machines which IBM Printing Systems Divisionlimfoprint Solution Company has declared obsoléteast 60 days prior to the date of
determination and (b) service parts) which (i) ve@énpurchased the associated Supplier Invoice fh@uthorised Supplier on or after the
Closing Date (ii) purchased directly from IBM offd#rint Solution Company prior to the Closing Datel not subject to retention of title,
provided, however, we have a first priority seguititterest in such inventory, (iii) is repurchasabhder a repurchase agreement with the
Authorized Supplier and (iv) is secured and manabexligh a pledge with Disposition, with coveragegentage acceptable to us (such
acceptable percentage to be determined by us wathiotays of the date this Schedule is executedy@he to be assigned to such inventory
shall be based upon the Supplier Invoice net cdglicable credit notes.

In the event that products currently supplied biIBrinting Systems Division (“InfoPrint Products¢ase to be sold to you by an entity that is
wholly owned by IBM Corporation, on the date of Buessation :

. Any InfoPrint Products then forming part of the @t¢ral shall continue to be Collater

. Any InfoPrint Products supplied by any other legality (as part of the InfoPrint Solutions Compamgup) thereafter shall only for
part of the Collateral from the date on which IGIs lestablished arrangements and entered into agneacceptable to it with such
supplier and you for the continued financing of i@ Print Products

Financial Covenant Definitions: Changed for net Profit After Tax, Revenue and WogkCapital Turnover.

FINANCIAL COVENANTS

SDSA and BSDE will be required, on a consolidatasid to maintain the following financial ratiogrpentages and amounts on a year to date
basis as of the last day of the fiscal period umeeiew (quarterly and annually) by us and IBM Gred

Covenan Covenant Requireme
0] Debt to Tangible Net Wort Greater than Zero ar
Less than 7.0:1.
(ii) Net Profit after Tax to Revent Greater than 0.10 perce
(iii) Working Capital Turnover (WCTC Greater than Zero ar

Less than 43.0:1.

PFSweb, Inc. will be required to maintain the fallog financial ratios, percentages and amountd #sedast day of the fiscal period under
review (quarterly and annually) by IBM Credit:

Covenan
Covenan Requiremen Date as o
0] Minimum Tangible Net Wortl $18,000,000.0 03/31/07 and beyor
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Section 3. Conditions of Effectiveness of Consenhd Amendment. This Amendment shall have been authorized, exeanddlelivered by
each of the parties hereto and IBM GF shall haceived a copy of a fully executed Amendment.

Section 4. Representations and Warrantie€ach Loan Party makes to IBM GF the following reygrgtations and warranties all of which are
material and are made to induce IBM GF to entar ihis Amendment.

Section 4.1 Accuracy and Completeness of Warrantiesd RepresentationsAll representations made by the Loan Party in tigege&ment
were true and accurate and complete in every résgenf the date made, and, as amended by this dmmemt, all representations made by the
Loan Party in the Agreement are true, accuratecantblete in every material respect as of the datedf, and do not fail to disclose any
material fact necessary to make representationsiisiéading.

Section 4.2 Violation of Other Agreements The execution and delivery of this Amendment tedperformance and observance of the
covenants to be performed and observed hereundweotdaolate or cause any Loan Party not to beoimgliance with the terms of any
agreement to which such Loan Party is a party.

Section 4.3 Litigation.Except as has been disclosed by the Loan ParBMoGF in writing, there is no litigation, proceedinnvestigation or
labor dispute pending or threatened against any [Reaty, which, if adversely determined, would miatly adversely affect the Loan Party’s
ability to perform such Loan Party’s obligationgdenthe Agreement and the other documents, institgr@nd agreements executed in
connection therewith or pursuant hereto.

Section 4.4 Enforceability of AmendmentThis Amendment has been duly authorized, executddielivered by each Loan Party and is
enforceable against each Loan Party in accordaitbata/terms.

Section 5. Ratification of AgreementExcept as specifically amended hereby, all of ttowigions of the Agreement shall remain unamended
and in full force and effect. Each Loan Party hgrediifies, confirms and agrees that the Agreemesamended hereby, represents a valid and
enforceable obligation of such Loan Party, andoissubject to any claims, offsets or defenses.

Section 6. Ratification of Guaranty.Each of Holdings, SDI, PFSweb and PFS hereby ratify confirm their respective guaranties in favior o
IBM GF and agree that such guaranties remain Irfdute and effect and that the term “Liabilitiesls used therein include, without limitation
the indebtedness liabilities and obligations of 83®d BSDE under the Agreement as amended her&dyheeby ratifies and confirms its
Notes Payable Subordination Agreement executedddypB March 29, 2002 and confirms such Notes Pay&blbordination Agreeme
remains in full force and effect.

Section 7. Governing Law.This Amendment shall be governed by and interpretedtcordance with the laws which govern the Agrest.
Section 8. Counterparts.This Amendment may be executed in any number ofitesparts, each of which shall be an original dhdfavhich
shall constitute one agreement.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each Loan Party has read this entire Amendmenthasdaused its authorized representatives to tx#ua
Amendment and has caused its corporate seal, jitarie affixed hereto as of the date first writtdrove.

IBM BELGIUM FINANCIAL SERVICES S.A. SUPPLIERS DISTRIBUTORS S.A.
By: By:

Print Name Print Name

Title: Title:

BUSINESS SUPPLIES DISTRIBUTORS EUROPE BV PFS WEB B.V. SPRL

By: By:

Print Name Print Name

Title: Title:

The following parties agree to Section 6 as applibée to them.

SUPPLIES DISTRIBUTORS, INC. PRIORITY FULFILLMENT SERVICES, INC.
By: By:

Print Name Print Name

Title: Title:

BUSINESS SUPPLIES DISTRIBUTORS HOLDINGS, LLC

By:

Print Name

Title:

SDSA Amd 7 Amended & Restated Plat Page 5 of 5
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Exhibit 10.7¢

Agreement for IBM Global Financing Platinum Plan
Invoice Discounting Schedule
Supplies Distributors S.A./Business Supplies Distoutors Europe B.V.
Your Name Supplies Distributor Schedule Numbet 7

S.A. and Busines
Supplies Distributor

Europe B.V.
Your Number SDSA- RC Liege Effective date of 28 March 200’
208795 Schedule
BSDE- HR Maastrich!
1406276%
Credit Limit €12,500,00( Commencement Date 27 September 20C
No Charge Period IBM 45 days Prepayment Percentage (i) 80% of Eligible IBM

and InfoPrint Solutior
Company Reimbursablt
(1)

(i) 80% of Eligible IBM
and InfoPrint Solutior
Company Receivable
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Collateral Value of Stock-in-Trade

(A) 100% of paid for IBM Printing Sytems Division orféfPrint Solution Company inventory (other thanfgchines which IBM Printin
Systems Division or InfoPrint Solution Company kiaslared obsolete at least 60 days prior to the afatietermination and (b) service
parts) which (i) we have purchased the associatieglir Invoice from the Authorised Supplier onadter the Closing Date
(ii) purchased directly from IBM or InfoPrint Solah Company prior to the Closing Date and not stiije retention of title, provided,
however, we have a first priority security interigssuch inventory, (iii) is repurchasable undeepurchase agreement with the
Authorized Supplier and (iv) is secured and manabesligh a pledge with Dispostion, with coveragecpetage acceptable to us (such
acceptable percentage to be determined by us véthiotays of the date this Schedule is executedy@he to be assigned to such
inventory shall be based upon the Supplier Invaieeof all applicable credit note

(B) IBM Ireland is added as Authorised Supplier as wslIBM Endicott and IBM Singapo

In the event that products currently supplied biIBrinting Systems Division (“InfoPrint Producte®gase to be sold to you by an entity that is
wholly owned by IBM Corporation, on the date of swessation :

. Any InfoPrint Products then forming part of the fagdral shall continue to be Collater

. Any InfoPrint Products supplied by any other legatfity thereafter (as part of the InfoPrint SolasdCompany group) shall only for
part of the Collateral from the date on which IGIS lestablished arrangements and entered into agnéeacceptable to it with such
supplier and you for the continued financing of hi®Print Products

20f8




FINANCE CHARGES (2)
Base Rate (3

Discount Charge (5)

Default Rate

Shortfall Fee

Banking Transfer
Charge

Service Fee pel
Notification

Monthly Service
Fee, Set up Fee

Survey Fee

Security Filing Fee

Unused Line Fee

Extended Credit
Charge

EURIBOR

Base Rate plus 1.5.%

Base Rate plus 7%

0.30% of Shortfall Amoun

Nil

N/A

€1,500 plus VAT per
month

€5,000 plus VAT pe
IBM GF survey

Any fees required as a result of
Uniform Commercial Code filings
in US in connection with
Collateralised Guarantees granted
by SDI, Holdings and PF

Equal to thirty seven and one h
(37.5) basis points times the wee
average unused portion of the
Credit Line, accruable from the
closing date and computed on the
basis of a 360-day year, payable
quarterly in arrears and upon the
maturity or termination of the
Credit Line

Base Rate plus 1.5%

REPORTING
Audited Accounts (4)

Management
(unaudited) Accounts

Collateral Management
Report

Aged Creditor Report

Stock Report

Fixed Asset Registel

Surveys

Financial Covenant

Compliance Certificate from

both SDSA and Holdings

Extended Credit Period

30f8

90 days after fiscal yei

35 days after fiscal calendar
quarter

10 days after calendar month

10 days after calendar mor

10 days after calendar month

10 days after calendar month

A maximum of 4 times per year
and not more than one per
quarter

45 days after fiscal peric

in 10 day increments up to
30 days




ADDITIONAL COLLATERAL

This Agreemen

Stock Pledge Agreement among Supplies Distributocs,
(“sDI"), and IBM GF, whereby SDI pledges 65% of its sh
in SDSA and BSDE to IBM G

Liens: Charges: Pledges: Fixed and Floating Chavge all
IBM inventory of SDSA and BSDE and Convention degg&a
of SDSA to be registered at Commercial Cc

Guarantees of payment of amounts due under theagrg.

Amended and Restated Notes Payable Subordination fr
SDI in respect of SDS,

Opinion of Counsel

Certificate of Authority

Miscellaneous

Amended and Restated Stock Pledge

As provided by us

Amended and Restated Collateralised GuaranteesRife®) Holdings, an
SDI
Amended and Restated Corporate Guaranty from PF

As provided by us

a favourable opinion of counsel for Loan Partieshbig provided post
closing) in substantially the form provided to ylmyius satisfactory to us
and from counsel satisfactory to

a certificate of the secretary or an assistanesagr of each Loan Party
applicable, certifying that, among other itemsB§DE is duly organized
under the laws of the Netherlands and is registerednduct business in
Belgium, (ii) SDSA and PFS Web B.V. are duly orgaai under the laws
of the Kingdom of Belgium and registered to do hass there (iii) true
and complete copies of the articles of incorporgtar corresponding
organizational documents, as applicable, and ygtaws are delivered
therewith, together with all amendments and add#émeleto as in effect
on the date thereof, (iv) the resolution as statdte certificate is a true,
accurate and compared copy of the resolution addpte/our Board of
Directors authorizing the execution, delivery amdfprmance of this
Agreement and each other document executed andedediin connection
herewith, and (v) the names and true signaturgewf officers authorized
to sign this Agreement and the other docume

« Listing of all creditors (if any) providing acgots receivable
financing to you

« A duly executed compliance certificate as torymampliance with
the financial covenants set forth below as of #st fiscal month you
have published financial statemer

» A copy of an all-risk insurance certificate puasuto Clause 8.2.5 of
the Agreement
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OTHER CONDITIONS
1. Valid and enforceable customary documentationife Collateral provided by BSDE, SDSA and PFS \Beb.

2. Any strategic changes in the structure of thepr significant management changes and/or anyrrhgnges in Capex/investment plans to
be advised to IBM GF immediately.

3. Prepayments under the Platinum Plan are na tesbd for early repayment of commercial loans.

4. The Financial Statements of SDSA and BSDA aSlo$ing Date in form and substance satisfactonyston our sole discretion;

5. A certified copy of the current organization dhaf Loan Parties;

6. Evidence satisfactory to us that UCC-1 statembkave been filed against SDI, Holdings and PF8B IBM GF as the Lien holder;
7. IBM Credit is satisfied that all conditions peelent in accordance with the AIF have been met; and

8. Liquidation of BSD Europe B.V. is approved omis that SDSA acknowledges that it will remain leagolely for all obligations owed or be
come owing by both entities currently under thigeéement.

FINANCIAL COVENANTS

SDSA and BSDE will be required, on a consolidatasid to maintain the following financial ratiogrpentages and amounts on a year to date
basis as of the last day of the fiscal period umeeiew (quarterly and annually) by us and IBM Gred

Covenan Covenant Requireme
0] Debt to Tangible Net Wort Greater than Zero ar
Less than 7.0:1.
(i) Net Profit after Tax to Revent Greater than 0.10 perce
(i) Working Capital Turnover (WCTC Greater than Zero ar

Less than 43.0:1.

PFSweb, Inc. will be required to maintain the foliog financial ratios, percentages and amountd &sedast day of the fiscal period under
review ( quarterly and annually) by IBM Credit:

Covenan Covenant Requireme

(v) Tangible Net Wortt Greater than $18,000,000.00 for period ending 08/8and beyonc

FINANCIAL COVENANT DEFINITIONS

The following terms shall have the following resfpe meanings in this Schedule. All amounts shalbtlbtermined in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).

“Consolidated Net Income” shall mean, for any perithe consolidated net income (or loss), afteesanf SDSA and BSDE on a
consolidated basis for such period determined @o@ance with GAAP.

“Current” shall mean within the ongoing twelve-mioteriod.

“Current Assets” shall mean assets that are casikpmcted to become cash within the ongoing twelaaths.
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“Current Liabilities” shall mean payment obligat®resulting from past or current transactions tequire settlement within the ongoing
twelve-month period. All indebtedness to IBM GFlsba considered a Current Liability for purposésletermining compliance with the
Financial Covenants.

“Debt” shall mean all liabilities or obligations pay another person/company a certain amount@ecfied date excluding subordinated
debt.

“Long Term” shall mean beyond the ongoing twelventhoperiod.

“Long Term Assets” shall mean assets that takedotitan a year to be converted to cash. They &igedi into four categories: tangible
assets, investments, intangibles and other.

“Long Term Debt” shall mean payment obligationsrafebtedness which mature more than twelve momtms the date of
determination, or mature within twelve months freath date but are renewable or extendible at ttieropf the debtor to a date more
than twelve months from the date of determination.

“Net Profit after Tax” shall mean Revenue plusadiier income, minus all costs (excluding amortaatf good will), including
applicable taxes, excluding currency adjustmemeéch period (other than for annual periods tcetitent required by GAAP).

“Revenue” shall mean the monetary expression ohtggegate of products or services transferrechbgndéerprise to its customers
(excluding intercompany transactions) for whichdsaistomers have paid or are obligated to pay, qthesr income as allowed.

“Subordinated Debt” shall mean SDSA'’s indebtedrnedhird parties as evidenced by an executed Nedgsble Subordination
Agreement in favor of IBM GF (all Subordinated Dsbhtll not be considered Current Liabilities).

“Tangible Net Worth” shall mean Total Net Worth m@goodwill
“Total Assets” shall mean the total of Current Assend Long Term Assets.

“Total Liabilities” shall mean the Current Liabils and Long Term Debt less Subordinated Debt|tregdrom past or current
transactions, that require settlement in the future

“Total Net Worth” (the amount of owner’s or stocltier’'s ownership in an enterprise) is equal to TAssets minus Total Liabilities.
“Working Capital” shall mean Current Assets minugi@nt Liabilities.

“Working Capital Turnover (WCTO)” shall mean annisatl Revenue divided by Working Capital.
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Addresses

Pursuant to Clause 11.9 of the Agreement, theViatig are the addresses of the parties to the Ageaem

(i) if to IBM GF: (ii) if to SDSA:

IBM Belgium Financial Services S.A. Supplies Distributors S.A.
Avenue du Bourget, Rue Louis Blériot 5

BE- 42 1130 Brussels B-4460 Grace-Hollogne
VAT BE 42430046 Belgium

(iii) if to BSDE: (iv) if to PFS Web B.V
Business Supplies Distributors Europe BV PFS Web B.V. SPRL
Dalderhaag 13, 6136 KM Sittard c/o SDSA

The Nederland

Footnotes:
(1) The maximum value for collateral representing IBRiRRbursables i€2 million.
(2) All charges are exclusive of any taxes and duties. agree to pay all applicable taxes and du

(3) “EURIBOFR, is the one month rate for Euros determined by thiekihg Federation of the European Union appeannBeuters page (

at or about 11:00 am (Central European Time) ondlevant day. “Reuters page 01” means the digiésjgnated as “Page 01” on the
Reuters Service (or such other page as may replage 01 on that service or such other service ggeptace it). On the first Business
Day of a calendar month the Base Rate will be cedrig EURIBOR appearing for the last Business Oiah@ previous calendar month.
If at any time, EURIBOR changes by 0.25% or mdrne,Base Rate will be changed by the same amouthteotiay of such change or the
next following Business Day. Charges accruing fiday to day will be calculated on the basis of a yé&860 days and the actual num
of days elapsed. If the Due Date for payment iroBus not a day on which settlement in Euros caeffeeted, the payment will be made
on the preceding Business Day on which settlemambe effectec

(4)Audited Accounts within 90 days of fiscal yeade Revised business plans/budgets will also beimed at this time to enable an annual
facility and covenant review to be effected by us
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By signing below all parties accept the terms of #hSchedule. This Schedule amends and replaces amh&dule issued and/or dated
previously to this one.

Signed on behalf of Signed on behalf of
SUPPLIES DISTRIBUTORS S.A. IBM BELGIUM FINANCIAL SERVICES S.A.
TVA BE 475.286.14: TVA BE 424.300.467
Signed: Signed:

By Name By Name

Title: Title:

Signature Signature

Date: Date:

BUSINESS SUPPLIES DISTRIBUTORS EUROPE BV PFS WEB B.V. SPRL
Signed: Signed:

By Name By Name

Title: Title:

Signature Signature

Date: Date:
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Name

Priority Fulfillment Services, Inc

Priority Fulfillment Services of Canada, Ir

PFSweb BV SPRL (f/k/a Priority Fulfillment ServicEsirope, B.V.)
Business Supplies Distributors Holdings, L

Supplies Distributors, Inc

Supplies Distributors of Canada, It

Supplies Distributors S./

eCOST.com, Inc

eCOST Philippines Services, LL

Exhibit 21

Jurisdiction
Delaware
Ontario
Belgium
Delaware
Delaware
Ontario
Belgium
Delaware
Philippines






Consent of Independent Registered Public Accourinm

The Board of Directors
PFSweb, Inc.:

We consent to the incorporation by referemciaé registration statements (Nos. 333-128486;78354, 333-75772, 333-40020, 333-42186
and 333-46096) on Form S-8 and (No. 333-135794383d110853) on Form S-3 of our report dated Apr2@07, with respect to the
consolidated balance sheets of PFSweb, Inc. argidiabies as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, ancetheed consolidated statements of
operations, shareholders’ equity and compreheriisogne (loss), and cash flows for each of the yeatise three-year period ended
December 31, 2006 and the accompanying financgstent schedules as of December 31, 2006 and 800%0or each of the years in the
three-year period ended December 31, 2006, whipbrt@ppears in the December 31, 2006, annualtrepdform 10-K of PFSweb, Inc.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidatedrfaial statements, during 2006, the Company addptiment of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 123FShare-Based Payment

KPMG LLP

Dallas, Texas
April 2, 2007






EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

I, Mark Layton, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of PEBwINnC.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or améitate a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoeker which such statements were made, not misigadth respect to the periods covered
by this annual report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operation aagtt flows of the registrant as of, and for, thequ presented in this report;

4. The registrans other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contanld procedures (as definet
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) forelgestrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresiused such disclosure controls and procedures tiesigned under our supervisior
ensure that material information relating to thgisgrant, including its consolidated subsidiariesnade known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in whidfig report is being prepare

b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the regis’s disclosure controls and procedures and preséntbd report our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and prores) as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation;

c) Disclosed in this report any change in the regmtsanternal control over financial reporting tratcurred during the registragtmost recel
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal qeaiin the case of an annual report) that has madlteaffected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registre’s internal control over financial reportir

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anbdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commitieregistrant’s board of directors (or personggeeing the equivalent function):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contraéiofinancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize, and refrmahcial information; ani

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvearmagement or other employees who have a significéain the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting

Date April 2, 2007

By: /s/ Mark C. Layton
Chief Executive Office







EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

I, Tom Madden, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of PEBwINnC.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or améitate a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoeker which such statements were made, not misigadth respect to the periods covered
by this annual report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operation aagtt flows of the registrant as of, and for, thequ presented in this report;

4. The registrans other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contanld procedures (as definet
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) forelgestrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresiused such disclosure controls and procedures tiesigned under our supervisior
ensure that material information relating to thgisgrant, including its consolidated subsidiariesnade known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in whidfig report is being prepare

b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the regis’s disclosure controls and procedures and preséntbd report our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and prores) as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation;

c) Disclosed in this report any change in the regmtsanternal control over financial reporting tratcurred during the registragtmost recel
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal qeaiin the case of an annual report) that has madlteaffected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registre’s internal control over financial reportir

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anbdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimernal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commitieregistrant’s board of directors (or personggeeing the equivalent function):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contraéiofinancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize, and refrmahcial information; ani

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvearmagement or other employees who have a significéain the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting

Date April 2, 2007

By: /s/ Thomas J. Madden
Chief Financial Officel







EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxégyf 2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of Section(l. Z&hapter 63 of Title 18, United States
Code), each of the undersigned officers of PFSwveb (the “Company”), does hereby certify that:

The Annual Report on Form 10-K for the yeademhDecember 31, 2005 (the “Form 10-K”) of the Camypfully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applécaif the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 andf@mation contained in the Form 10-K
fairly presents, in all material respects, thefficial condition and results of operations of therpany as of, and for, the periods presented in
the Form 10-K.

April 2, 2007 /s/ Mark C. Laytor

Mark C. Layton
Chief Executive Office

April 2, 2007 /s/ Thomas J. Madde

Thomas J. Madde
Chief Financial Office

The foregoing certification is being furnished asexhibit to the Form 10-K pursuant to Item 60182)(of Regulation S-K and Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (subsections (a)lndf Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, Udittates Code) and, accordingly, is not
being filed as part of the Form 10-K for purposéSection 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1@whether made before or after the date
hereof, regardless of any general incorporatiogdage in such filing.

A signed original of this written statement reqditey Section 906 has been provided to PFSwebamt will be retained by PFSweb, Inc. and
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commissiats staff upon request.



